

MARIA CURIE-SKŁODOWSKA UNIVERSITY

Faculty of Chemistry Institute of Chemical Sciences

B.Sc., M.Sc. Salvador Pérez-Huertas

Study on the surface and rheological properties of gel-type biopolymers formed on cold plasma activated plates

PhD Dissertation Department of Interfacial Phenomena Supervisor: dr hab. Marta Tomczyńska - Mleko prof. UP Assistant supervisor: dr hab. Konrad Terpiłowski

LUBLIN 2020

To my parents,

the ones who always believe in me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	1
COMPENDIUM OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS OF THE THESIS	2
ABSTRACT	4
ABSTRAKT	6
I. BACKGROUND	8
I.1 Plasma Physics and Chemistry	10
I.2 Low temperature plasma	11
I.3 Poly(ethylene terephthalate) (PET)	13
I.4 Biopolymers-hydrogels	17
I.5 Surface Thermodynamics: Surface Free Energy (SFE)	20
II. JUSTIFICATION	23
II.1 Research focus	23
III. MATERIALS AND METHODS	30
III.1 Poly (ethylene terephthalate) (PET) and glass plates	30
III.2 Egg white albumin and gelatine	30
III.2.1 Hydrogels films preparation	30
III.3 Materials characterisation	31
III.3.1 Cold plasma treatment	31
III.3.2 Contact angle measurements	31
III.3.3 Topography. Optical profilometer	32
III.3.4 X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS)	32
III.3.5 Oscillatory rheology	32
III.3.6 Confocal microscopy	33
III.4 Surface Free Energy determination	33
III.4.1 One liquid model: Contact Angle Hysteresis approach (CAH)	36
III.4.2 Three liquids model: Lifshitz-van der Waals/Acid-Base approach (LWAB)	37
IV. DISCUSSION	39
IV.1 A methodology based on the 'indirect plasma activation'. Tuning surface and bulk properties of hydrogels	39
IV.1.1 Surface properties changes induced in treated PET and pre-treated gels by cold plasma	39
IV.1.2 Rheological behaviour	45
V. CONCLUSIONS	48
V.1 Avenues for future research	51
VI. BIBLIOGRAPHY	52
VII. APPENDIXES	69
Appendix 1	69

Surface Properties of Whey Protein Gels (first paper of the "compendium")	69
Appendix 2	79
Time-based changes in surface properties of poly(ethylene terephthalate) activated wi argon-plasma treatments (second paper of the "compendium")	th air and 79
Appendix 3	88
Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatine dispersions gelled of plasma-activated glass (third paper of the "compendium")	n cold 88
Appendix 4	
Surface modification of albumin/gelatin films gelled on low temperature plasma-treat (Ethylene Terephthalate) plates (fourth paper of the "compendium")	<i>ed poly</i> 96
Appendix 5	
Solid surface energy data (mJ/m ²) for common polymers	
AUTHOR'S ACADEMIC BIOGRAPHY	107
Education	
Scientific activities	
Published scientific papers	107
Conference participations	
STATEMENTS	110

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere thanks to dr hab. Konrad Terpiłowski, for providing me the opportunity to join his research group and for his guidance and encouragement throughout my research work. I will never forget our trips into the Tatra mountains.

I would also like to extend my sincere thanks to my supervisor dr hab. Marta Tomczyńska-Mleko and to Prof. hab. Stanisław Mleko, for sharing their experience and valuable insights during my research.

A special mention of gratitude to my family, in particular to Fonsi, for always cheering me up, and my other half, Cristina, for her support and undying love.

Last but not least, I am very thankful to my wise friend, Prof. Dr. Fernando González-Caballero, for his unconditional support, motivation and strong encouragement. Thank you for opening the door to knowledge. You changed my life.

COMPENDIUM OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS OF THE THESIS

S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska,
M. Kawecka-Radomska, M. Nastaj, S. Mleko, Surface Properties of Whey Protein Gels,
Journal of the Chemical Society of Pakistan, 41 (2019) 956-964.

*IF*₂₀₁₉= 0.393; *IF*₅=0,457; *MNISW*=20

The percentage share of Mr. Pérez-Huertas is estimated to be at 60%

Author's contribution to the paper:

Participation in the elaboration of the content of research that was to be included in the paper. Elaboration of literature review. Preparation of the preliminary and final version of the manuscript

2.- S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska–Mleko, S. Mleko, Ł. Szajneckid, Timebased changes in surface properties of poly (ethylene terephthalate) activated with air and argon-plasma treatments, Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 558 (2018) 322-329.

*IF*₂₀₁₈= 3.131; *IF*₅=3.091; *MNISW*=70

The percentage share of Mr. Pérez-Huertas is estimated to be at 85%

Author's contribution to the paper:

Formulation of the research problem. Preparation of some given samples to study their wettability. Measurements of contact angles. Surface free energy calculations by the two approaches described in the text and later interpretation of the obtained results. Calculation of surface roughness parameters and interpretation of the results obtained. Surface composition analysis by XPS technique and the interpretation of the results. Interpretation of the results as well as the preparation of both, the preliminary and the final version of the manuscript.

3.- S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari, S. Mleko, Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatin dispersions gelled on cold plasma-activated glass, Food Hydrocolloids, 96 (2019) 224–230.

*IF*₂₀₁₉= 5.839; *IF*₅=6.103; *MNISW*=140

The percentage share of Mr. Pérez-Huertas is estimated to be at 80%

Author's contribution to the paper:

Formulation of the research problem. Preparation of the samples to carry out all experiments. Contact angle measurements. Surface free energy calculations by the approach described in the text and interpretation of the obtained results. Surface roughness parameters calculation and the interpretation of the results obtained. Dynamic oscillatory measurements and interpretation of the viscoelastic properties. Interpretation of the results as well as the preparation of the preliminary and the final version of the manuscript.

4.- S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko, Surface Modification of Albumin/Gelatin Films Gelled on Low Temperature Plasma-Treated Poly (Ethylene Terephthalate) Plates, **Plasma Processes and Polymers**, 17 (2019) 1900171.

*IF*₂₀₁₉=3.173; *IF*₅=3.075; *MNISW*=70

The percentage share of Mr. Pérez-Huertas is estimated to be at 85%

Author's contribution to the paper:

Formulation of the research problem. Performance of all measurements. Writing, editing and acting as a corresponding author.

ABSTRACT

Recent progress in plasma science has led to the development of cold plasmas with temperature close to room conditions. Non-thermal plasma is considered as an ideal technology to treat heat-sensitive materials. Nevertheless, substantial limitations are found when working with biopolymers, especially gel-types ones. Direct application of cold plasma on investigated hydrogels is impossible, as it leads to sample destruction. A brand-new methodology, *indirect* plasma treatment is proposed, which allows to pre-treat gel-type biomaterials by the use of activated cold plasma supports. The methodology is analysed and evaluated by means of a set of studies, including contact angle measurements, surface free energy determination, topography studies, confocal microscopy observations, surface chemical composition analysis and rheological studies. This work first focuses on the changes induced by air- and argon-cold plasma treatments on the surface properties of poly (ethylene terephthalate) - PET plates, which are used as activated supports for the gels production. Moreover, the effect of time storage is evaluated as well. Plasma treatment leads to dramatic changes in the surface polarity (wettability) of the polymer, especially in the case of argon-plasma activation. The wettability enhancement is induced by the formation of polar groups on the polymer surface upon reaction with plasma generated reactive species, increasing not only the polar component (and finally the total surface free energy - SFE) of the PET plates, but also their roughness parameters. The appearance of these functional groups is confirmed by the changes in the surface chemistry of PET, given by the survey scan X-ray photoelectron spectrometer (XPS) spectra. PET surface chemical composition changes as a function of time, indicating that there are mechanisms contributing to the loss and further recovery of its hydrophobicity. In the second part of the work, thin layers of egg white albumin - EWA/ gelatin gels have been formed in situ on activated supports, previously treated with cold plasma, using oxygen, air and argon gases. After gelation, the gels are detached from treated supports and their pre-treated surfaces studied. Activated supports of different nature are used: PET and glass plates. The effect of increasing concentration of gelatin in the gel is also studied. The gels produced according to the indirect methodology exhibit an enhanced version in terms of mechanical properties. The effect of plasma pre-treatment to the gels is to provide a more hydrophilic character to their surfaces, which is manifested by the SFE increment. The SFE of the gels is shown to be a function of the gelatin concentration in the EWA protein gels and the type of plasma pre-treatment. The most effective pre-treatment is obtained by the oxygen plasma, which induces the higher

hydrophilicity on the samples. The surface roughness can also be tailored by the indirect plasma treatment. Protein-based gels surface becomes rougher with the plasma treatment of the supports, regardless of the gas used, or the support's nature. These studies also demonstrate that the stiffness of the gels can be tuned too, as manifested by the dynamic oscillatory measurements. The hydrogels produced on activated supports exhibit an unusual modification of their bulk properties, as all treated gels enhanced their rheological properties in terms of rigidity. Oxygen- plasma pre-treatment induced outstanding changes, not only in the surface but also in the rheological properties of hydrogels, regardless the nature of the support. These findings entail an original contribution with respect to the standard uses of the cold plasma treatment, which are based on direct alteration of only the surface properties. The results obtained for the gels gelled on both PET and glass plates show a strong similarity in the patterns followed by the SFE values, the roughness parameters and the complex rigidity modulus, corroborating that indirect methodology works accurately in activated supports of different nature (plastic and glass). This Dissertation provides scientific basis regarding the targeted use of indirect plasma treatment to adjust the above-mentioned properties of materials when they are unable to be exposed to the plasma working conditions. Further development in surface and rheological characterization of hydrogels when using this methodology, may be a promising approach for obtaining novel materials with technological applications.

Key words: cold plasma; egg white albumin; gelatine; rheology; surface properties

ABSTRAKT

Ostatnie postępy w nauce o plazmie doprowadziły do rozwoju technik badawczych opartych na zimnej plazmie, której temperatura zbliżona jest do warunków panujących w pomieszczeniu. Plazma niskotemperaturowa jest uważana za idealną technologię do obróbki materiałów wrażliwych na ciepło. Niemniej jednak, znaczne ograniczenia użycia niskotemperaturowej plazmy dotyczą pracy z biopolimerami, zwłaszcza tymi występującymi w postaci żelu. Bezpośrednie stosowanie zimnej plazmy na badanych hydrożelach jest niemożliwe, ponieważ prowadzi do zniszczenia próbki. Zupełnie nowa metodologia, zwana technologią *pośredniego działania plazmy*, pozwala na wstępną obróbkę biomateriałów typu żelowego poprzez wykorzystanie aktywowanych zimna plazma podłoży do przenoszenia zmian powierzchniowych na żelowe biopolimery. Efektywność techniki oceniana jest poprzez pomiar szeregu właściwości: kąta zwilżania, obliczania swobodnej energii powierzchniowej, badań topograficznych, mikroskopii konfokalnej, analizy składu chemicznego powierzchni i badań reologicznych. Praca ta skupia się przede wszystkim na zmianach wywołanych działaniem plazmy uzyskanej z powietrza i argonu na właściwości powierzchniowe Poli (tereftalanu etylenu) PET oraz otrzymanych na jego powierzchni żeli. Ponadto ocenia się również wpływ czasu na efekt działania plazmy na płytki podkładowe. Obróbka plazmowa prowadzi do dramatycznych zmian polarności powierzchni polimeru, szczególnie gdy plazmę uzyskano z argonu. Wzrost zwilżalności wywołany jest przez tworzenie się grup polarnych na powierzchni polimeru po kontakcie z gazem aktywującym, zwiększa się znacznie składowa polarna swobodnej energii powierzchniowej, a co za tym idzie jej całkowita wartość, wzrastają także wartości parametrów opisujących chropowatość powierzchni. Pojawienie się tych grup funkcyjnych potwierdzają zmiany w chemii powierzchni PET, a zbadane one zostały techniką spektroskopii fotoelektronów w zakresie promieniowania X (XPS). Skład chemiczny powierzchni PET zmienia się w funkcji czasu, co wskazuje, że istnieją mechanizmy przyczyniające się do utraty i odzyskania jego hydrofobowości. W drugiej części pracy cienkie warstwy albuminy białka jaja - żele EWA/żelatyna powstały in situ na podłożach uprzednio poddanych działaniu zimnej plazmy. Jako gazy, z których uzyskano plazmę, zastosowano tlen, powietrze oraz argon. Po żelowaniu żele odłącza się od potraktowanych plazma podłoży i bada ich właściwości powierzchniowe. Jako materiał podłoża stosowane były płytki PET oraz szkło. Badany jest również wpływ wzrostu stężenia żelatyny w żelu. Żele produkowane zgodnie z pośrednią metodologią wykazują ulepszoną właściwość pod względem właściwości

mechanicznych. Efektem wstępnej obróbki plazmowej żeli jest nadanie ich powierzchni bardziej hydrofilowego charakteru, co przejawia się przyrostem SFE (ang. surface free energy). Wykazano, że SFE żeli jest funkcją stężenia żelatyny w żelach białkowych EWA i rodzaju obróbki wstępnej w plazmie. Najskuteczniejszą obróbkę wstępna uzyskuje się stosując plazmę tlenowa, która indukuje większą hydrofilowość próbek. Obróbka płytek podkładowych ma także wpływ na chropowatość powierzchni żeli. Powierzchnia ta staje się bardziej szorstka dzięki obróbce plazmowej podłoży, niezależnie od zastosowanego gazu lub rodzaju podłoża. Badania pokazują również, że plazma ma wpływ także na sztywność żeli, co przejawiają się w dynamicznych pomiarach oscylacyjnych. Obróbka wstępna plazmą tlenową wywołała największe zmiany, nie tylko na powierzchni, ale także we właściwościach reologicznych hydrożeli, niezależnie od rodzaju podłoża. Przeprowadzone badania są oryginalnym wkładem w standardowe zastosowania obróbki zimną plazmą, które są oparte na bezpośredniej zmianie tylko właściwości powierzchni. Wyniki uzyskane dla żeli żelowanych zarówno na płytkach PET, jak i szklanych wykazują silne podobieństwo wartości SFE, parametrów szorstkości i złożonego modułu sztywności potwierdzając, że metodyka pośrednia działa w przypadku aktywowanych podłoży, takich jak tworzywa sztuczne i szkło. Niniejsza rozprawa stanowi podstawę naukową dotyczącą pośredniego działania plazmą w celu dostosowania zmiany ich właściwości, gdy nie mogą być one narażone na warunki pracy plazmy. Dalszy rozwój charakterystyki powierzchniowej i reologicznej hydrożeli przy zastosowaniu tej metodologii może być obiecującym podejściem do pozyskiwania nowych materiałów o zastosowaniach technologicznych.

Słowa kluczowe: zimna plazma; albumina białka jaja; żelatyna; reologia; właściwości powierzchniowe

I. BACKGROUND

In this section, an overview of the most important features of plasma technology is given, with special focus on the non-thermal/cold plasma treatments. A comprehensive literature review is conducted, covering several aspects of the usefulness of this technology applied to polymers, mainly concerning PET. This section also deals with the basic concept of hydrogels, their general properties, and applications. A brief introduction about the fundamentals of surface thermodynamics is also given.

Plastic is one of the world's most-used materials, roughly 150 million tons (about 20 kg per person) of synthetic polymers are produced worldwide annually. In recent years, a remarkable growth in the use of polymer and biopolymers films for engineering purposes has been observed. These films can be found in extensive applications in packaging [1-11], automotive and air craft industry [12], electrical and electronic equipment [13] or in medical fields ranging from biocompatible implants and coatings to tissue engineering scaffolds, drug delivery system and a wide variety of hospital equipment [14,15]. Nevertheless, many of these applications require the films to have specific properties, including high strength, hardness, resilience, resistance to corrosion, lack of conductivity (thermal and electrical), transparency or proper adhesion; in other words, they need to be functional. To satisfy industrial needs, there is an emerging technique, *cold-plasma treatment*, which is able to provide the material with engineered properties.

Plasma is commonly defined as "a fourth state of matter, distinct from solid or liquid or gas and is present in stars and fusion reactors [16]. It was first described by the American chemist Irving Langmuir in the 1920s [17,18]. Some estimates suggest that up to 99% of the entire visible universe is in the plasma state [19], but here on Earth, with a few spectacular exceptions, such as lightning and the high auroras (during a solar eclipse, plasma can be observed as a bright circle of light around the sun), plasmas can seldomly be found naturally. Recently the use of plasma has become very frequent in everyday life, as in the case of plasma TV sets that can easily be found in everyone's house. Therefore, it is inevitable that many researches and development teams take this chance to broaden the application abilities of something so unique and intriguing as the plasma is [20]. The idea to use plasma to modify materials has been at the forefront, specifically, the so-called 'cold plasma'. When plasma comes into contact with the material, an extra energy is transferred from the plasma to allow

for subsequent reactions to take place on the material surface. This 'extra energy' acts on the surface of the substrate and can modify a wide range of its characteristics, such as: surface energy, roughness, hydrophilicity, surface charge, biocompatibility or reactivity; additionally, this treatment is able to modify the nature of polymer surfaces, and the possibility of provoking some changes of their bulk properties becomes an open question. The use of plasma to improve the wettability of different materials has become increasingly popular. Printing, painting, or adhesive bonding are some of the technologies which could reap the benefit of these treatments. The success of this technique is based on its ability to change the surface properties of a material by physical or chemical modification of its most external layers ($\leq 1 \mu m$), without, in principle, modifying its bulk characteristics. In this way, reengineering of surface chemistry can completely open new fields of application to conventional polymers. It should be also underlined that this technology has substantial limitations. The effect of plasma exposure can eventually erode away the materials in the exhaust chamber, hence it may damage or destroy the treated materials. In particular, the material must be capable of enduring the operating conditions reached in the chamber. This limitation concerns the gel-type biopolymer materials, which are noticeably damaged during the activation. Therefore, there is still an outstanding need to overcome this problematic issue. The development of new biomaterials to substitute petroleum-based plastics has become an important challenge nowadays. Hence, protein-based biomaterials are a new generation of bioplastics and many researchers are working on their further development. However, in general, wide industrial uses have not been found yet for these materials, since the development is still at the experimental stage. Meeting some improved properties, these materials still show inferior performances in terms of functional and structural properties [21]. Adjusting the biomaterial surface and bulk properties, allows obtaining 'smart' biomaterials with new features and enhancements, opening a whole new world of industrial applications. Some of them can have a crucial role as drug delivery systems, tissue scaffolds or active packaging.

This dissertation is mainly focused on featuring and developing a novel methodology, where the foremost goal is to obtain novel gel-type biopolymers. As it is impossible to improve the properties of a such material by direct plasma, the indirect method has been mainly focussed. Gel biopolymers were produced on surfaces activated previously by cold plasma. Polyethylene terephthalate (PET) and glass have been used as activated support materials, so the study on the influence of cold plasma on the polyethylene terephthalate (PET) was also performed. In the next sections, all these issues have been justified and developed.

I.1 Plasma Physics and Chemistry

Plasma, a state of matter naturally occurring in our universe, is also used in everyday applications such as chip etching and torches, serving not only as propulsion but also as sustained energy production via controlled fusion [22].

Plasmas were first identified in a discharge tube (or Crookes tube) and described by Sir William Crookes in 1879 (he described plasmas as "radiant matter") [23]. The nature of the Crookes tube "cathode ray" matter was subsequently identified by the British physicist Sir J.J. Thomson in 1897 [24] and dubbed "plasma" by Irving Langmuir in 1928 [25], perhaps because it reminded him of a blood plasma [26]. To top it all, Langmuir wrote: "*Except near the electrodes, where there are sheaths containing very few electrons, the ionized gas contains ions and electrons in about equal numbers so that the resultant space charge is very small. We shall use the name plasma to describe this region containing balanced charges of ions and electrons"* [25].



Figure 1¹. Illustration of the state change occurring as a result of temperature increase of the material

In Fig.1, it can clearly be seen how an array of particles can be arranged in different configurations, depending on the temperature conditions. The effect of heating makes the material going from solid to gaseous state. When sufficient energy is supplied to a gas, it is ionized and goes into the energy-rich plasma state, the fourth state of matter. So, in essence,

¹ https://www.plasmatreat.com/copyrights.html

plasma can be considered as an "exotic state" consisting of a mixture of particles with different charges and masses. In contrast to the three ordinary states, the transition to plasma is not a transition phase per se, thermodynamically speaking, but the ionization increases 'gradually' when more energy is coupled to the system. In turn, sufficient ionization affects the electrical properties of the system to the point of becoming plasma. In addition, the properties found in plasma are vastly different from those seen in regular gas. For instance, a plasma is electrically conductive, its motion can be influenced by electric and magnetic fields. Therefore, it is called 'ionized gas plasma' if it meets the requirements of being quasi-neutral and its properties are always dominated by electric and/or magnetic forces. This state of matter is associated with a number of characteristic properties, which are either connected to the high particle temperatures or are caused by the existence of free charge carriers, causing, consequently, a high electrical conductivity and giving rise to collective effects as "wave phenomena".

A plasma consists of positively charged ions, negative electrons, neutral molecules, UV light and excited molecules, which can possess a huge amount of internal energy [27]. In the plasma treatment process, any or all of these reactive species before mentioned, may interact with a surface. By selecting the treatment parameters such as pressure, power, process time, gas flow, composition and other factors, the effects of plasma may be adjusted as desired. Plasma can be artificially generated in any neutral gas by providing enough energy for its ionization. In typical laboratory or technical applications, however, the ionization is mostly achieved by strong (direct or alternating current) electrical fields. Plasma phenomena research can lead to a source of unlimited, non-polluting energy.

I.2 Low temperature plasma

For the purpose of this Thesis, it is crucial to distinguish between thermal and nonthermal plasmas from the very beginning. This classification is based on the relative temperatures of electrons, ions and neutrals. In thermal plasma, all species are characterised by thermodynamic equilibrium, $T_{gas} \approx T_{ions,neutrals} \approx T_{electrons}$ [28,29]. The temperature of the thermal plasma may reach the values of several thousands of Kelvins ($10^4 < T (K) < 10^8$) [30]. By contrast, in the case of non-thermal plasmas, the highly energetic electrons and the heavy particles (ions and neutrals) never achieve local thermodynamic equilibrium, while the electrons are at higher temperature (more than 10,000K) the heavy particles are at much lower temperature (nearby room temperature), $T_{electrons} >> T_{gas} \approx T_{ions,neutrals}$. However, the density of the electrons in the plasma is very low compared to the density of the uncharged atoms, giving as a result, the before-mentioned 'cold' gas. The term 'cold' makes reference to plasma with temperatures oscillating between 40 to 70 °C [31]. This is certainly important when plasma is used to treat heat-sensitive biomaterials. Consequently, there are two main aspects in the low temperature/cold plasma treatments. First, cold-plasma is a source of high-temperature electrons at ambient conditions (room temperature and pressure), which means that costly devices are avoided, making cold plasma technology affordable. Secondly, when interacting with an open or controlled environment, many reactive species are produced. These plasmas have a high density of activated species, the energetic electrons collide with the background atoms and molecules causing thus enhanced level of dissociation, excitation and ionization. Then, a series of reactions takes place, hence, producing new chemical bonds, several reactive free radicals, excited state atoms and chemically active compounds, creating, as a result, its reactivity. Those reactive species can be used for many chemical reactions in different fields of science. The efficiency of plasmas is based on the ability of these excited species to induce chemical and physical modifications on the surface [32]. The surface modification of solid substrates by plasma exposure is mostly used for etching, cross-linking, surface activation (radical formation) and as pre-deposition process. Cold atmospheric plasma represents a great opportunity when referring to materials activation, as, *a priori*, the plasma minimizes the risk of damaging the heat-sensitive materials during the treatment. In the laboratory, cold plasmas are generally produced by the provision of electrical energy to the gas in a vacuum.

Many applications are being benefited from this treatment, a) food decontamination [33–43]; b) biomedicine [44–49]; c) medical treatments [50-52]; d) modification of the polymeric materials properties [53]; e) nanotechnologies [54] or surface engineering [55] as a case in point.

Some of the most significant benefits of cold plasma treatment for surface modification are:

• To modify surfaces by attachment or adsorption of functional groups to tailor surface properties for specific applications [56].

- To restructure polymer surfaces through crosslinking [57].
- To deposit polymer layers by plasma polymerization [58].
- To graft functional polymers or end groups onto plasma-activated surfaces [59].

• To prepare surfaces for subsequent processing, e.g.: film deposition or adsorption of molecules [60].

• To improve surface coverage and the spreading of coatings as well as enhancing adhesion between two surfaces [61].

• To modify wettability to render a surface hydrophilic or hydrophobic with the appropriate processed gas(es) [62].

• To change surface properties without affecting the bulk material [63].

• To remove organic contaminants by chemical reaction (O2 or air plasma) or physical ablation (argon plasma) [64].

The generation of plasma at environmental temperature is interesting both technically and commercially: it can be implemented at ambient conditions, but it also reduces cost, increases treatment speed and enables industrial applicability. For those reasons, researchers are continuously looking for new applications that cold plasma science is offering.

I.3 Poly(ethylene terephthalate) (PET)

PET was first synthesized by the esterification of either terephthalic acid or dimethyl terephthalate with ethylene glycol [65,66], in North America in the mid-1940s by Du Pont chemists searching for new synthetic fibres. In the late 1950s, researchers found a way to stretch a thin extruded sheet of PET in two directions to create PET film, which is now used extensively for video, photo and packaging films. In the early 1970s, the technology was developed for blow-stretch moulding PET into bottles. The PET bottle was patented in 1973. Due to PET's unique properties, it is rapidly becoming the world's preferred packaging material for foods and beverages.



Figure 2. Polyethylene terephthalate (PET) structure scheme

Poly (ethylene terephthalate) (PET) is a general-purpose thermoplastic polymer which belongs to the polyester polymer family. PET is the most used and recommended for engineering purposes [67]. The presence of the aromatic ring in its structure (Fig. 2) gives this material excellent mechanical properties, including good strength, rigidity, high strength-toweight ratio, transparency, thermal stability, gas barrier property, chemical resistance and formability. Moreover, PET is the most widely recycled plastic which has recently been considered of significant importance from the industrial point of view. For all the abovementioned reasons, PET is a proper candidate to be further studied in this Thesis.

Although PET films have some excellent bulk properties, their uses are sometimes limited by undesired surface properties, such as low surface free energy, ergo leading to poor wettability and adhesiveness [68]. This is closely connected with the absence or lack of polar surface functional groups resulting in weak mechanical interaction between two contacting surfaces [69]. To address it, the surface energy content needs to be increased prior to its application. As PET is considered to be a heat-sensitive material, a delicate balance must be reached during its surface modification. Thus, the cold plasma treatment seems to be a good route to process it, since it prevents, a priori, any thermal damage of the material.

Considering that PET is one of the most common consumer plastics used [70], many attempts to improve its wettability by cold plasma have been reported in the literature. The processing of PET by cold plasma has been commercially exploited in many different fields, some of the most important applications are:

Food packaging. PET is frequently used as a raw material to manufacture food packaging products, such as bottles and containers, and it is intended to preserve foodstuff

quality along the distribution and storage chain as well as to protect it from deterioration, damage or external pollution. If packaging material is not properly sterilised, it may cause further contamination of the packaged food and consequently it leads to health risks and economic losses [71]. One strategy to solve this issue, is the use of cold plasma treatment of the supports. For instance, Deilmann et al., [72] used oxygen cold plasma treatment for the sterilization of PET bottles, and reported that *Bacillus Atrophaeus* and *Aspergillus niger* spores were significantly reduced after the plasma treatment. Miao and Yun [73] also reported that the air plasma treatment was very effective in *Escherichia coli* sterilization of PET bottles. Furthermore, Koulik et al., [74] applied air cold plasma treatment inside PET bottles and observed over 3 log₁₀ in reduction of microbes and a deodorization effect in a few milliseconds. Muranyi et al., [75] stated that packaging materials such as plastic bottles, lids and films can be rapidly sterilized using this technology, without adversely affecting their bulk properties or leaving any residues. These authors confirmed the workability of plasma for sterilizing PET and multi-layer packages like PET/polyvinylidene chloride (PVDC)/polyethylene (PE). In another research, glass, paper and PET foil have been treated by cold plasma and resulted in the inactivation of E. coli O157:H7, S. Typhimurium, S. aureus [76]. Schneider et al., [77] investigated the practicability of low-temperature plasmas to treat PET foil substrates at industrial level to attract commercial interest, the results obtained suggested the scalability of the approach. Moreover, the cold plasma has also been used to immobilize antimicrobial compounds like lysozyme, nisin, vanillin, or antimicrobial peptides into the packaging materials [71]. The issue of high temperature used to be a main concern in these processes, especially in those involving PET, which is temperature-sensitive material. Such a disadvantage has been overcome by using non-thermal plasma technology. Although the nutritional, sensory and other quality attributes could be affected depending on the residues left after the beforementioned treatment [78], it is not expected to be a handicap in terms of the nutritional quality of foods [79].

Cleaning. Plasma should not only be universally known as an effective, economical, environmentally safe method for critical cleaning, for instance, dirt particles could be removed by chemical reaction with the ionised gases. But it should also be regarded as remarkable effective material for breaking most organic bonds (i.e., C-H, C-C, C=C, C-O, and C-N) from surface contaminants, which could definitely help to break apart high molecular weight contaminants [80]. The result is an ultra-clean surface. Muranyi and co-researchers reported in their papers [81,82] about the fundamental study of cold plasma treatments for cleaning PET

foils as well as multi-layer packaging based on PET/ PVDC/PE-LD. The group has identified an increase in relative gas humidity as a key factor to achieve a minimum of $2\log_{10}$ inactivation in *Aspergillus niger* and *Bacillus subtilis* for 1 s treatments. A comparative study between plasma and wet chemical cleaning of PET fibres was done by Keller et al., [83]. In this work, different cleaning methods were compared in order to remove contaminants on the fibres. The authors stated that plasma cleaning showed the best performance in terms of efficiency, flexibility, ecology and industrial applicability. Gospodinova et al., [84] used cold plasma treatment for cleaning PET fibres. They studied the evolution of hydrophobic changes at different working plasma treatment regimes. The main results showed a good correlation between the cold plasma treatment and its mechanical properties. Finally, they stated that the PET surface was modified and cleaned by a combined plasma-chemical process. Cleaning by using plasma offers much more intense methods of sterilisation, permitting to operate at a lower temperature. The ability to maintain a lower temperature through sterilization gives companies the opportunity to easily sterilize packaging material sensitive to high heat [85].

Printing. Many polymers do not bond readily to other materials as could be the case of paints and glues, the low surface energy and the chemical inertness of PET lead to poor adhesion of printings and coatings in practice. Surface activation and functionalisation by low temperature plasma enables better adhesion on polymers and fibres, facilitating the printing processes such as labelling PET bottles or containers and sealing packages [86]. For instance, Pankaj et al., [87] reported that the surface functionalization by cold plasma treatment imparted surface energies to polymers which promoted ink adhesion. In similar way, the improvement in printability of air plasma treated PET films was reported by Deshmukh and Bhat [88]. In both cases the authors explained that the increment of the functional groups of the PET surface, achieved an improved ink adhesion. On the other hand, Junkar *et al.*, [89] and Strauss and Pulker [90] agreed that to improve the adhesion and the wettability of PET, the most efficient process is usually the low temperature oxygen plasma application.

Biomedical applications. PET has long been commercially employed in the biomedical field for sutures, vascular grafts or cell adhesion, the plasma treatment leads to an enhancement of the wettability which facilitates cell adhesion. Poletti et al., [91] used the atomic force microscopy to investigate the morphological changes in the surface of PET fibres treated by cold plasma. They reported that the changes in morphology in the cases of air, He and Ar gases, seems to be due mainly to etching effects. PET surface was modified and/or functionalized to

achieve improved biomolecule adhesion. The research group of Hubbell has also reported on the functionalization of several polymers including PET in order to improve cell attachment [92,93]. Previous studies showed the potential benefits of the incorporation/grafting of nanoparticles on the activated PET polymer. For instance, Kasálková et al., [94] studied the cell adhesion and proliferation on the modified polymers-grafted to make them more suitable for cell cultivation. The plasma treatment leads to an enhancement of the wettability, which facilitates the cell adhesion. These findings are crucial for many medical and biological applications like tissue engineering or delivery vehicles among others. Švorčík et al., [95] proposed an interesting way of making use of polymeric materials through tissue engineering applications, where the activation of PET and grafting with Au nanoparticles resulted in an alteration of the surface hydrophilicity, roughness and morphology, producing a significant improvement on the materials intended for cell adhesion and proliferation.

It is interesting to point out that even in short terms of treatments, the surface properties of PET are affected by the plasma application. This is the case of the work by Junkar et al., [89] who studied the surface modification of PET films through the changes in wettability and surface chemistry, using different times of treatment with N_2 /and O_2 cold plasmas. The wettability enhancement was set to be crucial for the deposition of biologically active compounds.

Let us emphasize that, although much work has already been done in the use of cold plasma to characterize PET polymer, there are still some issues that have been relatively poorly studied. In the next chapter, some of these research gaps will be identified with the aim of justifying the research done in this Thesis.

I.4 Biopolymers-hydrogels

If civilizations are remembered for what they leave behind, our time might be labelled as the Plastic Age. Plastic is everywhere and it is famous for being long-lasting. Thus, for environmental reasons, many efforts are being made by academics and researchers in an attempt of replacing plastic with others more eco-friendly materials. Biopolymers are, for example, the optimal solution for organic waste bags, compostable fruit and vegetable bags, compostable food packaging or agricultural mulch films. Thus, biopolymers can make an important contribution to *Circular Economy*, which it most aims put emphasis on using products in the best way possible across the entire value chain, on keeping them in usage for as long as possible and to recover them at the end of their service life. However, for some specific applications, many biopolymers are still at an experimental phase, being their industrial uses often restricted because of concerns regarding relatively poor mechanical properties, such as in the medical field, where much work is still required for developing biocompatible coatings [96]. These limitations can be overcome by developing efficient methods for producing biopolymers with a good mechanical performance.

Biopolymers are a kind of innovative polymers produced by natural sources, either chemically synthesized from a biological material or entirely biosynthesized by living organisms. Due to their abundance, biocompatibility, prize and unique properties, they are very promising materials which have received recent attention in research, considering that they provide a great opportunity for developing green chemistry in industries. Biopolymers-based hydrogels represent one of the most fascinating developments in material science. They are defined as three-dimensionally cross-linked networks of polymers chains capable of holding large amounts of water [97]. Softness, smartness, and the capacity to store water, make them unique materials [98]. Hydrogel structure and thus hydrogel properties are very closely related to the conditions under which the hydrogels are formed, i.e., the cross-linker concentration, the monomers' initial degree of dilution and the chemistry of the units building the network structure. A convenient approach to produce novel materials for specific applications, with the desired functional properties, is met by the manipulation of different biopolymers [99]. Among the proteins, gelatin-based films have shown strong potential for commercial applications. In some areas, especially the food industry, gelatin tends to replace the conventional polymers due to its biodegradable properties. The estimated world usage of gelatin is 200,000 metric tons per year [100]. Gelatin is a water-soluble protein obtained by hydrolysis from renewable sources like collagen connective tissue of muscles, skin and bones of animals. Some of its most attractive properties are biodegradability, excellent biocompatibility, non-antigenicity, plasticity or adhesiveness [101]. Gelatin is one of the most popular gelling agents widely used in biomedical or pharmaceutical industries and home kitchen. For instance, gelatin is used as the main ingredient of the hard capsules shells used in the pharmaceutical industry [102]. Additionally, gelatin scaffolds have been developed as an injectable material for tissue engineering applications due to its biocompatibility [103]. Nevertheless, improving mechanical properties of the biomaterial for these applications is crucial. For instance, the hydrogel scaffold mode of action depends on their physical properties (e.g. mechanics, degradation, gel formation), mass transport properties (diffusion) and biological properties (cell adhesion and

signalling) which can all be carefully engineered [104]. To fulfill the commercial requirements, many experts and engineers have carried out researches to improve the functional properties of gelatin products [105]. Chemically induced and enzymatic-induced cross-linking, as well as mixing with other biopolymers, have been used in developing the functional properties of gelatin gels [106]. One established way to change functional properties of gelatin is to incorporate additional double bonds in the collagen chains using glutaraldehyde [107] or formaldehyde [108]. Other methods include the use of enzymes [109], or a mixture of gelatin and carrageenan, [110] and the use of additional salts [111,112]. Coughlan et al., [113] reported that combinations of proteins and hydrocolloids resulted in more effective functional properties than when working individually. Protein-hydrocolloid interactions may thus enhance the stabilization of interfacial layer thickness, leading to the stability of foam against bubble coalescence [114]. A series of studies [105,115,116] have shown that gelatin films combined and blended with other proteins would improve the physical and mechanical properties of the mixed gel produced. In light of the above, the protein-based hydrogels will be built by manipulating the proportions of gelatin with egg white albumin protein - EWA, which are representative natural polymers that help to produce natural hydrogels.

Chicken egg is one of the perfectly preserved biological items that is easy to be found in nature and it is also considered as the best source of protein, lipids, vitamins, and minerals. Moreover, EWA is other of the most popular gelling protein. The efficiency of the functional properties of EWA protein may be adversely or favorably affected by the addition of other hydrocolloids. Building mixed gels of egg white albumen with other hydrocolloids can create practically unlimited possibilities for gels with different textures, viscoelasticity and surface properties [117]. Badii and Howell [118] found out that a mixture of gelatin and EWA (3:10) gave greater storage modulus value than the ones expected from just adding the values from the singular gels. Moreover, Ersch et al., [119] also reported that mixing gelatin with egg protein resulted in stronger gels in terms of rigidity. EWA is a system built out of numerous globular proteins, it has a protein content of about 11 % and comprises about 58 % of the entire egg mass [120]. It also has multiple functional properties and, among them, foaming, emulsification, gelation, microencapsulation and adhesion are the most significant [121-123]. The understanding of the formation mechanism of hydrogels under various experimental conditions is of great interest to predict their physical properties. Tomczyńska-Mleko and Mleko [124,125] have studied the aptitude of EWA protein gels as matrices for active ingredients release. Taheri et al., [126] used nanoparticles of EWA protein as drug carrier systems. Rosenzweig et al., [127] used EWA to develop and characterize floating, stomach-retentive matrix tablets, which would deliver polyphenols in a controlled release manner.

As already stated, the combinations of proteins and hydrocolloids can allow the design of new biomaterials with enhanced mechanical properties, which are fundamental from the industrial viewpoint. However, extensive research is still needed on new methods for gelatinbased films formation to improve the final properties and their potential applications. Development of biopolymers by means of some physical or chemical routes is a necessary tool to overcome frequent limitations concerning surface properties. In particular, low surface energy would affect surface wettability and other related properties, and it could be a handicap, as it would lack specific requirements in applications, such as drug delivery systems, intelligent packaging or tissue scaffold preparation. Among the current methods for surface modification, cold- plasma treatment is an emerging technique offering many potential benefits in treatments of biomaterials. It enables us not only to improve adhesion [128] and to modify wetting properties but also to enhance functionality and biocompatibility of biomaterial surfaces [129].

The surface state of a medical device is crucial for its biocompatibility, and bacterial adhesion onto it. For instance, treating cell scaffolds with plasma increases hydrophilicity and improves cell adhesion [130]. The roughness can also be controlled using plasma technology; surface roughness of the gels can influence their application as matrices for active ingredients [131]. A rougher surface implies that scaffold disappears faster by hydrolyzing enzymes acting, and faster is, thus, the release of drugs and active ingredients in active packaging systems [132]. These modifications allow us to design well-suited materials for reaching the industrial target.

I.5 Surface Thermodynamics: Surface Free Energy (SFE)

Having a deep knowledge on polymers interfaces in a wide range of technologies and application must be considered of utmost importance. Surface free energy (SFE) is one of the quantities describing the properties of solids, being a powerful tool to predict the behaviour of the polymers at the interfaces. It is a physical phenomenon which is originated by the intermolecular interactions. Three interphases are involved in the solid-liquid interactions: liquid/vapour, solid/liquid and the solid/vapour interfaces. The intermolecular interactions include van der Waals, London dispersive, Debye inductive and Keesom orientation forces; other interactions are hydrogen bonding, Lewis acid–base, and energetically homogeneous and

heterogeneous interactions [133]. The sum of all of these interactions determines the SFE. The spherical shape of the liquid drop is changed to spread across the surface of a solid and, consequently, makes the surface wet. The work needed per unit area (J/m^2) , in order to change the drop shape, is called surface free energy. This term describes the excess energy that the surface has compared to the bulk of the material; the main use of SFE is to determine the work of the adhesion between the liquid and the solid. For this purpose, there are different models, which differ mainly in the interpretation and calculation of SFE, will be further developed.

In view of the above, a good understanding of the surface properties of a material can be obtained from the analysis of the SFE; for instance, Białopiotrowicz and Bronisław [134] studied the wettability of the gelatin films; they conclude that the values of the SFE components and parameters calculated from the contact angles of glycerol, ethylene glycol, and diiodomethane allowed them to predict the wetting behaviour for other studied organic liquids. Precise estimation of the SFE value is of significant importance in many industrial areas. Busscher et al., [135] calculated the SFE of bacterial cell surfaces and studied its relevance for adhesion; they concluded that bacterial adhesion was energetically unfavourable. Katsikogianni et al., [136] observed an increase in the free energy of PET surfaces treated with He and He/O₂ plasmas, which significantly reduced the adhesion of a specific strain of *S. epidermidis*. Notably, the wetting of a surface is not only determined by the magnitude of its surface energy, but also by the free energy of adhesion between the solid and liquid as well as the surface tension of the liquid [137].

Interactions between solid and liquid are important in many processes that determine the adhesion between the two phases. When the SFE of the solid is high, it is usually easily wetted by any liquid, such as paints. Metal and glass are examples of high SFE materials where wetting is not problematic. In contrast, some commonly used polymers are hydrophobic, having very low SFE, causing poor wetting; for instance, the SFE of common polymers is around 30-40 mJ/m² at 25°C [138] (see appendix 5); it is known that when a polymer has a SFE lower figure than approximately 60 mJ/m², a good adhesion is not possible and consequently, there is a problem with the spreading of liquids upon the surface [139]. This is mainly due to the fact that the surface is not capable of forming strong bonds, so there is little energetic reward for the liquid to break the bulk bonding, in order to favour surface interaction. This is undesirable for many commercial applications and certain pre-treatments are applied to improve their wettability. Scientists tried to improve the wettability of mainly hydrophobic polymers, by using cold plasma technology [140-142]. For instance, Jurak et al., [143] used air plasma to improve PET surface properties for biomedical applications; the authors reported that the surface activation significantly enhances its polarity, evidenced by the increase of the SFE value. It improves the PET biocompatibility, making it more suitable for cardiovascular devices. In the work by Yang et al., [144] the low-temperature air plasma was applied to improve the intrinsic low SFE of a PET film for technical applications. The authors also reported that the polar groups appearing after the activation, make the surface more hydrophilic as compared to the untreated one.

II. JUSTIFICATION

Taking the literature review of the previous section as a starting point, in this section the research done will be put in context and its main aims emphasized. This thesis is focused mainly on two issues: i) surface characterization of PET by cold plasma treatment; and ii) surface and bulk characterization of EWA/gelatin gels formed onto PET and glass treated plates, using the so-called ''indirect plasma treatment''. In the first case, the influence of cold plasma treatment of PET plates under several conditions is studied. This is an important step in the research because the knowledge obtained will be later on used in the second part of the research work, in which pre-treated PET plates are used as 'activated support'. In the second part of this work, a novel methodology for gel-type biopolymers activation is developed; then, the scope and possibilities of this methodology are evaluated, which allows not only tuning the surface of the bio-layers, but also their rheological characteristics. In the next section the motivation of these studies is briefly discussed.

II.1 Research focus

First part of the research: Surface characterization of PET by cold plasma treatment

It is generally agreed that the changes of the surface properties of PET are produced by the incorporation of polar groups after the plasma treatment. For instance, Levine et al., [145] reported that the most important aspect in the modification of polymer surfaces was the chemical changes which resulted in an increase in polarity and SFE. In a research made by Pelagade et al., [146], the authors studied the modification of PET using Ar-cold plasma. The wettability of the surface was studied in terms of the changes in the SFE, using Van Oss approach; as a result, they reported that the SFE of the PET increased with Ar plasma treatment due to an increase in polar component. However, in this study, the authors did not compare the results of SFE using others approaches. In a work carried out by El-Saftawy et al., [147], the wetting behavior of the polymer (PET) was studied by employing the contact angle method and the SFE analysis. In this case, three different approaches (Neumanm, Owens and Wendt (OW)

and Van Oss, Chaudry and Good (vOCG)) were used to calculate the SFE of the film. The authors reported that the differences observed among the used approaches were mainly due to the intermolecular interactions in the liquid/polymer surface system. In that paper, however, the treatment used for the polymer surface was not the cold plasma, but electron-beam induced plasma. It is interesting to note that when comparing results obtained using different approaches, the differences in the SFE values were not caused by the experimental errors, since the same values of contact angles were used for all calculations. The differences are attributed to the several assumptions made in the approaches used for SFE calculation, and to the differences in the intermolecular interactions between the probe liquids and the examined material. Therefore, in the above-mentioned works, although the authors have studied the effect of plasma treatment of PET polymer using different approaches to determinate the SFE, however, the discussion concerning the importance and limitations of the different methods used is still due [148]. In this study, the models have been selected based on specialized literature reports [149], and the real potential of this field of research will be used; in order to do so, a careful study of the wettability of PET plates has been performed, using contact angles measurements with several probe liquids, and theoretical approaches for the SFE determination. The most frequently used methods are those proposed by Fowkes [150, 151], Van Oss, Good, Chaudhury [152-154], Owens and Wendt [155], as well as those based on the "state equation" given by Neumann [156-159].

In the present work, the surface modifications of PET after induced cold plasma activation will be evaluated by comparing the SFE values obtained using the "Hysteresis method" [160-162] vs. Van Oss model [152-154]. Although different models include different interactions for calculation of the SFE, it is hypothesized that these models could be directly comparable. The contact angle hysteresis approach (CAH) is one of the latest methods for calculating the 'apparent' SFE of polymeric materials, elaborated in the Department of Interfacial Phenomena by Prof. E. Chibowski [160-162]. It is based on the determination of the contact angle hysteresis, which is the difference between advancing and receding contact angles. This method was successfully applied for the calculation of SFE independent of its surface character, that could be hydrophilic [163], hydrophobic [164] and even superhydrophobic [165].

The Lifshitz–Van der Waals/Acid–Base approach (LWAB) [152-154] is based on the partition of the SFE quantity into independent components, which enables to learn better the examined phenomena, especially the interfacial acid-base interactions. Multicomponent

theories play an important role for the prediction of solid-liquids adhesion work and SFE of solid surfaces. This method is undoubtedly one of the recent achievements in the studies on the SFE of polymeric materials and it will be briefly described, as well as the CAH model, in section III.4. Thus, the wettability study based on the SFE values obtained by various methods and with the use of different measuring liquids, will be one of the very consistent and precise issues considered in this work.

Additionally, it is known that surface modifications induced on the polymers after plasma activation are not sustainable over time and may change during sample storage. The loss of beneficial attributes derived from plasma processing of polymers over time is often called "ageing". The surfaces modified by the plasma suffer changes during storage, which basically consist of a decrease in their hydrophilicity, manifested by a decrease in the value of surface free energy and an increase in the water contact angle [166]. This undesirable phenomenon is called 'hydrophobic recovery'. The evaluation of ageing time represents a fundamental step to plan the insertion of the plasma process inside the industrial system. The mechanism of ageing as well as approaches to delay the hydrophobic recovery, is a subject of active research and an issue still open for discussion.

Concerning cold-plasma treatments, the mechanisms of surface modification differ, depending on the type of gas used [167,168]. The main difference between reactive and noble gas plasmas is the lack of chemically active species in the latter. Noble gases are inert and do not react with the treated samples or alter their surface chemistry, so they do not incorporate new chemical species on the surface during exposure in the chamber. However, transfer reactivity, giving rise to bond breakage and the subsequent origin of free radicals, which may undergo many reactions with the atmospheric molecules, are the responsible for the surface changes. Thus, the main mechanisms are selective bond breakage (scissoring) and possible desorption of short chain species (cross-linking) [169]. However, treatment with other than noble gases, like O₂ or air, results in the incorporation of the active species contained in plasma onto the sample surface under treatment (functionalization) [170]. They may remove organic contaminants by chemical reaction with highly reactive oxygen radicals and through ablation by energetic oxygen ions, promote surface oxidation and hydroxylation (OH groups) and there is also an increase of the surface wettability [171]. With this in mind, the treatment processes have been designed using both, an inert (Ar) and a reactive (air) gas, and then the results evaluated. The alterations in the surface chemistry of the cold-plasma treated PET plates will be analysed using the XPS technique.

The first part of this study is aimed to cover the following scientific problems:

- The study of the effect of cold plasma treatment (air and Ar) on the wetting properties of PET plates. For this purpose, experimental measurements of contact angles, optical surface-profilometry and XPS analysis of the surface chemical composition of the PET plates, have been conducted.
- 2. The study of the time storage effects on the surface properties of the plasma-treated PET plates (hydrophobic recovery).
- 3. The discussion of the wettability enhancement of treated PET plates, in terms of SFE changes obtained by different models.
- 4. To draw a proper comparison about the efficiency of the different plasma treatments applied, the reactive (air) and inert (Ar) gases used for the activation of the PET plates.

This set of studies is of fundamental importance for the second part of the planned work, since PET is used as 'activated support' for biopolymers gelling.

Second part of the research: Surface modification of EWA/gelatin gels by the "indirect plasma treatment" methodology.

Due to the usually poor mechanical properties of biomaterials films, their use to eventually replace the conventional plastics, introduces new challenges. This research features a novel methodology for the preparation of gel-type films with specific chemical/mechanical properties. EWA-gelatin gels is proposed as a good candidate for this study because these proteins are being widely studied by our research group [121,124,125,131,132,172-180]. Enhancing their mechanical properties could turn them into a new generation of bioplastics which would serve as alternatives to conventional petroleum-based plastics.

In the Department of Interfacial Phenomena, current studies are being made on the activation of different types of surfaces by cold plasma technology in order to improve the surface properties of the materials under study. Concerning the study of hydrogels, in our

attempts to activate them by the cold-plasma technique, the films were always damaged, even under several working conditions. It is a requisite that the material under cold-plasma activation must be capable of enduring the operating conditions reached in the chamber. However, in the case of hydrogels, not only vacuum cannot be applied (in cold plasma processes, gas is excited by energy supplied in a vacuum), but also the material is destroyed (hydrogels are extra-heatsensitive materials). Additionally, the nature of hydrogels precludes the use of some techniques like XPS. In these cases, it is necessary to adopt strategies that yield reliable results. To the best of our knowledge, very little attention has been paid in the case of biomaterials, which cannot be usually exposed to the plasma working conditions. There are only a few experimental works (performed by researchers from our lab) dealing with new methodologies for hydrogels activation. Terpiłowski et al., [172] have used glass plates activated by cold plasma for deposition of ion-induced whey protein gels. The authors reported improvement in the surface properties of gels deposited on cold-plasma activated glass support. However, for certain specific applications further improvements can be required. In this work, an innovative methodology has been proposed, the 'indirect plasma treatment', in order to design and characterize thermal-sensitive materials, mainly gel-type biopolymers. It is based on sample contact of the biomaterial (a gel in our case) with plasma-activated surfaces, which supposedly modifies their physical properties. In the particular case of hydrogels, they become directly gelled onto the activated support. It is hypothesized that, after the support activation by cold plasma, physical and chemical phenomena should occur on its surface and, indirectly, also on the surface of any other phase in contact with the activated plate. In this way, after detaching the gels from the activated support, the contacted surface should be 'indirectly activated', and their surface properties should reflect it. Figure 3 shows a graphical representation of the scheme according to the steps followed in the methodology.



Figure 3^2 . Graphical representation of the indirect plasma treatment working methodology.

On the other hand, cold plasma activation is usually cited as "not altering the bulk properties of the materials" [181]. However, it is still an open question whether in the case of the gels formed in the way above described, properties other than surface chemical ones, are indeed changed. In particular, it could be thought that the strength to deformation and the viscoelastic properties of these materials could be altered after their contact with treated plates. It was our hypothesis in this work that the bulk properties of the hydrogels would be affected under indirect activation.

In order to develop this methodology, it is necessary to prove it by using activated supports of different nature. It will allow to evaluate not only its validity but also its scope. For that purpose, glass, along with PET, has been widely studied by our team [165,172,182-185], and now both used as activated supports where the gels will be formed. Thus, the second part of this dissertation will describe the study on the surface characterization of EWA/gelatin gels by indirect plasma treatment, gelled on i) glass and ii) PET activated plates.

² Graphical Abstract; Pérez-Huertas et al., *Plasma Processes and Polymers*, 17, 3 (2019) 1900171.

The aims covered in the second part of this Thesis are as follows:

- 5. Study of the impact of indirect cold-plasma activation on the hydrogel functional properties using different gases (air, Ar and O₂). Hydrogels were prepared at different concentrations of gelatin in the EWA dispersions. The characterization of the resulting films will be done by measuring the contact angles, roughness and the calculation of SFE using CAH approach.
- 6. Determine whether there is some kind of interaction between the gelatin and the EWA particles. For this purpose, microscopic observations are conducted, which allow gaining information on the aggregation state of the samples.
- 7. Rheological characterization of the hydrogels. For this purpose, dynamic oscillatory measurements were done, and the moduli were characterized, which enabled to check the mesoscopic changes.
- 8. Make a comparison between the results obtained for hydrogels produced on PET and glass activated support.

As a conclusion, it is expected to get results which will provide valuable guidance for the proper design and manufacturing of hydrogels-based biomaterials. It is the will of this research to get working methodologies that could be used in industrial processes, as those producing intelligent ingredients, scaffolds or tissue engineering films.

III. MATERIALS AND METHODS

III.1 Poly (ethylene terephthalate) (PET) and glass plates

0.5 mm thick commercial PET (Axpet Standard, Bayer AG) plates were used. The material was cut into 20 mm × 20 mm pieces. Before the experiments, the samples were washed in ethanol in the ultrasound bath for 15 min and then rinsed with Milli-Q water to remove their surface contamination. The samples were dried at room temperature in a desiccator. The methodology regarding the study of aging phenomena (hydrophobic recovery) of PET, is given in appendix 2 [138].

Glass microscope slides 76 x 26 x 1 mm with composition (%): 72.6 SiO₂, 13.9 Na₂O, 8.4 CaO, and 5.1 metal oxides were used (Comex, Wroclaw, Poland). Before the experiments, glass plates were cleaned in solution of methanol/water (1:1) in the ultrasounds bath for 15 min and then rinsed with Milli-Q (18.2 m Ω) water and dried in the dryer for 1 h at 50 °C. After drying the glass plates were kept in the desiccator at room temperature.

III.2 Egg white albumin and gelatine

Egg white albumin (EWA) protein, low mineral, high gel type (88.1% protein) was provided by Kewpie Corporation (Tokyo, Japan). Protein concentration was determined by the Kjeldahl method [186]. Gelatin from the porcine skin (type A) was obtained from Dr. Oetker (Gdansk, Poland). According to the specification, it has "platinum strength" with a 250 Bloom and ca. 60,000 mean molecular mass. To perform the Bloom test on gelatin, a 6.67% gelatin solution was kept for 17–18 hours at 10 °C prior to being tested. The higher a Bloom value is, the higher the melting and gelling points of a gel are, and the shorter its gelling time is too.

III.2.1 Hydrogels films preparation

EWA protein dispersion was made by hydrating the protein in distilled water and then heating in a water bath for 30 min at 80 °C. Gelatin solution was added to obtain mixtures with

3% (w/w) EWA protein, and 3%, 4%, 5% or 6 % gelatin concentration. In the preliminary tests, the mixed gels with gelatin concentrations ranging from 1-6% were prepared. At low gelatin concentration (1-2%), the water content was too large to manipulate without damaging the films; thus, only gels containing 3% or higher gelatin concentration were used onwards. The mixed solutions were stirred for 30 min at 80 °C and poured on the support's plates placed on Petri dishes to obtain a 1.0±0.1 mm thick gel layer (checked using a micrometer screw gauge). The Petri dishes were levelled using a self-levelling laser IM0201 (Magnusson, Longpont-sur-Orge, France). In total, 4 samples with different gelatin contents were gelled on each plasma-treated plate (PET and glass), stored for 20 hours at 7 °C and equilibrated at 21 °C for 2 hours, prior to the determination of their properties. After one day, the gel was detached from the support and studies on its wettability and surface topography were carried out on the inner surface, which had been previously attached by the methods described in the following sections [117, 187]. Moreover, rheological measurements were also performed.

III.3 Materials characterisation

III.3.1 Cold plasma treatment

Plasma activation was performed in a low-pressure plasma system, Pico, from Diener Electronic, Germany. The plates were placed on the sample shelf and the system was adjusted to a pressure of 0.2 mbar. Then, the flow of gas (air, argon and oxygen, from Air Products, Warsaw, Poland) was set at 22 sccm (standard cubic centimetres per minute). The plates were treated with the cold plasma at the electric voltage 400 V for 1 min. The chamber was purged with air for 10 s, so as to remove the existing gaseous products.

III.3.2 Contact angle measurements

Advancing and receding contact angles on the surfaces were measured by making use of the contact angle meter GBX (France), equipped with a temperature and humidity-controlled measuring chamber and digital camera. The measurements were conducted at 20 °C and 50% relative humidity. A 6 μ L droplet from a syringe was gently settled on the sample surface by

means of an automatic deposition system. The advancing contact angle was evaluated from the droplet shape by the computer program Win Drop. Then, 2 μ L of the droplet volume was sucked into the syringe and the receding contact angle was calculated by the above-mentioned program. Three liquids of known SFE, distilled water, ethylene glycol and diiodomethane, were selected to cover the range from a very polar liquid to a non-polar one. The advancing and receding contact angles were measured for up to 10 droplets of each probe liquid [184].

III.3.3 Topography. Optical profilometer

Topography of the gel surface was obtained using an optical profilometer GT Contour Surface Metrology (Veeco, Tucson, USA). Surface roughness was determined numerically from 3D images through Vision64 software (Veeco, Tucon, USA). The parameters were the average roughness (Ra), the quadratic mean of the surface roughness (RRMS) and the maximum roughness height (Rt).

III.3.4 X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS)

XPS, spectra of polymer samples, were obtained by a multi chamber UHV analytical system. The system, equipped with a monochromatic hemispheric analyser (R4000; VG Scienta), was used under UHV conditions in the analytic chamber, with vacuum at the 5×10^{-9} mbar level. The Casa XPS program was used for the XPS spectra data processing and the quantitative analysis of the surface properties of the examined samples.

III.3.5 Oscillatory rheology

Viscoelastic properties of the gels were determined using a Kinexus Lab+ dynamic rheometer (Malvern Instruments Limited, Malvern, U.K.). Rheological properties were investigated using a serrated parallel steel plate (35 mm diameter, 1 mm gap size) to limit the sliding effects. The gel samples (10 mm diameter and 1 mm thick) were cut and detached from the plate using a scalpel. Oscillatory measurements, with frequency sweeps in the range 0.1-10 Hz, were performed. All the measurements were performed at 0.01 strain in the linear
viscoelastic range determined by the strain sweep. The complex modulus, G^* , as well as the loss tangent, tan δ , were obtained from the experimental data.

III.3.6 Confocal microscopy

Optical confocal images were captured by means of an inverted light microscope, Eclipse MA200, Nikon (Japan) with confocal attachment. Moreover, rhodamine solution was used as a contrast.

III.4 Surface Free Energy determination

Since it is not possible to measure the surface energy of a solid directly [188], the contact angle is used as an indirect approach for this purpose. Therefore, surface free energy can be calculated from the wettability angles of experimental liquids (with known surface tension) measured on the solid surface. The contact angle is the tangent of the drop profile at the threephases contact point where the liquid/gas interface meets the solid–liquid interface (see Fig. 4). The contact angle measurement gives an indication of the capability of a solid to be wetted by a liquid, and the SFE is the quantitative measure of the resulting intermolecular forces at the interphase, which is (or at least should be) independent of the liquid used. At the beginning of the 19th century, Thomas Young published his famous work "An essay on the Cohesion of Fluids" [189], which resulted in one of the most famous equation in surface science, commonly known as Young's equation (Eq. 1). This equation, describes the relationship between the contact angle and the interfacial tension between the interfaces in contact:

$$\gamma_L \cos \theta = \gamma_{SV} - \gamma_{SL}$$

where γ_L is surface tension of a measuring liquid, θ is contact angle between the solid and the measuring liquid, γ_{SV} is the interfacial tension solid/vapor and γ_{SL} is the solid/liquid interfacial tension.

There is a relationship between γ_{SV} and γ_S , the solid surface tension, given by:

(2)

$$\pi_e = \gamma_S - \gamma_{SV}$$

With π_e , spreading pressure. Usually in low-energy surfaces as polymers are, this term is negligible, so that Young's equation appears as:

$$\gamma_L \cos \theta = \gamma_S - \gamma_{SI}$$

The Young equation and the measured values of the contact angles are currently used as the basis of many methods to obtain the SFE of polymeric materials. According to this equation, the surface free energy depends on the contact angle of an experimental liquid, its surface tension as well as the solid/liquid interfacial energy. However, regarding the described parameters, the contact angle and the surface tension are the only ones that can be experimentally measured; and the wettability angle must also be measured under special conditions of equilibrium (Fig. 4a), on ideal solid surface, which should be chemically homogeneous, rigid, smooth and without being perturbed by chemical interaction or by vapour or liquid adsorption.



Figure 4³. a) Contact angle in the Young equation meaning b) Contact angle measured under real conditions

Obviously, such conditions cannot be experimentally satisfied, since finding such a flat and chemically homogenous ideal surface is almost impossible and all the practical surfaces deviate from ideality. Therefore, to solve Equation (1), some additional assumptions concerning the relations between γ_S , γ_L , and γ_{SL} should be made. The essence and physical interpretation

³ Terpiłowski et al., Advances in Contact Angle, Wettabilty and Adhesion, Chapter 14, 332

of these assumptions led to the development of some theoretical approaches for the calculation of the SFE of the solid (γ_S). To be able to understand the different models, the term "work of adhesion" has to be explained. Thermodynamic adhesion is the work required to separate different surfaces into two new surfaces. The equation for work of adhesion can be written as:

$$W_A = \gamma_A + \gamma_B - \gamma_{AB} \tag{4}$$

(5)

where γ_{AB} is the interfacial tension between two phases, γ_A is the surface tension of phase A and γ_B is the surface tension of phase B. Now, if one phase is solid and the other is liquid, the Equations (1) and (4) can be combined into the Young-Dupré equation:

$$W_A = \gamma_L (1 + \cos \theta_a)$$

This Equation is the basis of SFE theories [190,191]. They all are semi-experimental ones, which is the reason why the used theory must always be stated.

Consequently, the obtained value of SFE will depend, to some extent, on the surface tension of the liquid whose contact angles are measured, and the approach used for its calculation [159]. The specific elements in the development of such approaches are going to be detailed below.

In addition of the two models below described, which are applied for the calculation of the surface free energy, it is possible to calculate the "Young equilibrium contact angle" from Tadmor theory, which contributes to a better description of polymer surface wettability properties. Tadmor proposed the equations 6a-c, which connect the equilibrium contact angle with the advancing and receding contact angles on a really smooth (finitely rigid surface) surface. According to Tadmor's theory, the advancing contact angle is the largest possible angle on a given surface, being the receding contact angle the lowest and the equilibrium contact angle, somewhere in between them. Associating the line energy (along the three-phase contact line composed of local interfacial energies) with various values of contact angles on the same surface and assuming that heterogeneities on a given surface are of similar nature, Tadmor proposed the following equations [192-196].

$$\Gamma_{a} \equiv \left(\frac{\sin^{3}\theta_{a}}{(2 - 3\cos\theta_{a} + \cos^{3}\theta_{a})}\right)^{1/3}$$

$$\Gamma_{r} \equiv \left(\frac{\sin^{3}\theta_{r}}{(2 - 3\cos\theta_{r} + \cos^{3}\theta_{r})}\right)^{1/3}$$
(6b)
$$(\Gamma_{r} \cos\theta_{r} + \Gamma_{r} \cos\theta_{r})$$
(6c)

(6a)

$$\theta_{Eq} = \arccos\left(\frac{\Gamma_a \cos\theta_a + \Gamma_r \cos\theta_r}{\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r}\right)$$

 Γ_a and Γ_r are, respectively, the advancing and receding angle weight coefficients [185].

These equations allow the calculation of the equilibrium contact angles from the measurements of advancing and receding contact angles on the PET plates. The equilibrium angles will be used in calculations of the SFE by Hysteresis (CAH) approach (equation (8)).

III.4.1 One liquid model: Contact Angle Hysteresis approach (CAH)

This approach is based on the "contact angle hysteresis" (CAH) measurements. The contact angle hysteresis is defined as the difference between the advancing and receding contact angles and it is attributed to the surface roughness and its chemical heterogeneity [197]. CAH approach is based on the measurements of both, advancing (θ_a) and receding (θ_r) contact angles, using the same measuring liquid of a known value of γ_L . The calculated SFE depends somewhat on the physicochemical properties of the liquid used.

The equation used is:

(7)
$$\gamma_s = \left(\frac{\gamma_L (1 + \cos \theta_a)^2}{(2 + \cos \theta_a + \cos \theta_r)}\right)$$

It allows the determination of the "apparent surface free energy" [162], namely γ_S , where γ_L is the liquid surface tension; and θ_a and θ_r are the advancing and receding contact angles, respectively.

Moreover, when the equilibrium contact angles (i.e., θ_{Eq}) are used for the calculation of the apparent SFE, Eq. (7) is transformed into Eq. (8) [162]:

$$\gamma_s = \frac{\gamma_L}{2} \left(1 + \cos \theta_{Eq} \right)$$

(8)

(9)

where the symbols are as above.

III.4.2 Three liquids model: Lifshitz-van der Waals/Acid-Base approach (LWAB)

Van Oss-Good-Chaudhury acid-base theory constitutes one of the most known and successful multicomponent approaches, which is used for the estimation of the SFE of solids [152-154]. According to Van Oss's approach, the surface tension could be expressed as the sum of several components, due to dispersion, induction and dipole-dipole forces, and hydrogen bonding [152].

In this model, γ_i is splitted into two components; (i) apolar, Lifshitz-van der Waals, γ_i^{LW} , and (ii) polar Lewis acid–base γ_i^{AB} [152-154]:

$$\gamma_i^{tot} = \gamma_i^{LW} + \gamma_i^{AB}$$

The polar Lewis acid–base component, γ_i^{AB} , in turn, is determined by two parameters, electron donor γ_i^- and electron acceptor γ_i^+ . In most cases, the acid-base interaction is mainly due to hydrogen bonding [152]. They assumed that γ_i^{AB} can be expressed as the geometric mean of γ_i^- and γ_i^+ parameters and included the dipole-dipole and dipole-induced dipole (if present) into the γ_i^{LW} component, in which the principal interaction is London dispersion. In fact, experimentally speaking, just this latter interaction is determined from the contact angle

of an apolar liquid, usually diiodomethane. Therefore, for a solid surface, its total SFE can be written as:

(10)
$$\gamma_S^{tot} = \gamma_S^{LW} + 2\sqrt{\gamma_S^+ \gamma_S^-}$$

and for solid/liquid interfacial free energy the equation reads:

$$\gamma_{S/L} = \gamma_{S} + \gamma_{L} - 2\sqrt{\gamma_{S}^{LW}\gamma_{L}^{LW}} - 2\sqrt{\gamma_{S}^{+}\gamma_{S}^{-}} - 2\sqrt{\gamma_{S}^{-}\gamma_{S}^{+}}$$

 γ_L is the liquid surface tension; $\gamma_{S/L}^{LW}$, the Lifshitz van der Waals component of solid/liquid free energy of interaction; $\gamma_{S/L}^+$ and $\gamma_{S/L}^-$, are the electron acceptor and the electron-donor parameters, respectively, of the acid-base component of solid/liquid free energy of interaction.

Next, taking into account Eqs. 4 and 5, and using the measured advancing contact angles, it can be assessed that:

(11)

$$\gamma_L(1 + \cos\theta_a) = 2\sqrt{\gamma_S^{LW}\gamma_L^{LW}} + 2\sqrt{\gamma_S^+\gamma_L^-} + 2\sqrt{\gamma_S^-\gamma_L^+}$$

Thus, γ_s^{tot} can be obtained from a series of measurements of advancing contact angles with three selected probe liquids of known surface tension components; one nonpolar and two bipolar liquids should constitute the set of the three measuring liquids. Then, this set of three equations of type (12) can be solved simultaneously and the solid total surface free energy γ_s^{tot} can be obtained from equation (10).

IV. DISCUSSION

In this section, an integral discussion is given about the most important findings, which are interrelated in this set of studies (appendixes 1-4). First, focus is made on the changes of the wetting properties of PET plates induced by cold plasma treatment. Then, an analysis is made on the surface properties of hydrogels, which have been gelled on both activated supports: PET and glass.

A different focus will be given to the findings shown on appendixes 3-4, which deal with the rheological properties found in hydrogels. The possible relationship between the altered bulk and surface properties of gels is considered and evaluated as well. Moreover, a comparison of the surface and bulk properties of the gels which were gelled onto both PET and the glass activated supports, is also carried out.

IV.1 A methodology based on the 'indirect plasma activation'. Tuning surface and bulk properties of hydrogels

IV.1.1 Surface properties changes induced in treated PET and pre-treated gels by cold plasma.

According to what was mentioned in the previous sections, the analysis of wetting properties is better done from the values of SFE than from the contact angle data, which are the direct consequence of the former quantity; thus, the SFE seems to be the proper analysis tool to carry out this analysis. Fig. 3 displays the SFE of PET prior to and after air- and argon- plasma treatments. The SFE values were calculated from the CAH approach, using the water "equilibrium contact angles" obtained using the Tadmor's [192-196] derivations.



Figure 5. PET surface free energy values based on CAH approach using equilibrium water contact angles in relation to the treatment and storage time UT, untreated

Focusing on the values obtained immediately after the treatment of the PET plates, the SFE increased from $45.3\pm3.8 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ (untreated) to $71.2\pm5.9 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ after the argon treatment, and to $69.8\pm8.2 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ in the case of air. It can be clearly seen that the exposure of PET surface to the air/argon-plasma caused a decrease in water contact angle as a result of the increase in the SFE. During activation, the weakly non-polar bonds of the plastic polymer are replaced by oxygen bonds (cross-linking reactions) which can provide free valence electrons for bonding the liquid molecules. It was corroborated by the changes of the surface chemical composition given by the survey scan XPS spectra. Table 1 provides the percentage contributions of carbon and oxygen atoms on the PET surface. The content of carbon atoms decreased after the plasma treatments. The plasma activation generates polymer chain-breaking for some bonds, resulting in a disruption in the polymer chain, which is proved by the decrease in the percentage of C content. The percentage contribution of oxygen increased significantly from 19.1% up to 30.0% and to 28.1% after ar- and air- plasma treatment respectively, indicating the formation of induced oxidized functional groups. Similar results were obtained by Slepicka et al., [198] who studied the effect of argon cold plasma on the surface chemistry of PET. They found that new functional groups were formed on the polymer surface after plasma treatment. It was reported

that the formation of oxygen rich functional groups at the polymer surface, was due to the decrease in C content.

Table 1. Elemental surface chemical compositions of non-treated and plasma-treated PET samples, as calculated from the XPS survey spectra.

Component (%)	UNTREATED	AIR-plasma	ARGON-plasma
0	19.1	28.1	30.0
С	79.7	70.3	67.3

Thus, the enhancement of the wettability is attributed to a bond scission and the incorporation of oxygen into the PET surface leading to the formation of additional functional groups, which enables modulation of anti-wetting properties. Consequently, this first part has provided essential mechanisms to explain the enhancement of the surface properties of PET plates after cold plasma treatment. The study of this data, in turn, serves as a basis for understanding the changes in the surface properties of the next part, in which treated PET plate is used as an activated support according to the indirect plasma working methodology. This is important since the nature of the hydrogels precluded the surface chemistry composition methods like XPS. The discussion of the effects of time storage, known as the 'hydrophobic recovery' phenomena, on the surface properties of plasma-treated PET is given in appendix 2.

Concerning the hydrogels, Fig. 6 represents the SFE as a function of the gelatin concentration and the type of plasma pre-treatment. The formation of gels on PET activated support has a significant effect on their wetting properties. All the pre-treatments improved the wettability of the gels (regardless its concentration), as the SFE increased.



Figure 6. Surface free energy for the hydrogels gelled on PET treated plates; SFE calculated by CAH approach.

It is shown that the largest change of SFE was obtained with oxygen-plasma at the lowest concentration of gelatin, from $20.4\pm3.2 \text{ mJ/m2}$ to $71.8\pm0.3 \text{ mJ/m2}$. In the case of the airplasma treatment, the change was up to $39.1\pm2.6 \text{ mJ/m2}$ and to $25.6\pm2.4 \text{ mJ/m2}$ in the case of argon-plasma. It was demonstrated that after the support activation, physical and chemical phenomena occur on its surface and, indirectly, also on the surface of other phase in contact with the activated plate (a gel in our case).

Let us now try to explain how it could be possible that even when the plasma gas is not acting directly onto the surface, good results can be obtained. The answer seems to lie in the functional groups appearing after the plasma treatment. The changes of the SFE result from a series of surface chemical changes induced by the plasma treatment, which is usually corroborated by the XPS technique. Unfortunately, the nature of the hydrogels precluded the use of such techniques, being not possible to carry out the analysis of surface chemistry composition, as was highlighted in the introduction. However, the use of the XPS results of the treated PET plates allows to overcome this limitation. In accordance with the working methodology, immediately after the support activation, the hydrogels were deposited very quickly on the treated PET. Thus, the gelation took place on the excited external layer, consisting of oxygen reactive species (among others) which appeared after being treated, as was

corroborated by XPS spectra (Table 1). These functional groups interacted with the hydrogels surface during their gelation, providing them with a more hydrophilic character.

The analysis of the roughness parameters of the treated PET and those obtained for the gel formed on activated PET, suggests that, in spite of the different nature of PET and hydrogels, the plasma-acting mechanisms resulted in quite similar effects. In fact, the most effective gas was oxygen-plasma, followed by argon and air (Fig.7). It also suggests a similarity in the contributions of functional groups on the surfaces after the activation in case of PET and the pre-activation in case of gels.



Figure 7. Ra average roughness parameters of PET and hydrogels produced on PET 1) untreated, 2) air-plasma, 3) argon-plasma and 4) oxygen-plasma treated supports; scanned area 1.3 mm × 0.95 mm

Considering that the surface roughness is related with the SFE [199-202], these increments can also be connected with the polar groups originated, in the activated support, by the plasma treatments. When the gel comes into contact with the treated support, the induced oxidized functional groups are 'transferred' to allow for subsequent reactions during the gelation. These groups interact with the surface of the substrate and modify its characteristics.

In the same way, the analysis of the surface properties of the gels produced on the treated glass support, draws very similar conclusions. Regardless of the comparison between the modified surface properties of untreated and pre-treated gels that could be done, the results once

again demonstrate that the indirect treatment induced great changes in their properties. It is becoming increasingly clear that the methodology tested here seems to be valid. What is more, not only this methodology allows to pre-treat biomaterials which cannot be exposed to the plasma working conditions, but also it is quite effective regardless the nature of the support (plastic or glass). The comparison of the results obtained using hydrogels gelled on PET and on glass plates, shows a strong similarity in the tendency of SFE lines (Fig. 8); moreover, the roughness parameters are also proportional, the treatment efficiency follows the sequence:

Untreated<Air<Argon<Oxygen

as it can be seen in Table 2, which means that our methodology works accurately, even when using different supports, corroborating hence their workability.



Figure 8. Surface free energy for the hydrogels gelled on treated glass plate (left) and on PET treated plates (right); surface calculated by CAH approach

Table 2. Topography parameters of the EWA gelatin gels formed on PET and glass activated plates by different plasma gasses. Surface: 0.9x1.3 mm. Ra – average roughness.

Parameters (nm)	UNTREATED	AIR-plasma	ARGON-plasma	OXYGEN-plasma
R _a (GLASS-GEL)	$164,3 \pm 27,9$	297,1 ± 50,9	325,8 ± 59,6	995,2 ± 198,7
R _a (PET-GEL)	481 ± 80	1148 ± 233	1320 ± 290	1655 ± 163

The formation of polar groups on the activated support, their interaction with the gel during its gelation and the soft nature of the hydrogels, they all jointly may explain the greater enhancement of the surface properties using the indirect methodology.

IV.1.2 Rheological behaviour

In this Dissertation, the premise that cold plasma is usually cited as "without altering the bulk properties" [181] has been outlined many times. However, as there are no results so far for rheological properties of gels formed on activated supports, it is still an open question whether the bulk properties could be as altered as the surface properties are. This study finally provides the answer.



Figure 9. Influence of sweep frequency on the values of complex modulus G* for hydrogels gelled on glass (left) and on PET (right) plates previously treated with different plasma gases; (Un-untreated, Ar-Argon plasma, Air-air plasma and Ox-Oxygen plasma); % in the figures; concentration of gelatin in hydrogels.

Fig. 9 shows the complex modulus, G*, obtained from frequency sweeps for gels gelled on pre-treated glass (left) and PET (right) plates at different gelatin concentration. To cover the whole range, only the charts of the gels with the lowest (3%) and highest (6%) gelatin concentration are shown. The hydrogels produced on activated support presented an unusual modification in their bulk properties, the two rheograms display (Fig. 9) that all treated gels enhanced their rheological properties in terms of rigidity. The most rigid gels were obtained from those formed onto oxygen treated plates, regardless of the nature of the support. The complex modulus G* increases about two times when comparing untreated gels vs. oxygen treated gels (Fig. 9). Therefore, as in the case of the surface properties, the chart shows a proportional enhancement when comparing the gels formed on PET and glass activated supports, confirming that the stiffness can be tuned in the same way the surface properties are. It is also remarkable that there are similarities when comparing the SFE, roughness parameters and the complex modulus values.

Taking into account that the plasma treatment incorporates new species onto the surface (XPS analysis), and the gelation could be enhanced by an increased number of hydrogen bonds, the probability for a chain to be bound to another one would be higher after exciting the surface, resulting in additional bridging. This means that plasma activated support caused remodelling of the gel bonds not only on its surface, but also at a deeper level, enhancing its viscoelastic properties. One possible explanation could be in its thickness, the sample thickness was small (1 mm), therefore the obtained samples can be treated as composite materials consisting of a bulk phase with different, modified surface layer. Hence, the bulk modification may be the consequence of the appearance of specific components resulting of their migration or diffusion from the surface into the bulk. The soft nature of the hydrogels could also allow that such species may be inserted in a deeper layer than the topmost one. Thus, it can be concluded that 'indirect plasma treatment' is an interesting way to adjust the bulk properties. This finding supposes an original contribution with respect to the standard meaning of the cold plasma treatment, based on just altering the surface properties.

Finally, it is worth noting the similarity found between the modified surface and the bulk properties of both systems. The results shown in Fig. 8 are correlated with those in Fig. 9. In order to clarify this idea, both figures are combined (Fig. 10). From that figure, it can be observed that the modifications of the rheological properties follow the same patterns than those of the surface properties; for instance, oxygen-plasma pre-treatment caused the most significant changes in wetting and rheological properties of the gels, or the similar trends which air and argon treatment provoke in the gels surface and bulk properties (see all charts given in the papers). All this jointly support the idea that the reactive groups incorporated on the surface, due to the activation, migrate into the bulk, having proportional consequences. Hence, it can be concluded that there is a strong relationship between the origin of the changes induced on the surface and the bulk properties when using this methodology.



Figure 10. Fig. 8 (up) and Fig. 9 (down). See figure legends above.

To conclude this section, it could be said that this methodology shows the potential modification induced in the surface and the bulk properties of the hydrogels. Being able to adjust such properties provides new possibilities to design hydrogels with enhanced functional properties, which may be interesting to be applicable in industrial applications, such as active packaging or drug delivery system, as it was mentioned in the introductory section.

V. CONCLUSIONS

In this Thesis, two types of modifications induced by cold plasma have been studied: i) surface chemistry of PET, and ii) surface and bulk changes of EWA/gelatin gels induced by *indirect plasma treatment*. In the first case, the influence of cold plasma treatment on the surface properties of PET plates, as well as the effects of time storage on their properties have been considered. A set of conclusions can be drawn from the comparison in between the sequencing of changes of contact angles, SFE, topographic images and XPS surface chemical data.

The main conclusions that can be drawn from the *first part of this work* are the following:

- Plasma treatment leads to dramatic changes in the surface polarity (wettability) of the polymer. The study reveals that after the air/argon-plasma treatment, the polymer surface becomes more hydrophilic and, consequently, the contact angles are lower. The increment of the SFE caused by argon-plasma treatment is greater as compared to the air-plasma treatment, which indicates stronger interactions of the probe liquid with the PET surface. The wettability enhancement is provoked by the formation of polar groups on the polymer surface upon reaction with plasma generated reactive species, increasing the polar component and finally the total SFE of the PET plates. Moreover, it was found that the average total SFEs obtained by CAH and LWAB approaches are comparable, which indicates that these methods are complementary.
- ii. PET surface becomes rougher with plasma treatment, no regard which gas was used. The roughness parameters show that argon-plasma activation induced the most significant changes again, thus the topography study agreed with the SFE results.
- iii. Cold plasma treatment increased the surface oxygen content of the activated polymer by increasing the amount of oxygen-containing polar groups, such as C-O-H and C=O on the film surface. The plasma treatment generates polymer chain-breaking in some of the polymer bonds, which is proved by the decrease in the percentage of C content and the increment in the percentage of O2 content, shown by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) analysis. This chemical modification, leading to the incorporation of functional groups onto the PET surface, is mainly responsible for the changes of the surface polarity,

which affects the surface properties of the material. The final result is the increased wettability on the PET polymer.

iv. PET surface chemical composition changes as a function of time, indicating that there are mechanisms contributing to the loss and further recovery of its hydrophobicity. Interpretation of the effects of ageing after plasma activation must take into account both, the extent of the increase of SFE after plasma treatment and the nature of the molecules in contact with the surface during the ageing process. There is a complete loss in the case of air-plasma activation after a period of 15 days. However, when PET is treated in argon environment, the surface (mainly manifested not only by the values of its SFE but also by the XPS data) becomes stable after a short period of time, retaining its wettability enhancement and being activated in comparison with its previous, non-treated, state. The plasma activation created active sites on the surface, that depend on the nature of the gas used in the treatment. These sites, in turn, interact with air and deactivate the surface at different rates; this depends on the type of the functional groups created during the activation process, as well as the ability of the resulting surface groups to rearrange into a more stable configuration.

The following are some of the mechanisms involved in the process of activation and deactivation of PET surface during air/argon-plasma treatment and further ageing in open atmosphere: Appearance of functional groups involving the C, O and N atoms; reorientation of polar species of the surface; diffusion of those groups into the bulk, and reaction of free radicals arising from the activated surface with the molecules of the air. They all jointly explain the surface properties studied in this work.

Therefore, the first part of this work has provided essential mechanisms to explain the enhancement of the surface properties of PET plates after cold plasma treatment and the so-called hydrophobic recovery. The study of these data, in turn, has allowed to understand the processes described in the second part of the work, in which plasma treated PET plates are used as an activated support, in accordance with the indirect plasma working methodology.

Concerning our second issue, the indirect plasma treatment has been featured as a way of surface and structural bulk characterization for gel-type biopolymers, which cannot be exposed to the plasma working conditions. This study, in turn, has two different configurations: characterization of EWA/gelatin gels gelled on: i) glass and ii) PET activated supports.

The most relevant conclusions derived from this second part of our study are as follows:

- It has been particularly successful the development of a novel methodology for the v. activation of gel-type biopolymers via indirect cold plasma treatment, which imparts desirable effects for their efficient functionality. Compared with the untreated hydrogels, the pre-treated ones exhibit an enhanced version in terms of mechanical properties. There is a significant modification of the surface, as well as of the structural bulk conformation of gel films formed in situ on both PET and glass plates pre-treated by cold plasma. The effect of plasma pre-treatment to the gels is to provide a more hydrophilic character to their surfaces, which is manifested by the SFE increment. The SFE of the gels was shown to be a function of the gelatin concentration in the EWA protein gels and the type of plasma pre-treatment. The most effective pre-treatment was obtained by the oxygen cold plasma, which induced the higher hydrophilicity of the samples. The gelation onto activated supports strongly altered the surface polarity, which enables modulation of anti-wetting properties. Hydrophilic bonds/groups appeared, creating intensive hydrophilic interactions at the activated gel surface/water interface, which resulted in a wettability enhancement.
- vi. The surface roughness can be tailored by indirect plasma treatment. Gel surface becomes rougher with the plasma treatment of supports, no regard which gas was used. The roughness parameters show that oxygen-plasma induced the most significant changes again, thus the topography study agreed with the SFE results. The wetting properties was affected by the formation of micro-pores on the gel surface and characterized by the huge increment of the roughness parameters of the gel.
- vii. Cold plasma pre-activation caused deprotonation of the sulfhydryl groups of albumin and formation of a larger number of disulphide bonds, which results in a higher aggregation (shown by confocal microscopy images). Such a structure leads to a reduction in the value of water wetting contact angles, since albumin is more hydrophilic than gelatin.
- viii. These studies also demonstrated that the rigidity of gels can be tuned too, as manifested by the oscillatory rheological technique. The surface composition was changed and modified by the indirect plasma treatment and, consequently, the bulk modification was

achieved by the presence of the specific components resulting of their migration from the activated surface into the bulk. This means that plasma activated support caused remodelling of the gel bonds not only on its surface, but also at a deeper level, enhancing its viscoelastic properties. Moreover, increasing the concentration of gelatin in the gels produces stronger gels by strengthening the interactions into the gel network.

ix. The results obtained for the gels gelled on both PET and glass plates show a strong similarity in the patterns followed by the SFE values, the roughness parameters and the complex rigidity modulus, corroborating that our methodology works accurately in activated supports of different nature.

To conclude, it could be said that we were able to make progress in the characterization of a thermal-sensitive biomaterial, which could not be treated directly by cold plasma without causing any damage. It has been elucidated a methodology that allows the control of the hydrogels surface and their rheological properties and also gives some keys for the enhancement of the technological performance of gel-type biopolymers. From a practical point of view, the inclusion of gels would enable the preparation of cost-competitive and fieldresponsive biomaterials, which is always a concern for the applicability of these materials.

V.1 Avenues for future research

If the "indirect plasma treatment" methodology gets recognition, it would open new trials coming from many different areas of technological interest. Thus, exploring the efficiency of indirect plasma treatment using other biopolymers is highly recommended. In the Department of Interfacial Phenomena, there is current research involving the optimization of this methodology, by testing not only new biomaterials but also activated supports of different nature. A better understanding of the interactions between plasma reactive species with the structural components of hydrogels and a proper identification of the specific biofilm targets, will allow further optimization of plasma treatments towards more effective and less damaging activation processes, as it has been required in the fields of food production or biomedicine.

VI. BIBLIOGRAPHY

[1] C. Silvestre, D. Duraccio and S. Cimmino, Food packaging based on polymer nanomaterials, *Prog. Prom. Sci.*, 36, 12 (2001) 1766-1782.

[2] P. Šimon, Q. Chaudhry and D. Bakos, Migration of engineered nanoparticles from polymer packaging to food – a physicochemical view, *J. Food Nutr. Res.*, 47 (2008) 105-113.

[3] I. Ali, D. Marenduzzo and J. M. Yeomans, Dynamics of polymer packaging, *J. Chem. Phys.*, 121 (2004) 8635.

[4] J. Dobiáš, M. Voldřich, M. Marek and K. Chudáčková, Changes of properties of polymer packaging films during high pressure treatment, *J. Food Eng.*, 61 (2004) 545-549.

[5] J. Alin and M. Hakkarainen, Type of polypropylene material significantly influences the migration of antioxidants from polymer packaging to food simulants during microwave heating, *J. Appl.*, 18 (2010) 1084 -1093.

[6] I. Vašková, P. Alexy, P. Bugaj, A. Nahálková, J. Feranc and T. Mlynský, Biodegradable polymer packaging materials based on polycaprolactone, starch and polyhydroxybutyrate, *Acta Chim. Slov.*, 1 (2008) 301-308.

[7] V. Siracusa, Food Packaging Permeability Behaviour: A Report, *Int. J. Polym. Sci.*, 1 (2012) 302029.

[8] A. López-Rubio, E. Almenar, P. Hernández-Muñoz, J. Lagarón, R. Catalá and R. Gavara, Overview of Active Polymer-Based Packaging Technologies for Food Applications, *J. Food Rev. In.*, 20 (2007) 357-387.

[9] X. Lu and G. Xu, Thermally conductive polymer composites for electronic packaging, *J. App. Polym. Sci.*, 65 (1997) 2733-2738.

[10] A. M. Youssef, Polymer Nanocomposites as a New Trend for Packaging Applications, *Polymer Plast. Tech. Eng.*, 52 (2013) 635-660.

[11] L. Ragni, A. Berardinelli, L. Vannini, C. Montanari, F. Sirri, M. E. Guerzoni and A. Guarnieri, Cold atmospheric gas plasma disinfection of chicken meat and chicken skin contaminated with Listeria innocua, *J. Food Eng.*, 100 (2010) 125–132.

[12] R. Dawson and J. Little, Characterization of nanosecond pulse driven dielectric barrier discharge plasma actuators for aerodynamic flow control, *J. Appl. Phys.*, 113, 10 (2013)

103302.

[13] M. Yellappa, J. S. Sravan, O. Sarkar, Y. V. R. Reddy and S. V. Mohan, Modified Conductive Polyaniline-Carbon Nanotube Composite Electrodes for Bioelectricity Generation and Waste Remediation, *Bioresour. Technol.*, 284 (2019) 148-154.

[14] B. Hill, A. J. Venning and C. Baldock, A preliminary study of the novel application of normoxic polymer gel dosimeters for the measurement of CTDI on diagnostic x- ray CT scanners, *Med. Phys.*, 32 (2005) 1589-97.

[15] Y. Liu and H. Huang, Application and Prospect of Medical Polymer Material in Medical Field, *Chin. Med. J.*, 33 (2012) 72-73.

[16] "plasma." WordNet® 3.0. Princeton University. 09 Feb. 2018 <Dictionary.com http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/plasma>.

[17] R. J. Goldston and P.H. Rutherford, Introduction to Plasma Physics, IOP Publishing Ltd.(Ed.) Institute of Physics, Bristol (1995) 1–2.

[18] A. I. Morozov, Introduction to Plasma Dynamics, CRC Press (Ed.) Florida (2012) 300-350.

[19] L. Armbruster, "Plasma Technology." 07 Feb. 2018 <http://www.plasmatreat.com/plasma_technology.htm>.

[20] "Persepctives on Plasma." Plasma Science and Technology. Plasmas International. 05 Feb.2018 http://www.plasmas.org/basics.htm>.

[21] G. E. Mensitieri, G. G. Di Maio, I. Buonocorea, M. Nedib, L. Olivieroa, L. Sansone and S. Iannacea, Processing and shelf life issues of selected food packaging materials and structures from renewable resources, *Trends Food Sci. Tech.*, 22 (2-3) (2011) 72-80.

[22] H. Patrick, U. Frisch and Y. Pomeau, Editorial introduction to the special issue "Plasma physics in the 20th century as told by players", *Eur. Phys. J. H.*, 43 (4-5) (2018) 337-353.

[23] W. Crookes, On radiant matter; a lecture delivered to the British Association for the Advancement of Science, *Am. J. Sci.*, 106 (1879) 241-262.

[24] J. J. Thomson, 'Cathode rays' (Friday evening meeting of the Royal Institution, 30 April 1897), *P. Roy. Soc.*, 39 (1897) 104-110.

[25] I. Langmuir, Oscillations in ionized gases, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 14 (1928) 627-637.

[26] G. L. Rogoff, IEEE Transactions on Plasma Science, Amer. J. Phys., 35 (1967) 857-858.

[27] M. Okubo and T. Kuwahara, Principle and design of emission control systems, New Technologies for Emission Control in Marine Diesel Engines, Butterworth-Heinemann (Ed.) Oxford (2020) 53-64.

[28] M. I. Boulos, Thermal plasma processing, *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci. IEEE Nucl. Plasma Sci. Soc.*, 19 (1991) 1078-1089.

[29] E. Pfender, Thermal Plasma Technology: Where Do We Stand and Where Are We Going?, *Plasma Chem.*, 9 (1999) 1–31.

[30] V. Scholtz, J. Pazlarová, N. Soušková, J. Khun and J. Julák, Nonthermal plasma — A tool for decontamination and disinfection, *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 2 (2015) 1108-1119.

[31] M. Laroussi, W. Hynes, T. Akan, X. Lu and C. Tendero, The Plasma Pencil: A Source of Hypersonic Cold Plasma Bullets for Biomedical Applications, *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci. IEEE Nucl. Plasma Sci. Soc.*, 36 (2008) 1298–1299.

[32] R. Riccardi, R. Barni, E. Selli, G. Mazzone, M. R. Massafra, B. Marcandalli and G. Poletti, Surface modification of Poly(ethylene terephthalate) Fibres induced by radio frequency airplasma treatment, *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, 211 (2003) 386-397.

[33] A. Lacombe, B. A. Niemira, J. B. Gurtler, X. Fan, J. Sites, G. Boyd and H. Chen, Atmospheric cold plasma inactivation of aerobic microorganisms on blueberries and effects on quality attributes, *Food Microbiol.*, 46 (2015) 479–484.

[34] N. N. Misra, S. Kaur, B. K. Tiwari, A. Kaur and N. Singh, Atmospheric pressure cold plasma (ACP) treatment of wheat flour, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 44 (2015) 115–121.

[35] D. D. Jayasena, H. J. Kim, H. I. Yong, S. Park and K. Kim, Flexible thin-layer dielectric barrier discharge plasma treatment of pork butt and beef loin: Effects on pathogen inactivation and meat-quality attributes, *Food Microbiol.*, 46 (2015) 51–57.

[36] D. Ziuzina, S. Patil, P. J. Kullen, K. M. Keener and P. Bourke, Atmospheric cold plasma inactivation of Escherichia coli, Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium and Listeria monocytogenes inoculated on fresh produce, *Food Microbiol.*, 42 (2014) 109–116.

[37] N. N. Misra, S. Patil, T. Moiseev, P. Bourke, J. P. Mosnier, K. M. Keener and P. J. Cullen, In-package atmospheric pressure cold plasma treatment of strawberries, *J. Food Eng.*, 125 (2014) 131–138.

[38] A. Fernandez, E. Noriega and A. Thompson, Inactivation of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium on fresh produce by cold atmospheric gas plasma technology, *Food Microbiol.*,

33 (2014) 24-29.

[39] B. A. Niemira, Cold plasma decontamination of foods, *Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol.*, 3 (2012) 125–142.

[40] D. Ziuzina, S. Patil, P. J. Cullen, K. M. Keener and P. Bourke, Atmospheric cold plasma inactivation of Escherichia coli in liquid media inside a sealed package, *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 114 (2012) 778–787.

[41] S. K. Rod, F. Hansen, F. Leipold and S. Knochel, Cold atmospheric pressure plasma treatment of ready-to-eat meat: Inactivation of Listeria innocua and changes in product quality, *Food Microbiol.*, 30 (2012) 233–238.

[42] E. Noriega, G. Shama, A. Laca, M. Diaz and M. G. Kong, Cold atmospheric gas plasma disinfection of chicken meat and chicken skin contaminated with Listeria innocua, *Food Microbiol.*, 28 (2011) 1293–1300.

[43] L. Ragni, A. Berardinelli, L. Vannini, C. Montanari, F. Sirri, M. E. Guerzoni and A. Guarnieri, Non-thermal atmospheric gas plasma device for surface decontamination of shell eggs, *J. Food Eng.*, 100 (2010) 125–132.

[44] G. Y. Park, S. J. Park, M. Y. Choi, I. G. Koo, J. H. Byun, J. W. Hong, J. Y. Sim, J. K. Lee and G. J. Collins, Atmospheric-pressure plasma sources for biomedical applications, *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.*, 21 (2012) 043001.

[45] D. B. Graves, The emerging role of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in redox biology and some implications for plasma applications to medicine and biology, *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.*, 45 (2012) 263001.

[46] Y. Song, D. Liu, W. Wang, L. Ji, Q. Zhang, W. Ni and J. Niu, The Brush- Shape Device Used to Generate Atmospheric and Homogeneous Plasmas for Biomedical Applications, *Plasma Process. Polym.*, 10 (2013) 88-93.

[47] K. Gazeli, C. Noël, F. Clément, C. Daugé, P. Svarnas and T Belmonte, A study of helium atmospheric-pressure guided streamers for potential biological applications, *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.*, 22 (2013) 025020.

[48] J. Hirschberg, T. Omairi, N. Mertens, A. Helmke, S. Emmert and W. Viöl, Influence of excitation pulse duration of dielectric barrier discharges on biomedical applications, *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.*, 46 (2013) 165201.

[49] R. Matthes, I. Koban, C. Bender, K. Masur, E. Kindel, K. Weltmann, T. Kocher, A. Kramer

and N. Hübner, Antimicrobial efficacy of an atmospheric pressure plasma jet against biofilms of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus epidermidis, *Plasma Process. Polym.*, 10 (2013) 161–166.

[50] A. Lupu and N. Georgescu, Cell death in V79-4 and He-La cell lines, induced by chemically activated cold atmospheric plasma jets, *Rom. Rep. Phys.*, 65 (2013) 219–229.

[51] G. C. Kim, H. W. Lee, J. H. Byun, J. Chung, Y. C. Jeon and J. K. Lee, Dental applications of low-temperature non-thermal plasmas, *Plasma Process. Polym.*, 10, 3 (2013) 199–206.

[52] N. Barekzi and M. Laroussi, Dose-dependent killing of leukemia cells by low-temperature plasma, *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.*, 45 (2012) 422002.

[53] A. Vogelsang, A. Ohl, R. Foest and K. D. Weltmann, Fluorocarbon plasma polymer deposition by an atmospheric pressure microplasma jet using different precursor molecules, *Plasma Process. Polym.*, 10, 4 (2013) 364–371.

[54] A. Ananth, M. S. Gandhi and Y. S. Mok, A dielectric barrier discharge (DBD) plasma reactor: an efficient tool to prepare novel RuO2 nanorods, *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.*, 46 (2013) 155202.

[55] M. R. Baklanov, J. F. de Marneffe, D. Shamiryan, A. M. Urbanowicz, Hualiang Shi, T. V. Rakhimova, H. Huang and P. S. Ho, Plasma processing of low-k dielectrics, *J. Appl. Phys.*, 113 (2013) 041101.

[56] D. P. Dowling, I. S. Miller, M. Ardhaoui and W. M. Gallagher, Effect of surface wettability and topography on the adhesion of osteosarcoma cells on plasma modified polystyrene, *J. Biomater. Appl.*, 26 (2011) 327-347.

[57] N. M. Elsayed, M. M. Mansour, O. F. Farag and M. H. Elghazaly, N2, N2-Ar and N2–He DC plasmas for the improvement of polymethylmethacrylate surface wettability, *Adv. Appl. Sci. Res.*, 3 (2012) 1327-1334.

[58] J. Audic, F. Poncin and D. R. Brosse, Cold plasma surface modification of conventionally and nonconventionally plasticized poly(vinyl chloride)-based flexible films: Global and specific migration of additives into isooctane, *J. App. Polym. Sci.*, 79 (2014) 1384-1393.

[59] I. Gancarz, G. Poźniak, M. Bryjak and A. Frankiewicz, Modification of polysulfone membranes. 2. Plasma grafting and plasma polymerization of acrylic acid, *Acta Polym. Sic.*, 9 (1999) 317-326.

[60] O. Sneh, R. B. Clark-Phelps, A. R. Londergan, J. Winkler and T. E Seidel, Thin film atomic

layer deposition equipment for semiconductor processing, *Thin Solid Films*, 402 (2002) 248-261.

[61] K. W. Allen, Formation and failure of adhesive bonds, Surf. Coat. Int., 83 (2002) 20-26.

[62] P. Sundriyal, M. Pandey and S. Bhattacharya, Plasma-assisted surface alteration of industrial polymers for improved adhesive bonding, *Int. J. Adesh. Adesh.*, 101 (2020) 102626.

[63] S. Yoshida, K. Hagiwara, T. Hasebe and A. Hotta, Surface modification of polymers by plasma treatments for the enhancement of biocompatibility and controlled drug release, *Surf. Coat. Tech.*, 233 (2013) 99-107.

[64] K. Urashima and J. Chang, Removal of volatile organic compounds from air streams and industrial flue gases by non-thermal plasma technology, *IEEE T. Dielect. E. In.*, 7 (2000) 602-614.

[65] H. Al Ghatta, S. Cobror and T. Severini, New Technology for Solid-state Polymerization of Polymers: Polyethylene terephthalate–Solid-state Polyaddition, *Polym. Advan. Technol.*, 8 (1997) 161-168.

[66] D. S. Biscardi, R. Monarca, F. De Fusco, P. Senatore, A. Poli, C. Buschini, C. Rossi and C. Zani, Evaluation of the migration of mutagens/carcinogens from PET bottles into mineral water by Tradescantia/micronuclei test, Comet assay on leukocytes and GC/MS, *Sci. Total Environ.*, 302 (2003) 101-108.

[67] N. Sánchez-Arrieta, A. Martínez de Ilarduya, A. Alla and S. Muñoz-Guerra, Poly(ethylene terephthalate) copolymers containing 1, 4-cyclohexane dicarboxylate units, *Eur. Polym. J.*, 41 (2005) 1493-1501.

[68] S. Guruvenket, M. Gowravaram, M. Komath and A. Raichur, Plasma surface modification of polystyrene and polyethylene, *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, 236 (2004) 278-284.

[69] K. N. V. Pandiyaraj, R. R. Selvarajan and R. Deshmukh, Effects of operating parameters on DC glow discharge plasma induced PET film surface, *J. Phys. Conf. Ser.*, 208 (2010) 12100.

[70] B. Jo, S. Park and J. Park, Mechanical properties of polymer concrete made with recycled PET and recycled concrete aggregates, *Constr. Build. Mater.*, 22 (2008) 2281-2291.

[71] N. N. Misra, B. K. Tiwari, K. S. Raghavarao and P. J. Cullen, Nonthermal plasma inactivation of food-borne pathogens, *Food Eng. Rev.*, 3 (2013) 159-170.

[72] M. Deilmann, H. Halfmann, N. Bibinov, J. Wunderlich and P. Awakowicz, Low- pressure microwave plasma sterilization of polyethylene terephthalate bottles, *J. Food Prot.*, 71 (2008) 2119–2123.

[73] H. Miao and G. Yun, The Effect of Air Plasma on Sterilization of Escherichia coli in Dielectric Barrier Discharge, *Plasma Sci. Technol.*, 14 (2012) 735.

[74] P. Koulik, S. Begounov and S. Goloviatinskii, Atmospheric plasma sterilization and deodorization of dielectric surfaces *Plasma Chem. Plasma P.*, 19 (1999) 311–326.

[75] P. Muranyi, J. Wunderlich and H. Langowski, Modification of bacterial structures by a low-temperature gas plasma and influence on packaging material, *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 109 (2010) 1875-1885.

[76] T. Lee, P. Puligundla and C. Mok, Inactivation of foodborne pathogens on the surfaces of different packaging materials using low-pressure air plasma, *Food Control*, 51 (2015) 149-155.

[77] J. Schneider, K. M. Baumgartner, J. Feichtinger, J. Kreger, P. Muranyi and A. Schulz, Investigation of the practicability of low-pressure microwave plasmas in the sterilisation of food packaging materials at industrial level, *Surf. Coat. Tech.*, 200 (2005) 962-966.

[78] F. Pasquali, A. C. Stratakos, A. Koidis, A. Berardinelli, C. Cevoli and L. Ragni, Atmospheric cold plasma process for vegetable leaf decontamination: A feasibility study on radicchio (red chicory, Cichorium intybus L.), *Food Control*, 60 (2016) 552–559.

[79] N. N. Misra, O. Schlüter and P. J. Cullen, Cold plasma in food and Agriculture: Fundamentals and applications, Elsevier Inc. N. Misra, O. Schlüter and P. Cullen (Eds.) San Diego (2016) 83-116.

[80] M. Donegan, V. Milosavljević and D. P. Dowling, Activation of PET using an RF Atmospheric Plasma System, *Plasma Chem. Plasma P.*, 33 (2013) 941-957.

[81] P. Muranyi, J. Wunderlich and M. Heise, Influence of relative gas humidity on the inactivation efficiency of a low temperature gas plasma, *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 104 (2008) 1659-1666.

[82] P. Muranyi, J. Wunderlich and M. Heise, Sterilization efficiency of a cascaded dielectric barrier discharge, *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 103 (2007) 1535-1544.

[83] M. Keller, A. Ritter, P. Reimann, V. Thommen, A. Fischer and D. Hegemann, Comparative study of plasma-induced and wet-chemical cleaning of synthetic fibers, *Surf. Coat. Technol.*, 200 (2005) 1045-1050. [84] D. Gospodinova, M. Neznakomova and P. Dineff, Influence of cold air plasma treatment on thermobonded PET nonwoven textile, 15th International Conference on Electrical Machines, Drives and Power Systems, Sofia (2017) 431-434.

[85] M. Moreau, N. Orange and M. Feuilloley, Non-thermal plasmam technologies: New tools for bio-decontamination, *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 26 (2008) 610-617.

[86] S. K. Pankaj and K. M. Keener, Cold plasma: Background, applications and current trends, *Curr. Opin. Food Sci., 16* (2017) 49–52.

[87] S. K. Pankaj, C. Bueno-Ferrer, N. N. Misra, L. O'Neill, A. Jimenez and P. Bourke, Surface, thermal and antimicrobial release properties of plasma- treated zein films, *J. Renew. Mater.*, 1 (2014) 77-84.

[88] R. Deshmukh and N. Bhat, The mechanism of adhesion and printability of plasma processed PET films, *Mater. Res. Innov.*, 7 (2003) 283-290.

[89] I. Junkar, A. Vesel, U. Cvelbar, M. Mozetic and S. Strnad, Influence of oxygen and nitrogen plasma treatment on polyethylene terephthalate (PET) polymers, *Vacuum*, 84 (2009) 83-85.

[90] G. N. Strauss and H. K. Pulker, Plasma diagnostic of ion and plasma PVD processes, *Thin Solid Films*, 442 (2003) 66-73.

[91] G. Poletti, F. Orsini, A. Raffaele-Addamo, C. Riccardi and E. Selli, Cold plasma treatment of PET fabrics: AFM surface morphology characterisation, *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, 219 (2003) 311-316.

[92] S. Vondele, J. Voros and J. A. Hubbell, Copolymers Block Non-Specific Protein Adsorption While Promoting Cell Adhesion, *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 82 (2003) 784-790.

[93] S. P. Massia and J. A. Hubbell, Human Endothelial-Cell Interactions with Surface-Coupled Adhesion Peptides on a Nonadhesive Glass Substrate and 2 Polymeric Biomaterials, *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.*, 25 (1991) 223-242.

[94] N. Kasálková, Z. Makajová, M. Pařízek, P. Slepička, K. Kolářová, L. Bačáková, V. Hnatowicz and V. Švorčík, Cell Adhesion and Proliferation on Plasma-Treated and Poly(ethylene glycol)-Grafted Polyethylene, *J. Adhes. Sci. Technol.*, 24 (2010) 743-754.

[95] V. Švorčík, A. Reznickova, P. Sajdl, Z. Kolska, Z. Makajova and P. Slepicka, Au nanoparticles grafted on plasma treated polymers, *J. Mater. Sci.*, 46 (2011) 7917-7922.

[96] K. N. Ekdahl, J. D. Lambris, H. Elwing, D. Ricklin, P. H. Nilsson and Y. Teramura, Innate Immunity Activation on Biomaterial Surfaces: A Mechanistic Model and Coping Strategies, *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, 63 (2011) 1042-1050.

[97] T. Tanaka, Gels, Sci. Am., 244 (1981) 110-123.

[98] M. Shibayama and T. Tanaka, Phase transition and related phenomena of polymer gels, *Adv. Polym. Sci.*, 109 (1993) 1–62.

[99] P. B. Malafaya, G. A. Silva and R. L. Reis, Natural-origin Polymers as Carriers and Scaffolds for Biomolecules and Cell Delivery in Tissue Engineering Applications, *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, 59 (2007) 207-233.

[100] S. S. Choi and J. M. Regenstein, Physicochemical and sensory characteristics of fish gelatine, *J. Food Sci.*, 65, 2 (2000) 194-199.

[101] J. Pieracci, J. V. Crivello and G. Belfort, Photochemical modification of 10 kDa polyethersulfone ultrafiltration membranes for reduction of biofouling, *J. Membr. Sci.*, 156, (1999) 223–240.

[102] L. Allen and H. Ansel, Ansel's Pharmaceutical Dosage Forms and Drug Delivery Systems, *Am. J. Pharm. Educ.*, 70 (2014) 71-80.

[103] L. J. Suggs, M. S. Shive, C. A. Garcia, J. M. Anderson and A. G. Mikos, In vitro cytotoxicity and in vivo biocompatibility of poly (propylene fumarate- co- ethylene glycol) hydrogels, *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.*, 46 (1999) 22-32.

[104] G. P. Chen, T. Ushida and T. Tateishi, Scaffold design for tissue engineering, *Macromol. Biosci.*, 2 (2002) 67–77.

[105] L. Wang, M. A. Auty, A. Rau, J. F. Kerry and J. P. Kerry, Effect of pH and addition of corn oil on the properties of whey protein isolate-based films using response surface methodology, *J. Food Eng.*, 90 (2009) 11–19.

[106] Y. Rao, Gelatin-clay nanocomposites of improved properties, *Polymer*, 18 (2007) 5369-5375.

[107] T. Hakata, H. Sato, Y. Watanbe and M. Matsumoto, Effects of Bases and Additives on Release of Carbon Dioxide from Effervescent Suppositories, *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 42 (1994) 1138-1142.

[108] N. Ryusuke, Y. Tabata and Y. Ikada, Potentiality of gelatine microsphere as immunological adjuvant, *Vaccine*, 13, 7 (1995) 653-661.

[109] L. T. Lim, Y. Mine and M. A. Tung, Barrier and Tensile Properties of Transglutaminase Cross- linked Gelatin Films as Affected by Relative Humidity, Temperature, and Glycerol Content, *J. Food Sci.*, 64 (1999) 616-622.

[110] I. J. Haug, I. K. Draget and O. Smidsrød, Physical behaviour of fish gelatin-κ-carrageenan mixtures, *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 56 (2004) 11-19.

[111] B. Elysée-Collen and W. R. Lencki, Protein ternary phase diagrams. 1. Effect of ethanol, ammonium sulfate, and temperature on the phase behavior of type B gelatine, *J. Agr. Food Chem.*, 44 (1996) 1651-1657.

[112] M. D. Fernádez-Díaz, P. Montero and M. C. Gomez-Guillen, Gel properties of collagens from skins of cod (Gadua morhua) and hake (Merluccius merluccius) and their modification by the coenhancers magnesium sulphate, glycerol and transglutaminase, *Food Chem.*, 74 (2001) 161–167.

[113] K. Coughlan, N. B. Shaw, J. F. Kerry and J. P. Kerry, Combined Effects of Proteins and Polysaccharides on Physical Properties of Whey Protein Concentrate- based Edible Films, *J. Food Sci.*, 69 (2004) 271-275.

[114] E. Dickinson. Stability and rheological implications of electrostatic milk proteinpolysaccharide interactions, *Trends Food Sci. Tech.*, 9 (1998) 347–354.

[115] L. Liu, J. F. Kerry and J. P. Kerry, Effect of food ingredients and selected lipids on the physical properties of extruded edible films/casings, *Int. J. Food Sci. Tech.*, 41 (2006) 295–302.

[116] D. Celis, M. I. Azocar, J. Enrione, M. Paez and S. Matiacevich, Characterization of salmon gelatin based film on antimicrobial properties of chitosan against E. coli, *Procedia Food Sci.*, 1 (2011) 399–403.

[117] S. Pérez- Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska- Mleko and S. Mleko, Surface modification of albumin/gelatin films gelled on low- temperature plasma- treated polyethylene terephthalate plates, *Plasma Process. Polym.*, 3 (2019) 1900171.

[118] F. Badii and N. K. Howell, Fish gelatin: Structure, gelling properties and interaction with egg albumen proteins, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 20 (2006) 630-640.

[119] C. Ersch, M. B. J. Meinders, W. G. Bouwman, M. Nieuwland, E. van der Linden and P. Venema, Microstructure and rheology of globular protein gels in the presence of gelatine, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 55 (2016) 34-46.

[120] A. M. Hermanssom, Functionality and Protein Structure, American Chemical Society, A.Pour- El (Ed.) Washington (1979) 81-103.

[121] E. A. Foegeding, L. H. Li, W. Pernell and S. Mleko, A comparison of gelling and foaming properties of whey and egg proteins. Hydrocolloids, Elsevier, K. Nishinari (Ed.) Amsterdam (2000) 357-366.

[122] C. Arzeni, O. E. Perez and A. M. R. Pilosof, Functionality of egg white proteins as affected by high intensity ultrasound, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 29 (2012) 308-316.

[123] W. Zhao, R. Yang, Y. Tang, W. Zhang and X. Hua, Investigation of the Protein-Protein Aggregation of Egg White Proteins Under Pulsed Electric Fields, *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 57, (2009) 3571-3578.

[124] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Development of a new product: egg white albumen gels with differentiated magnesium release, *J. Elem.*, 20 (2015) 463-475.

[125] M. Tomczyńska- Mleko and S. Mleko, Whey protein aerated gels as matrices for controlled mineral release in simulated gastric conditions, *Food Res. Int.*, 62 (2014) 91-97.

[126] E. S. Taheri, M. Jahanshahi, M. Taghi and H. Mosavian, Preparation, Characterization and Optimization of Egg Albumin Nanoparticles as Low Molecular- Weight Drug Delivery Vehicle, *Part. Part. Syst. Charact.*, 29 (2012) 211-222.

[127] O. Rosenzweig, E. lavy, I. Gati, R. kohen and M. Friedman, Development and in vitro characterization of floating sustained-release drug delivery systems of polyphenols, *Drug Deliv.*, 20 (2013) 180-189.

[128] R. Tadmor, R. Das, S. Gulec, J. Liu, H. N'guessan, M. Shah, P. S. Wasnik and S. B. Yadav, Solid-Liquid Work of Adhesion, *Langmuir*, 33 (2017) 3594.

[129] P. K. Chu, J. Y. Chen, L. P. Wang and N. Huang, Plasma-surface modification of biomaterials, *Mater. Sci. Eng. R Rep.*, 36 (2002) 143-206.

[130] M. Meghdadi, S. M. Atyabi, M. Pezeshki-Modaress, S. Irani, Z. Noormohammadi and M. Zandi, Cold atmospheric plasma as a promising approach for gelatin immobilization on poly(ε-caprolactone) electrospun scaffolds, *Prog. Biomater.*, 8 (2019) 65–75.

[131] S. Mleko, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko and Z. Targoński, Globular protein gels as carriers of active substances, *Agro Food Ind. Hi Tec.*, 21 (2010) 26-28.

[132] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, W. Gustaw, T. Piersiak, K. Terpiłowski, B. Sołowiej, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska and S. Mleko, Whey protein aerated gels as a new product obtained

using ambient temperature magnesium and iron(II) induced gelation process, *Acta Aliment*. *Hung.*, 43 (2014) 465-472.

[133] C. J. van Oss, Aspecific and specific intermolecular interactions in aqueous media, *J. Mol. Recognit.*, 3 (1990) 128-136.

[134] T. Białopiotrowicz and J. Bronisław, Surface Properties of Gelatin Films, *Langmuir*, 18 (2002) 9462-9468.

[135] H. J. Busscher, A. H. Weerkamp, H. C. Van der Mei, A. W. J. Van Pelt, H. P. De Jong and J. Arends, Measurement of the Surface Free Energy of Bacterial Cell Surfaces and Its Relevance for Adhesion, *J. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 48 (1984) 980-983.

[136] M. Katsikogianni, E. Amanatides, D. Mataras and Y.F. Missirlis, Staphylococcus epidermidis adhesion to He, He/O(2) plasma treated PET films and aged materials: contributions of surface free energy and shear rate, *Colloids Surf. B*, 65 (2008) 257-268.

[137] L. Bardos and H. Barankova, Cold atmospheric plasma: sources, processes, and applications, *Thin Solid Films*, 518 (2010) 6705–6713.

[138] S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko and Ł. Szajnecki, Time-based changes in surface properties of poly(ethylene terephthalate) activated with air and argon-plasma treatments, *Colloids Surf. A*, 558 (2018) 322–329.

[139] L. Gao, T. J. McCarthy and X. Zhang, Wetting and Superhydrophobicity, *Langmuir*, 25 (2009) 14100-14104.

[140] R. Adams, Adhesive Bonding: Science, Technology and Applications, Woodhead Publishing Limited, L. da Silvam, A. Öchsner and R. Adams (Eds.) Cambridge (2005) 91-105.

[141] E. Bormashenko, G. Whyman, V. Multanen, E. Shulzinger and G. Chaniel, Physical mechanisms of interaction of cold plasma with polymer surfaces, *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.*, 448 (2015) 175-179.

[142] M. Yoshinari, J. Wei, K. Matsuzaka and T. Inoue, Effect of Cold Plasma-Surface Modification on Surface Wettability and Initial Cell Attachment, *Int. J. Med. Biol. Eng.*, 3 (2009) 507-511.

[143] M. Jurak, A. E. Wiącek, R. Mroczka and R. Łopucki, Chitosan/phospholipid coated polyethylene terephthalate (PET) polymer surfaces activated by air plasma, *Colloids Surf. A*, 532 (2017) 155-164.

[144] L. Yang, J. Chen, Y. Guo and Z. Zhang, Influence of substrate temperature on the texture

of barium ferrite film by magnetron sputtering, Appl. Surf. Sci., 255 (2009) 4446-4451.

[145] M. Levine, G. Ilkka and P. Weiss, Relation of the critical surface tension of polymers to adhesion, *Polym. Lett.*, 2 (1964) 915-919.

[146] S. M. Pelagade, N. L. Singh, A. Qureshi, R. S. Rane, S. Mukherjee, U. P. Deshpande, V. Ganesan and T. Shripathi, Investigation of surface properties of Ar-plasma treated polyethylene terephthalate (PET) films, *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res.*, *B*, 289 (2012) 34–38.

[147] A. A. El-Saftawy, S. A. Abd El Aal, M. S. Ragheb and S. G. Zakhary, Surface decomposition and registration efficiency of CR-39 detector irradiated by electron beam, *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. B*, 322 (2014) 48–53.

[148] P. G. Rouxhet, Advances in Contact Angle, Wettability and Adhesion, K.L. Mittal (Ed.)Wiley, Hoboken (2013) 379-395.

[149] M. Żenkiewicz, Methods for the calculation of surface free energy of solids, *J. Achiev. Mater. Manuf. Eng.*, 24, 1 (2007) 137-145.

[150] F. M. Fowkes, Attractive Forces at Interfaces, J. Ind. Eng. Chem., 56 (1964) 40-52.

[151] F. M. Fowkes, Donoracceptor interactions at interfaces, J. Adhesion, 4 (1972) 155-159.

[152] C. J van Oss, R. J Good and M. K Chaudhury, The role of van der Waals forces and hydrogen bonds in "hydrophobic interactions" between biopolymers and low energy surfaces, *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.*, 111 (1986) 378-390.

[153] C. J van Oss, M. K Chaudhury and R. J Good, Interfacial Lifshitz-van der Waals and polar interactions in macroscopic systems, *Chem. Rev.*, 88 (1988) 927-941.

[154] C. J. van Oss, R. F. Giese and W. Wu, On the predominant electron-donicity of polar solid surfaces, *J. Adhesion*, 63 (1997) 71-88.

[155] D. K. Owens and R. Wendt, Estimation of the surface free energy of polymers, *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, 13 (1969) 1741-1747.

[156] A. Neumann, R. Good, C. Hope and M. Sejpal, An equation-of-state approach to determine surface tensions of low-energy solids from contact angles, *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.*, 49 (1974) 291-304.

[157] D. Li and A. Neumann, A reformulation of the equation of state for interfacial tensions, J. Colloid Interf. Sci., 137 (1990) 304-307. [158] D. Li and A. Neumann, Equation of state for interfacial tensions of solid-liquid systems, *Adv. Colloid Interfac.*, 39 (1992) 299-345.

[159] G. Kumar and K. N. Prabhu, Review of non-reactive and reactive wetting of liquids on surfaces, *Adv. Colloid Interfac.*, 133 (2007) 61-89.

[160] E. Chibowski, Contact angle hysteresis due to a film present behind the drop, Contact angle, wettability and adhesion, K.L Mittal (Ed.) Utrech, 2 (2002) 256-288.

[161] E. Chibowski and R. Perea-Carpio, Problems of contact angle and solid surface free energy determination, *Adv. Colloid Interfac.*, 98 (2002) 245-264.

[162] E. Chibowski, Surface free energy of a solid from contact angle hysteresis, *Adv. Colloid Interfac.*, 103 (2003) 149-172.

[163] M. Jurak, Surface Gibbs energy interaction of phospholipid/cholesterol monolayers deposited on mica with probe liquids, *Chem. Phys. Lipids*, 183 (2014) 60-67.

[164] I. Sulym, O. Goncharuk, D. Sternik, K. Terpiłowski, A. Deryło-Marczewska, M. V. Borysenko and V. M. Gun'ko, Nanooxide/Polymer Composites with Silica-PDMS and Ceria–Zirconia–Silica-PDMS: Textural, Morphological, and Hydrophilic/Hydrophobic Features, *Nanoscale Res. Lett.*, 12 (2017) 1-10.

[165] K. Terpiłowski, D. Rymuszka, O. Goncharuk, I. Y. Sulym and V.M. Gun'ko, Wettability of modified silica layers deposited on glass support activated by plasma, *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, 353 (2015) 843-850.

[166] J. Izdebska-Podsiadły and E. Dorsam, Effects of argon low temperature plasma on PLA film surface and aging behaviors, *Vacuum*, 145 (2017) 278–284.

[167] J. Larrieu, F. Clement, B. Held, N. Soulem, F. Luthon, C. Guimon and H. Martinez, Analysis of microscopic modifications and macroscopic surface properties of polystyrene thin films treated under DC pulsed discharge conditions, *Surf. Interface Anal.*, 37 (2005) 544-556.

[168] M. R. Wertheimer, A. C. Fozza and A. Hollander, Vacuum Ultraviolet Irradiation of Polymers, *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. B*, 151 (1999) 65–75.

[169] D. S. Kumar, M. Fujioka, K. Asano, A. Shoji, A. Jayakrishnan and Y. Yoshida, Surface modification of poly(ethylene terephthalate) by plasma polymerization of poly(ethylene glycol), *J. Mater. Sci.*, 18 (2007) 1831–1835.

[170] K. N. Pandiyaraj, V. Selvarajan, R. R. Deshmukh and C. Gao, Adhesive properties of polypropylene (PP) and polyethylene terephthalate (PET) film surfaces treated by DC glow discharge plasma, *Vacuum*, 5 (2008) 332–339.

[171] L. J. Gerenser, Surface chemistry of plasma-treated polymers, Handbook of Thin Film Process Technology, D. A. Glocker and S. I. Shah (Eds.) Bristol (1996) 2897.

[172] K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari and S. Mleko, Surface properties of ion-inducted whey protein gels deposited on cold plasma treated support, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 71 (2017) 17–25.

[173] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Release of ethyl acetate from aerated and non-aerated heatinduced whey protein gels, *Philipp. Agric. Sci.*, 92 (2009) 425-428.

[174] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, A novel base for dairy products: foamed whey protein gels, *Agro Food Ind. Hi-Tech.*, 20 (2009) 40-42.

[175] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Ion induced gelation of whey proteins as a new method to produce foamed globular protein gels, *Milchwissenschaft*, 67 (2012) 443-446.

[176] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Structure and stability of ion induced whey protein aerated gels, *Czech J. Food Sci.*, 31 (2013) 211-216.

[177] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Structure and rheology of aerated whey protein isolate gels obtained at different pH, *J. Food Nutr. Res.*, 52 (2013) 61-70.

[178] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, A. Handa, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska, K. Terpiłowski, C. Kwiatkowski and S. Mleko, New controlled release material: aerated egg white gels induced by calcium ions, *Eur. Food Res. Technol.*, 242 (2016) 1235-1243.

[179] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Terpiłowski, S. Mleko, C. Kwiatkowski and M. Kawecka-Radomska, Surface Properties of Aerated Ion-induced Whey Protein Gels, *Food Biophys.*, 10 (2015) 273-281.

[180] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari and A. Handa, Ca-induced egg white protein gels with various microstructure, *Food Sci. Technol. Res.*, 20 (2014) 1207-1212.

[181] K. Fatyeyeva, A. Dahi, C. Chappey, D. Langevin, J. Valleton, F. Poncin-Epaillard and S. Marais, Effect of cold plasma treatment on surface properties and gas permeability of polyimide films, *RSC Adv.*, 59 (2014) 31036.

[182] E. Chibowski, L. Hołysz and K. Terpiłowski, Superhydrophobic polystyrene layers filled with silica glass, *Colloids Surf. A*, 291 (2006) 181–190.

[183] K. Terpiłowski and D. Rymuszka, Surface properties of glass plates activated by air, oxygen, nitrogen and argon plasma, *Glass Phys. Chem.*, 42 (2016) 535–541.

[184] D. Rymuszka and K. Terpiłowski, Influence of volume drop on surface free energy of glass, *Annales UMCS*, 68 (2013) 121-132.

[185] K. Terpilowski, Surface free energy of superhydrophobic materials obtained by deposition of polymeric particles on glass, Contact angle, wettability and adhesion, K.L Mittal (Ed.) New York, 2 (2015) 381–395.

[186] AOAC Official Method 960.52, Microchemical Determination of Nitrogen. Micro-Kjeldahl Method. Official Methods of Analysis of Association of Official Analytical Chemists.15th ed. Arlington: AOAC International, (1995) 7-9.

[187] S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari and S. Mleko, Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatin dispersions gelled on cold plasma-activated glass, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 96 (2019) 224–230.

[188] M. Khayet, C. Y. Feng and T. Matsuura, Morphological study of fluorinated asymmetric polyetherimide ultrafiltration membranes by surface modifying macromolecules, *J. Membr. Sci.*, 213 (2003) 159–180.

[189] T. Young, An Essay on the Cohesion of Fluids, *Philos. Trans. Royal Soc. Lond.*, 95 (1805)65–87.

[190] C. D. Volpe, D. Maniglio, M. Brugnara, S. Siboni and M. Morra, The solid surface free energy calculation I. In defense of the multicomponent approach, *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.*, 271, (2004) 434-453.

[191] S. Siboni, C. D. Volpe, D. Maniglio and M. Brugnara, The solid surface free energy calculation; II. The limits of the Zisman and of the "equation-of-state" approaches., *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.*, 15 (2004) 454-472.

[192] R. Tadmor, Line Energy and the Relation between Advancing, Receding, and Young Contact Angles, *Langmuir*, 20 (2004) 7659-7664.

[193] R. Tadmor and P. S. Yadav, As-placed contact angles for sessile drops, J. Colloid Interface Sci., 317 (2008) 241-246.

[194] R. Tadmor, Line energy, line tension and drop size, Surf. Sci., 602 (2008) 108-111.

[195] R. Tadmor, P. Bahadur and A. Leh, Measurement of Lateral Adhesion Forces at the Interface between a Liquid Drop and a Substrate, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 103 (2009) 266101.

[196] R. Tadmor, Approaches in wetting phenomena, Soft. Matter., 7 (2011) 1577-1580.

[197] E. Chibowski and M. Jurak, Comparison of contact angle hysteresis of different probe liquids on the same solid surface, *Colloid Polym. Sci.* 291 (2013) 391–399.

[198] P. Slepicka, N. S. Kasálková, E. Stránská, L. Bacáková and V. Svorcik, Surface characterization of plasma treated polymers for applications as biocompatible carriers, *Express Polym. Lett.*, 7 (2013) 535–545.

[199] R. N. Wenzel, Resistance of solid surfaces to wetting by water, *Ind. Eng. Chem.*, 28 (1936) 988-994.

[200] R. N. Wenzel, Surface roughness and contact angle, *J. Phys. Colloid Chem.*, 53 (1949) 1416-1425.

[201] A. B. D. Cassie, Contact angles, Disccuss. Faraday Soc., 3 (1948) 11-16.

[202] L. J. Gerenser, XPS studies of in situ plasma-modified polymer surfaces, *J. Adhes. Sci. Technol.*, 7 (2012) 1019-1040.
VII. APPENDIXES

Appendix 1

Surface Properties of Whey Protein Gels (first paper of the "compendium")

Surface Properties of Whey Protein Gels

¹Salvador Perez Huertas, ¹Konrad Terpiłowski, ²Marta Tomczyńska-Mleko*, ³Marta Wesołowska-Trojanowska, ⁴Małgorzata Kawecka-Radomska, ⁵Maciej Nastaj and ⁵Stanisław Mleko ¹Department of Physical Chemistry-Interfacial Phenomena, Maria Curie Skłodowska University, Lublin, Poland. ²Institute of Plant Genetics, Breeding and Biotechnology, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Poland. ³Department of Biotechnology, Microbiology and Human Nutrition, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Poland. ⁴Department of Environmental Microbiology, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Poland. ⁵Department of Milk Technology and Hydrocolloids, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Poland. martamleko@tlen.pl* (Received on 30th July 2018, accepted on revised form 7th March 2019)

Summary: Surface properties of whey protein gels are reviewed based on traditional microscopic techniques and new methods, as optical profilometer and contact angle measurements. Optical profilometer is an instrument allowing measurement of surface roughness and contact angle measurements to determine the surface wettability behavior (hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity) of the gels. Investigation of surface properties of whey protein gels is very important, as it can transform this product to a new level of application. It could be used as a matrix for an active ingredient release, material for tissue engineering, e.g. scaffolds, i.e. temporally structures biodegraded in the human organism.

Keywords: Microscopy, Wettability, Contact angle, Roughness, Surface hydrophobicity, Spectroscopy, Rheology.

Introduction

Whey proteins are becoming very popular as functional ingredients in foods. Their application in food products will increase in the future, as consumers pay more and more attention on valuable sources of exogenous amino acids. It is connected with increasing interest of population in sport and recreation. Whey proteins are generally marketed in three forms: whey protein concentrate, whey protein isolate and whey protein hydrolysate [1]. The concentrate contains fat and lactose along with the quintessential proteins (29-89%); the isolate is made of 90% protein and the hydrolysate is the semidigested form of the protein. Whey protein enriches foods in the most valuable amino acids and shapes their texture, mouthfeel, water and flavor holding capacity [2, 3]. Gelation is the most important functional property of whey protein and it is a key process to generate food texture. Properties of the gel depend on the ionic strength of the solution, temperature and the time of heating. Heating of whey protein solution above the denaturation temperature (greater than 65° C), causes unfolding and aggregation of proteins. After cooling down, at low ionic strength, a thick solution can be obtained. Addition of ions will result in electrical shielding of charges and formation of a gel [4, 5]. Whey protein gel microstructure has been observed to change from fine stranded to particulate with increasing salt concentration [6]. The properties of whey protein

gels are greatly modified by the presence of dispersed filler particles, for example oil droplets, within the protein gel matrix, due to interfacial filler particle gel matrix interactions [7 - 10]. The gelling ability of proteins provides important textural and waterholding properties in many foods [11 - 13]. The mechanism of heat-induced gelation of whey proteins is not completely understood. Former investigations interpreted the gelation as a two-phase process consisting of unfolding of the globular structure, and subsequent aggregation of protein chains into a threedimensional network. Today, gelation of whey proteins is basically considered as a four-phase process consisting of unfolding of the native structure, aggregation of the unfolded protein molecules, string formation of the aggregates, and linkage of the strings to a three-dimensional network [14]. Partially stable intermediates of the threedimensional structure of whey proteins, called the "molten globule state", are of particular importance during gelation [12, 15]. The formation of heatinduced whey protein gels, mainly due to disulfide bridges and hydrophobic interactions, is irreversible [14, 16, 17]. The structure and texture of the gels depend on protein concentration, ion strength and type as well as on pH value, temperature and degree of denaturation [14, 16 - 19]. Furthermore, the origin of the whey (rennet casein cheese or acid casein) as well as the operations used for concentrating,

^{*}To whom all correspondence should be addressed.

isolating and/or fractionating proteins is particularly relevant for the resulting properties of the whey protein products [14, 20].

The cold gelation process itself is induced by adding salt or acid to the heat-treated protein solutions [21 - 24]. Comparative studies on the compositional, physicochemical and functional properties of whey protein concentrate (WPC) and whey protein isolate (WPI) are widely described in the literature [20, 25 - 28]. In this review different techniques of investigating surface properties of whey protein gels are presented. Due to growing interest in the study of biopolymers, this paper aims to review up-to-date publications on the surface properties of whey protein gels investigated by traditional and the recently applied technologies.

Methods/Techniques for the analysis of the surface properties of whey protein gel

Traditional Microscopic Methods

Traditionally the surface of the gels is observed using different types of microscopy. For the examination of the gel structure different types of microscopy (scanning electron microscopy (SEM) [5, 29 - 33], atomic force microscopy (AFM) [29, 34 -38], transmission electron microscopy (TEM) [39 -41] or confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) [42 - 48] are applied. Some of them require a special sample preparation. The combination of microscopy with other techniques allows the direct study for the investigation of gel structure. The choice of the adequate method for the examination of the structure of the gels is essential for a successful research in this field. A broad variety of microscopic methods has been applied for whey protein gels and it is beyond the scope of this review to discuss them. We are focused on some interesting examples from research conducted by our research group, especially aerated gels.

Confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM)

Confocal laser scanning microscopy (CSLM) is very suitable for observing the structure of gels without finer details such as casein micelles or protein clusters [49 - 51]. It enables to observe gel structure without any preparation procedure, as the laser beam penetrates the sample at a desired depth, without changes in the gel properties [52]. The microstructure of aerated gels was investigated using confocal laser scanning microscopy [53]. At different pH, a very interesting structure of air bubbles was observed, larger bubbles contained smaller ones and

these contained other smaller bubbles. This microstructure resembled a fractal structure. Ikeda et al. [54] reported a fractal nature of whey protein gels. Similarly, the fractal nature of the whey protein gels surface was investigated by Chen and Dickinson [55]. Tomczyńska-Mleko and Mleko [56] showed that different microstructure of the ion induced aerated gels was obtained at different ions. For Ca2+ induced gels a particulate gel was formed and for Fe²⁺ and Mg²⁺ fine-stranded microstructure was noticed. The aerated gel induced by Fe²⁺ ions was the most transparent. Air bubbles were composed of fractal structures as larger bubbles contained smaller ones in the same geometrical pattern. Kharlamova et al. [46] studied whey protein isolate gels formed by acidification of fractal aggregates with different sizes. The microstructure was analyzed by CSLM and it was found, that varying the protein composition, the microstructure changed drastically. The images showed more homogeneous structure when the protein content increase. Similar microstructure was observed by Ju and Kilara [57] for gels formed from whey protein isolate by adding GDL or CaCl₂.

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)

Comparing this technique with light microscopy, the resolution is notably improved with electron microscopy. This technique has been used to study representative surface structure of whey protein gels and to assess their homogeneity. The microstructure of ion induced whey protein aerated gels has been investigated by Tomczyńska-Mleko [5]. It was reported that at higher calcium concentration more porous structure of particulate whey protein gel was obtained. It resulted in higher syneresis. An opposite effect of syneresis was observed for increased protein concentration. It was caused by more packed gel structure with higher number of bonds between protein molecules. Finestranded gel microstructure produced at pH values far from the isoelectric point is characterized by lower porosity with lower syneresis [58]. Similar results were observer by Liu et al. [33]. They investigated the influence of Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ ions on the properties of whey protein isolate/lotus root amylopectin composite gel system. The SEM images showed a high number of pores in the network of WPI-LRA gels without salt ions, however the addition of Ca^{2+} (0.05M-0.1M) resulted in a denser and more homogeneous microstructure, in case of Na⁺ the images showed a more compact gel microstructure than without Na^+ (0.5M). They concluded that an appropriate amount of Ca²⁺ or Na⁺ results in a more compact and stable gel network structure with compact cavities. In SEM images, the addition of salt ions in low concentration resulted in a denser and more homogeneous gel network, however large cavities and irregular structure in the gel network appeared increasing the salt concentration.

Aerated whey protein isolate gels were obtained at different pH using reversibility of heatinduced gels [53]. SEM micrographs indicated that at different pH (3.0, 9.0, 10.0) a smooth gel microstructure was observed. At these pH values, repulsive electrostatic force between charged protein chains is effective [22]. Tomczyńska-Mleko et al. [59] observed aerated whey protein gels induced by calcium ions on SEM micrographs. They showed that increased ions concentration causes higher aggregation of protein matrix and more porous microstructure is present at the interface of the gel and air. Similar changes were observed by Croguennec et al. [60]. This is in an agreement with results presented by Tomczyńska-Mleko et al. [61], which demonstrated that at higher magnesium ions concentrations, stronger ionic interactions were possible with more magnesium bridges being formed. This resulted in a more aggregated structure. Maltais et al. [62] observed fine-stranded microstructure for a gel at low salt concentration (10 mM of calcium chloride) and a particulate, unordered gel structure was noticed at higher calcium chloride concentration. At higher salt concentration. the surface microstructure becomes rougher. Nayebzadeh et al. [63] observed natural, not-dried mixed whey protein/xanthan gels using a modified, steam filled column method of scanning electron microscopy. Microscopic images were used for calculation of roughness these mixed gels surface. It was noted that xanthan has a surface smoothing effect on the heatset whey protein gels.

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

Transmission electron microscopy allows observing the microstructure of the gels at very high magnitude. For a new high-resolution transmission electron microscopy, it is possible to obtain above 50 million times magnification with a resolution of 1 Ångström. The problem is with the preparation of the sample which must be cut into ultrathin section less than 100 nm thick. It is possible to observe the surface section of the gel, but usually this technique is used to observe protein gels in terms of the degree of aggregation and the shape of protein aggregates. Tomczyńska-Mleko et al. [61] showed denser microstructure of the gels with increased magnesium ion concentration which coincided with more elastic behavior. Increased elasticity of the gels was caused by a higher number of bonds between whey protein molecules. A higher concentration of divalent magnesium ions probably caused a stronger screening effect, which facilitated more powerful hydrophobic interactions [61]. Recently Jiang *et al.* [39] used the transmission electron microscopy to compare the microstructure characteristics of polymerized whey protein isolate and concentrate. The TEM images revealed that the network of the isolate form was more homogeneous, stable and denser than the concentrate form. Uzun el al. [41] proposed an interesting way for developing delivery system. The morphology of dried WPI gels containing lutein droplets was observed by TEM₇. The images of gels confirmed that the process preserved the original size of lutein droplets.

New methods

Optical profilometer

Optical profilometer is an instrument allowing measurement of surface roughness. Microscopic methods do not allow for quantification of this property. There are very scarce research studies on whey protein gel surface using optical profilometry.

Optical profilometry is a non-contact technique which uses a light source to investigate the surface. The key component to this technique is directing the light in a way that it can detect the surface in 3D. Optical profilometry is faster than contact profilometry with sacrifices in lateral resolution. It is completely non-destructive to samples that are not sensitive to light and very soft surface can be scanned. Based on the images, the computer program calculates the parameters determining the surface properties. The gels roughness is described using three different parameters: Ra, average roughness, is the main height as calculated over the entire measured length or area. It is useful for detecting general variations in overall profile height characteristics. Rq is a quadratic mean of the surface roughness and is given by the standard deviation of the vertical values for the gel area. The root means square index RMS (Rq) is the best parameter to compare roughness of the gels, as it is insensitive to local surface topographical heterogeneity. Rt represents the distance between the highest peak and the lowest valley on the measured gel surface. Generally, gels with more aggregated microstructure have surfaces with higher values of roughness parameters. Chen et al. [64] noticed that whey protein gel obtained without any salt addition had a very smooth surface with Rq and Ra of 0.20 and 0.18 µm, respectively. For the gel obtained at 200 mM of sodium chloride, a much rougher surface with

large Rq and Ra values were produced. It was caused by increased protein aggregation caused by high concentrations of salt [58]. Higher magnesium ion concentration produced gels with a rougher surface structure i.e. with a higher quadratic mean of the surface roughness Rq and maximum roughness height Ra [65]. Tomczyńska-Mleko and Mleko [56] reported that the roughness of the obtained gel surface depends on the type and concentration of added salt. Higher concentration of cations resulted in gels with a higher quadratic mean of the surface roughness and maximum roughness height. Aerated calcium ion induced gels were used for hydrolysis experiments in an artificial stomach [59]. There was a linear correlation between the quadratic mean of the surface roughness (Rq) and the maximum roughness height (Rt). Similar correlation was observed for the non-aerated egg white gels [66]. Surface roughness of the gels influences different active ingredients release from the gel [67]. Tomczyńska-Mleko and Mleko [56] found, that microstructure and different surface roughness of whey protein gels influenced contact area of the gels with pepsin, which resulted in different release time of active ingredients. In recent research Terpiłowski et al. [68] examined whether activation of glass support can influence surface properties of ion-inducted whey protein gels deposited on this support. The gel surface was observed using an optical profilometer. Increasing of ion concentration resulted in the rougher structure of the obtained gel (Fig. 1). It is in line with our previous results on the aerated whey protein gels [61]. Whey protein gel layer is smooth on the untreated glass while for the argon treated sample it is rough with big deep holes on the surface. Gels deposited on the air treated glass plate have also a different structure which is rougher than for untreated glass support (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1: Optical profilometer images (0.9 x 1.3 mm) and side profiles for whey protein gels deposited on untreated glass surface A: 20 mM Ca²⁺, B: 30mM Ca²⁺.



Fig. 2: Optical profilometer images (47 x 62 μm) for whey protein gels induced by 30 mM Ca²⁺ deposited on: A - untreated glass surface, B - Ar plasma activated glass and C - air plasma activated glass.

Contact angles and surface free energy (SFE)

Another important surface property is its wettability. It is a physical property relating to the ability of a liquid drop to spread on a surface of a solid or liquid material. The strength of the attractive or repellant force is closely related to the "contact angle" between the water drop and the surface (Fig. 3). When the solid has a high affinity for water, this kind of material is called hydrophilic (e.g. glass), the contact angle will be less than 90°. Water drop tends to spread out and "wet" the surface. In the opposite case of hydrophobic (e.g. Teflon) surface, the contact angle will be greater than 90°, and instead, forms at equilibrium a spherical cap resting on the substrate with a "contact angle", the water drop tends to bead up on the surface (Fig. 3). Measurements of contact angles require the solid surfaces to be rigid, smooth and homogeneous, so the Young's equation is calculated for the appropriate equilibrium condition. The solid surfaces should be as inert as possible, so that effects such as swelling and chemical reactions are minimized.



Fig. 3: Different contact angles for a hydrophilic (left) and a hydrophobic surface (right).

Two different theoretical approaches to interfacial interactions are presented for the determination of very useful parameter - surface free energy (SFE), which quantifies the characteristic of the solid surface and its wettability. Acid–base (LWAB) and hysteresis (CAH) approaches are presented bellow.

In the LWAB approach of Van Oss *et al.* [69] the surface free energy is showed as the sum of two constituents: a polar Lifshitz-Van der Waals γ_i^{LW} and Lewis acid–base γ_i^{AB} :

$$\gamma_i = \gamma_i^{LW} + \gamma_i^{AB} \qquad \qquad Eq. 1$$

Besides dispersion interactions, the component γ_i^{LW} includes the dipole orientation and the induction ones which were considered to be polar earlier. The component of acid–base interactions γi^{AB} can be expressed by the geometric mean:

$$\gamma_i^{AB} = 2 (\gamma_i + \gamma_i^{-})^{1/2}$$
 Eq. 2

Based on such model the adhesion work can be written by means of the constituents:

$$\gamma_l (1 + \cos \theta) = 2 \sqrt{\gamma_s^{LW} \gamma_l^{LW} + 2 \sqrt{\gamma_s^+ \gamma_l^-}} + 2 \sqrt{\gamma_s^- \gamma_l^+}$$
 Eq. 3

where: γ_{1} liquid surface tension, θ -contact angle (advancing), $\gamma_{s/l}^{LW}$ solid and liquid apolar Lifshitz van der Waals interactions, $\gamma_{s/l}^{+}$ solid and liquid electron acceptor parameter of surface free energy, $\gamma_{s/l}^{-}$ solid and liquid electron donor parameter of surface free energy. The quantity of the constituent γ_{s}^{LW} and the parameters γ_{s}^{+} , γ_{s}^{-} of surface free energy can be calculated from Eq. 3 by measuring the wetting angle of three different liquids with known

surface tension constituents: $\gamma_1 {}^{LW}$, γ_1 + and γ_1 -. A set of three equations with three unknown values ($\gamma_s {}^{AB}$, γ_s^+ , γ_s^-) allows to calculate the energy components ($\gamma_1 {}^{LW}$, $\gamma_1 {}^{AB}$) and finally its total value. Very important in determination of surface free energy of solids is the selection of liquids used for measuring wetting angles [70]. The most used is a set of three liquids of which one is a polar liquid with high surface tension and the other two are polar liquids with differences in the quantities of $\gamma_1 {}^{LW}$, γ_1^+ and γ_1^- . The most often the following liquids are used: diiodomethane ($\gamma_1 = 50$, 8 mJ/m²) or 1-bromonaphtalane ($\gamma_1 = 44.4 \text{ mJ/m}^2$) with formaldehyde and water as polar liquids [71].

The other approach was proposed by Chibowski [51 – 53] and is based on the contact angle hysteresis (CAH). It relates γ_s to the surface tension of the probe liquid γ_L and CAH, which is defined as the difference between the advancing θ_a and receding θ_r contact angles:

$$\gamma_s = \left(\frac{\gamma_L (1 + \cos \theta_a)^2}{(2 + \cos \theta_a + \cos \theta_r)}\right)$$
 Eq. 4

where γ_s is apparent surface free energy, γ_L is liquid surface tension, θ_a is advancing contact angle, and θ_r is receding contact angle.

The apparent surface free energy can be calculated from Eq. 4 using the liquid surface tension and advancing and receding contact angles. The calculated free energy value depends on the physicochemical properties of the used liquid. For the equilibrium contact angles used for calculation of apparent surface free energy, Eq. 4 transforms into:

$$\gamma_s = \frac{\gamma_L}{2} \left(1 + \cos \theta_{Eq} \right)$$
Eq. 5

where $\gamma_{\rm L}$ is liquid surface tension and $\theta_{\rm Eq}$ is equilibrium contact angle.

Changes in the gel surface topography causes the changes in the wettability and the differences in the value of apparent surface free energy. For the hydrophilic surface the wettability can be described by the Wenzel model and for hydrophobic surface by the Cassie-Baxter model [72]. Nature of structure of gels can be explained by contact angle measurements. Białopiotrowicz [75] concluded that starch gel surface maintains maximal hydrophobic character with polar domains created by the functional glucose groups with the branched chain of amylopectin directed into air [76]. Tomczyńska-Mleko et al. [61] applied contact angles measurements to characterize surface properties of the aerated whey protein gels. It was reported that with increasing the concentration of the MgCl₂, the surface became more hydrophobic. Increasing the concentration of the FeCl₂ had a contrary effect: the surface became hydrophilic. So it was found that the obtained surfaces were influenced not only by the type of the added salt but also by their concentration. The pendant drop method was applied to determine the contact angle of whey protein gels. Moreover, the surface free energy was determined by hysteresis (CAH) and acid-base (LWAB) approaches in order to have more info about energetic changes on the surface. In CAH approach a decrease of SFE was observed with the addition of MgCl₂, however with the addition of FeCl₂ an increase of SFE was found. In the other approach (LWAB) the SFE was confined only to the dispersion components which increased after MgCl₂ addition, however a significant decrease of electron donor parameter was found. They conclude that the difference in SFE is caused by the change in surface topography. In a recent publication by Terpiłowski et al. [69] the contact angle values were assessed to determine the surface wettability behavior (hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity) of the ioninduced whey protein gels deposited on plasma activated glass support. For increased contact angles, an increase in surface roughness was observed. This relationship depended on the type of ion used for the gelation induction. Besides, wettability properties were affected by the electron donor parameter of energy obtained using (LWAB) approach and contact angles measurements, which value increased for the samples obtained on the plasma activated supports, especially the air treated ones. Kokoszka et al. [77] studied the wetting properties of whey protein isolate/glycerol mixed gels influenced by varying theirs proportions. It was found that the surface with higher plasticizer content showed more hydrophilic behavior. They concluded that the presence of the plasticizer decreased the protein-protein interaction and increased the chain mobility improving the water absorption. Similar results were obtained by Ramos et al. [78], but in this case for the whey protein concentrate/glycerol mixed gels, once again, the surface became more hydrophilic after the addition of glycerol. These results are consistent with the claim by Sobral et al. [79], who reported that increasing concentrations of glycerol facilitate water absorption and transport within the films.

Conclusion

Modification of surface properties of whey protein gels can transform this product to a new level of application. It could be used as a matrix for an active ingredient release, material for tissue engineering, e.g. scaffolds, i.e. temporary structures biodegraded in the human organism. Some traditional techniques, like microscopy are used for investigation of protein gels for many years, but other methods, like optical profilometer and contact angle measurements reveal other very important properties of whey protein gels.

References

- G. T. D. Sousa, F. S. Lira, J. C. Rosa, E. P. de Oliveira, L. M. Oyama, R. V. Santos and G. D. Pimentel, Dietary Whey Protein Lessens Several Risk Factors for Metabolic Diseases: A review, *Lipids Health Dis.*, **11**, 67 (2012).
- M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Release of Ethyl Acetate from Aerated and Non-Aerated Heat-Induced Whey Protein Gels, *Philipp. Agric. Sci.*, 92, 425 (2009).
- M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, A Novel Base for Dairy Products: Foamed Whey Protein Gels, Agro Food Ind. Hi-Tech., 20, 40 (2009).
- M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Ion Induced Gelation of Whey Proteins as a New Method to Produce Foamed Globular Protein Gels, *Milchwissenschaft*, 67, 443 (2012).
- 5. M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Structure and Stability of Ion Induced Whey Protein Aerated Gels, *Czech J. Food Sci.*, **31**, 211 (2013).
- M. Stading and A.M. Hermansson, Large Deformation Properties of Beta-Lactoglobulin Gel Structures, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 5, 339 (1991).
- J. S. Chen and E. Dickinson, Viscoelastic Properties of Heat-Set Whey Protein Emulsion Gels, J. Texture Stud., 29, 285 (1998).
- J. S. Chen and E. Dickinson, Effect of Surface Character of Filler Particles on Rheology of Heat-Set, Whey Protein Emulsion Gels, *Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces*, 12, 373 (1999).
- G. Sala, G. A. Van Aken, M. A. C. Stuart and F. van De Velde, Effect of Droplet Matrix Interactions on Large Deformation Properties of Emulsion Filled Gels, *J. Texture Stud.*, 38, 511 (2007).
- G. Sala, R. A. de Wijk, F. van de Velde and G. A. van Aken, Matrix Properties Affect the Sensory Perception of Emulsion Filled gels, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 22, 353 (2008).
- 11. E. Dickinson, Hydrocolloids at Interfaces and the Influence on the Properties of Dispersed Systems, *Food Hydrocoll.*, **17**, 25 (2003).
- 12. P. X. Qi, E. M. Brown and H. M. Farrell, 'New Views' on Structure Function Relationships in

Milk Proteins, *Trends Food Sci. Technol.*, **12**, 339 (2001).

- P. A. Williams and G. O. Phillips, Introduction to Food Hydrocolloids in G. O. Phillips and P. A. Williams, Editors, Handbook of Hydrocolloids, Woodhead Publishing Limited, Sawston (2000).
- H. Singh and P. Havea, Thermal Denaturation, Aggregation and Gelation of Whey in P. F. Fox and P. L. H. McSweeney, Editors, Advanced Dairy Chemistry, Vol. 1, Part B. Kluwer Academic/ Plenum Publishers, New York (2003).
- J. H. M. Farrel, P. X. Qi, E. M. Brown, P. H. Cooke, M. H. Tunick, E.D. Wickham and J. J. Unruh, Molten Globule Structures in Milk Proteins: Implications for Potential New Structure Function Relationships, *J. Dairy Sci.*, 85, 459 (2002).
- A. H. Clark, G. M. Kavanagh and S. B. Ross-Murphy, Globular Protein Gelation – Theory and Experiment, *Food Hydrocoll.*, **15**, 383 (2001).
- M. A. de la Fuente, H. Singh and Y. Hemar, Recent Advances in the Characterization of Heat-Induced Aggregates and Intermediates of Whey Proteins, *Trends Food Sci. Technol.*, 13, 262 (2002).
- P. Cayot and D. Lorient, Structure Function Relationships of Whey Proteins in S. Damodaran and A Paraf, Editors, Food Proteins and Their Applications, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York (1997).
- E. A. Foegeding, J. P. Davis, D. Doucet and M. K. McGuffey, Advances in Modifying and Understanding Whey Protein Functionality, *Trends Food Sci. Technol.*, **13**, 151 (2002).
- C. V. Morr and E. A. Foegeding, Composition and Functionality of Commercial Whey and Milk Protein Concentrates and Isolates a Status Report, *Food Technol.*, 44, 100 (1990).
- 21. A. C. Alting, R. J. Hamer, C. G. de Kruif, M. Paques and R. W. Visschers, Number of Thiol Groups Rather than the Size of the Aggregates Determines the Hardness of Cold Set Whey Protein Gels, *Food Hydrocoll.*, **17**, 469 (2003).
- 22. C. M. Bryant and D. J. McClements, Molecular Basis of Protein Functionality with Special Consideration of Cold-Set Gels Derived from Heat-Denaturated Whey, *Trends Food Sci. Technol.*, 9, 143 (1998).
- 23. J. J. Resch and C. R. Daubert, Rheological and Physicochemical Properties of Derivatives Whey Protein Concentrate Powders, *J. Food Prop. Journal*, **5**, 419 (2002).
- 24. B. Vardhanabhuti, E. A. Foegeding, M. K. McGuffey, C. R. Daubert and H. E. Swaisgood,

Gelation Properties of Dispersions Containing Polymerized and Native Whey Protein Isolate, *Food Hydrocoll.*, **15**, 165 (2001).

- A. H. Brandenburg, C. V. Morr and C. L. Weller, Gelation of Commercial Whey Protein Concentrates: Effect of Removal of Low Molecular Weight Components, *J. Food Sci.*, 57, 427 (1992).
- K. J. Burgess and J. Kelly, Technical Note: Selected Functional Properties of a Whey Protein Isolate, *J. Food Technol.*, 14, 325 (1979).
- J. N. De Witt, G. Klarenbeek and M. Adamse, Evaluation of Functional Properties of Whey Protein Concentrates and Whey Protein Isolates.
 Effects of Processing History and Composition, *Neth. Milk Dairy J.*, 40, 41 (1986).
- J. N. De Witt, E. Hontelez-Backx and M. Adamse, Evaluation of Whey Protein Concentrates and Whey Protein Isolates. 3. Functional Properties in Aqueous Solution, *Neth. Milk Dairy J.*, 42, 155 (1988).
- M. Mohammadian, M. Salami, Z. Emam-Djomeh, S. Momen and A. A. Moosavi-Movahedi, Gelation of Oil-in-Water Emulsions Stabilized by Heat-Denatured and Nanofibrillated Whey Proteins through Ion Bridging or Citric Acid-Mediated Cross-Linking, *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.*, **120**, 2247 (2018).
- C. O. Ferreira, C. A. Nunes, I. Delgadillo and J. A. Lopes-da-Silva, Characterization of Chitosan–Whey Protein Films at Acid Ph, *Food Res. Int.*, 42, 807 (2009).
- W. Quan, C. Zhang, M. Zheng, Z. Lu, H. Zhao and F. Lu, Effects of Small Laccase from Streptomyces Coelicolor on the Solution and Gel Properties of Whey Protein Isolate, *LWT Food Sci. Technol.*, **101**, 17 (2019).
- 32. K. Liu, Q. M. Li, L. H. Pan, X. P. Qian, H. L. Zhang, X. Q. Zha and J. P. Luo, The Effects of Lotus Root Amylopectin on the Formation of Whey Protein Isolate Gels, *Carbohydr. Polym.*, 175, 721 (2017).
- K. Liu, Q. Li, X. Zha, L. Pan, L. Bao, H. Zhang and J. Luo, Effects of Calcium or Sodium Ions on the Properties of Whey Protein Isolate-Lotus Root Amylopectin Composite Gel, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 87, 629 (2019).
- S. Ikeda and V. J. Morris, Fine-Stranded and Particulate Aggregates of Heat-Denatured Whey Proteins Visualized by Atomic Force Microscopy, *Biomacromolecules*, 3, 382 (2002).
- 35. S. Ikeda, V. J. Morris and K. Nishinari, Microstructure of Aggregated and Nonaggregated K-Carrageenan Helices Visualized by Atomic Force Microscopy, *Biomacromolecules*, 2, 133 (2001).

- 36 V. J. Morris, A. R. Kirby and A. P. Gunning, Atomic Force Microscopy for Biologists, London: Imperial College Press. (1999).
- S. Ikeda, Heat-Induced Gelation of Whey Proteins Observed by Rheology, Atomic Force Microscopy and Raman Scattering Spectroscopy, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 17, 399 (2003).
- F. Alavi, S. Momen, Z. Emam-Djomeh, M. Salami and A. A. Moosavi-Movahedi, Radical Cross-Linked Whey Protein Aggregates as Building Blocks of Non-Heated Cold-Set Gels, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 81, 429 (2018).
- 39. S. Jiang, M. A. Hussain, J. Cheng, Z. Jiang, H. Geng, Y. Sun, C. Sun and J. Hou, Effect of Heat Treatment on Physicochemical and Emulsifying Properties of Polymerized Whey Protein Concentrate and Polymerized Whey Protein Isolate, *LWT Food Sci. Technol.*, 98, 137 (2018).
- 40. A. G. Marangoni, S. Barbut, S. E. McGauley, M. Marcone and S. S. Narine, On the Structure of Particulate Gels the Case of Salt-Induced Cold Gelation of Heat-Denatured Whey Protein Isolate, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 14, 61 (2000).
- 41. S. Uzun, H. Kim, C. Leal and G. W. Padua, Ethanol-Induced Whey Protein Gels as Carriers for Lutein Droplets, *Food Hydrocoll.*, **61**, 426 (2016).
- 42. J. Chen, T. Moschakis and L. A. Pugnaloni, Surface Topography of Heat-Set Whey Protein Gels by Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy, *Food Hydrocoll.*, **20**, 468 (2006).
- K. Ako, D. Durand, T. Nicolai and L. Becu, Quantitative Analysis of Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy Images of Heat-Set Globular Protein Gels, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 23, 1111 (2009).
- 44. C. Soukoulis, S. Cambier, T. Serchi, M. Tsevdou, C. Gaiani, P. Ferrer, P. S. Taoukis and L. Hoffmann, Rheological and Structural Characterization of Whey Protein Acid Gels Co-Structured with Chia (*Salvia Hispanica* L.) or Flax Seed (*Linum Usitatissimum* L.) Mucilage, *Food Hydrocoll.*, **89**, 542 (2018).
- 45. Y. Cheng, O. D. Prince, X. Ren, J. Wu, K. Agyemang, I. Ayim and H. Ma, Effect of Ultrasound Pretreatment with Mono-Frequency and Simultaneous Dual Frequency on the Mechanical Properties and Microstructure of Whey Protein Emulsion Gels, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 89, 434 (2018).
- A. Kharlamova, C. Chassenieux and T. Nicolai, Acid-Induced Gelation of Whey Protein Aggregates: Kinetics, Gel Structure and Rheological Properties, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 81, 263 (2018).

- 47. W. N. Ainis, C. Ersch, C. Farinet, Q. Yang, Z. J. Glover and R. Ipsen, Rheological and Water Holding Alterations in Mixed Gels Prepared from Whey Proteins and Rapeseed Proteins, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 87, 723 (2019).
- N. Athanasios and T. Moschakis, On the Reversibility of Ethanol-Induced Whey Protein Denaturation, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 84, 389 (2018).
- A. N. Hassan, J. F. Frank, M. A. Farmer, K. A. Schmidt and S. I. Shalabi, Formation of Yogurt Micro Structure and Three-Dimensional Visualization as Determined by Confocal Scanning Laser Microscopy, J. *Dairy Sci.*, 78, 2629 (1995).
- J. A. Lucey, C. T. Teo, P. A. Munro and H. Singh, Microstructure, Permeability and Appearance of Acid Gels Made from Heated Skim Milk, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 12, 159 (1998).
- M. E. van Marler, Structure and Rheological Properties of Yoghurt Gels and Stirred Yoghurts. PhD Thesis, University of Twente, Netherlands. (1998).
- 52. B. E. Brooker, Imaging food systems by Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy in E. Dickinson, Editor, New Physico-Chemical Techniques for the Characterization of Complex Food Systems, Blackie Academic and Professional, Glasgow (1995).
- 53. M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Structure and Rheology of Aerated Whey Protein Isolate Gels Obtained at Different Ph, J. Food Nutr. Res., **52**, 61 (2013).
- 54. S. Ikeda, E. A. Foegeding and T. Hagiwara, Rheological Study on the Fractal Nature of the Protein Gel Structure, *Langmuir*, **15**, 8584 (1999).
- J. S. Chen and E. Dickinson, Surface Texture of Particle Gels. A Feature in Two Dimensions or Three Dimensions, *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.*, 83, 866 (2005).
- M. Tomczyńska-Mleko and S. Mleko, Whey Protein Aerated Gels as Matrices for Controlled Mineral Release in Simulated Gastric Conditions, *Food Res. Int.*, 62, 91 (2014).
- Z. Y. Ju and A. Kilara, Effects of Preheating on Properties of Aggregates and of Cold-Set Gels of Whey Protein Isolate, *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 46, 3604 (1998).
- E. A. Foegeding, E. L. Bowland and C. C. Hardin, Factors that Determine the Fracture Properties and Microstructure of Globular Protein Gels, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 9, 237 (1990).
- M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, A. Handa, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska, K. Terpiłowski, C. Kwiatkowski and S. Mleko, New Controlled Release Material: Aerated Egg White Gels

Induced by Calcium Ions, *Eur. Food Res. Technol.*, **242**, 1235 (2016).

- 60. T. Croguennec, F. Nau and G. Brule, Influence of Ph and Salts on Egg White Gelation, *J. Food Sci.*, **67**, 608 (2002).
- M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Terpiłowski, S. Mleko, C. Kwiatkowski and M. Kawecka-Radomska, Surface Properties of Aerated Ion-Induced Whey Protein Gels, *Food Biophys.*, 10, 273 (2015).
- A. Maltais, G. E. Remondetto and M. Subirade, Soy Protein Cold Set Hydrogels as Controlled Delivery Devices for Nutraceutical Compounds, *Food Hydrocoll.*, 23, 1647 (2009).
- K. Nayebzadeh, J. Chen, E. Dickinson and T Moschakis, The Surface Structure Smoothing Effect of Polysaccharides on a Heat Set Whey Particle Gel, *Langmuir*, 22, 8873 (2006).
- 64. J. Chen, T. Moschakis and L. Pugnaloni, Surface Topography of Heat-Set Whey Protein Gels by Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy, *Food Hydrocoll.*, **20**, 468 (2006).
- 65. M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, Development of a New Product: Egg White Albumen Gels with Differentiated Magnesium Release, *J. Elem.*, **20**, 463 (2015).
- M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari and A. Handa, Ca-Induced Egg White Protein Gels with Various Microstructure, *Food Sci. Technol. Res.*, 20, 1207 (2014).
- S. Mleko, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko and Z. Targoński, Globular Protein Gels as Carriers of Active Substances, *Agro Food Ind. Hi Tec.*, 21, 26 (2010).
- K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari and S. Mleko, Surface Properties of Ion-Inducted Whey Protein Gels Deposited on Cold Plasma Treated Support, *Food Hydrocoll.*, **71**, 17 (2017).
- C. J. van Oss, M. J. Roberts, R. J Good and M. K. Chaudhury, Determination of the Apolar Component of the Surface Tension of Water by Contact Angle Measurements on Gels, *Colloid Surf.*, 23, 369 (1987).
- C. J. van Oss, R. F. Giese and W. Wu, On the Predominant Electron-Donicity of Polar Solid Surfaces, J. Adhesion, 63, 71 (1997).
- C. Della Volpe and S. Siboni, Some Reflections on Acid–Base Solid Surface Free Energy Theories, J. Colloid Interface Sci., 195, 121 (1997).
- 72. E. Chibowski, Contact Angle Hysteresis due to a Film Present Behind the Drop, in K.L. Mittal, Editor, Contact Angle, Wettability and Adhesion Vol. 2, CRC Press, Boca Raton (2002).

Appendix 2

Time-based changes in surface properties of poly(ethylene terephthalate) activated with air and argon-plasma treatments (second paper of the "compendium") Colloids and Surfaces A 558 (2018) 322-329

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Colloids and Surfaces A

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/colsurfa

Time-based changes in surface properties of poly(ethylene terephthalate) activated with air and argon-plasma treatments



SURFACES

Salvador Pérez Huertas^a, Konrad Terpiłowski^{a,*}, Marta Tomczyńska-Mleko^b, Stanisław Mleko^c, Łukasz Szajnecki^d

^a Department of Physical Chemistry-Interfacial Phenomena, Maria Curie Skłodowska University, M. Curie Skłodowska Sq. 3, 20-031 Lublin, Poland

^b Institute of Plant Genetics, Breeding and Biotechnology, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Akademicka Street 15, 20-950 Lublin, Poland

^c Department of Milk Technology and Hydrocolloids, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Skromna 8, 20-704 Lublin, Poland

^d Department of Polymer Chemistry, Maria Curie Skłodowska University, M. Curie Skłodowska Sq. 3, 20-031 Lublin, Poland

G R A P H I C A L A B S T R A C T



ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Poly(ethylene terephthalate) PET Plasma Surface free energy Contact angles Wetting

ABSTRACT

This paper analyses the effects of time storage on the surface properties of plasma-treated poly(ethylene terephthalate) (PET) plates. For this purpose, optical profilometry-surface topography and surface composition (XPS technique) of the samples were studied before and after plasma treatment. Contact angles were measured using water, ethylen glycol and diiodomethane as liquid probes. Tadmor's theory was used to calculate the equilibrium contact angles. Apparent surface free energy (SFE) was determined using two approaches, the hysteresis CAH approach and the acid-base LWAB. The results showed a significant increase in wettability after plasma treatment, especially in the case of argon-plasma activation. Surface roughness and the polar component of the SFE increased after activation, while the nonpolar component of the SFE did not change. It can be concluded that PET surface is not stable during storage time and becomes more hydrophobic because of surface layer reorganization. In the case of argon-plasma activation, the effects are stable over time, which was discussed using two different apparent surface free energy calculation approaches.

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address*: terpil@poczta.umcs.lublin.pl (K. Terpiłowski).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2018.08.026

Received 23 May 2018; Received in revised form 4 August 2018; Accepted 9 August 2018 Available online 11 August 2018 0927-7757/ © 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Poly(ethylene terephthalate) (PET) is now one of the most recommended polymers for engineering purposes, due to its excellent properties (i.e. transparency, mechanical strength, gas permeability and chemical resistance) [1], which are useful in many areas of technological interest. Unluckily, PET is not always suitable due to its low surface free energy, which affects its wettability and thus any process involving surface interactions, as in printability, biocompatibility and adhesion [2-4]. This is an important issue, bearing in mind the role played by the wetting behaviour of polymers in a wide range of potential applications, not only industrial (e.g., nanoparticles grafting), but also biomedical areas (e.g., tissue engineering) [5–14]. The key role of wettability has been highlighted in the literature dealing with these topics. Thus, Rimpelova et al. [7] show the need of significantly increasing the hydrophilicity of polyethylene plates as a requisite to improve the adhesion and growth of fibroblasts. Other papers (see Kasálková et al [9]) endorse the potential benefit of grafting of nanoparticles onto the activated polymers.

To overcome the problem brought to the fore above, the surface energy content of any polymer, PET plates included, needs to be increased without changing other bulk properties of the material. A myriad of scholarly papers has tried to improve wettability of a number of mainly hydrophobic polymers [15-17]. In addition to current methods of surface modification, as chemical, thermal, mechanical or electrical treatments [18,19], plasma treatment has become a popular method with an advantage over the traditional wet chemical procedures. Apart from being an environmentally friendly technique because it neither needs water nor chemicals [9], plasma treatment is also a very versatile working method that can be used with polymer surfaces of different nature and shape [20-26]. The efficiency of plasmas is based on the ability of active species such as ions, electrons, atoms or free radicals to induce chemical and physical modifications on the surface [27]. The so-called cold, or low-temperature plasmas, have been found to be most suitable to modify surface properties of polymers of interest in industry, such as adhesivity, hydrophobicity, oleophobicity and hydrophilicity [28,29]. Although the success of oxygen plasma is obvious [23-25,30,31], air and noble gases as well as plasma of different gases and vapours like O₂, N₂, NH₃, H₂O, CO₂ [27,32–34] can also be used. The mechanisms of surface modification after plasma treatment differ depending on the type of gas [35,36]. In case of noble gases, they do not incorporate new chemical species on the surface, and the main mechanisms are selective bond breakage and possible desorption of short chain species. During the treatment with gases other than noble gases, the predominant mechanism is functionalization (i.e., surface formation of new chemical groups) [37]. In any case, it is known that surface modifications induced on the plates after plasma activation are not sustainable over time and may change during sample storage. Wetting properties undergo important modifications, manifested by changes in surface free energy, which, in turn, determine the values of the contact angles of liquid drops placed onto the surface [38-40]. Ageing after plasma activation is also related to the undesirable effect of the so-called hydrophobic recovery of polymers. This makes the study of the ageing effect on the surface properties of plasmapretreated polymer samples an issue open for discussion. Morent et al [41] found, that the effect of film storage time was the smallest for the argon-plasma treated polymers and the largest for the air plasma. It was explained by the highest crosslinking effect caused by argon plasma treatment. There is no paper in the literature which would explain this problem by changes in surface free energy using two different calculation approaches. So, the novelty of this paper lies in its methodology: both advancing and receding contact angle of probe liquids are measured and applied to calculate surface free energy by means of two different approaches; they explain the specific role played by the different plasma gases used for treatment of PET plates.

The present study aims to understand the effects of ageing of PET

plates, previously activated with air- and argon- low-temperature plasmas, on their roughness and surface free energy. For this purpose, we have carried out experimental measurements of contact angles of selected liquids, XPS analysis of surface chemical composition and optical surface-profilometry. The findings are discussed in the light of recent theoretical approaches.

2. Experimental and theoretical approaches

2.1. PET samples

We used 0.5 mm thick commercial PET (Axpet Standard, Bayer AG) plates. The material was cut into 20 mm \times 20 mm pieces. Before the experiments, the samples were washed in ethanol and distilled water to remove their surface contamination, and then dried at room temperature into a desiccator.

2.2. Plasma treatment

Plasma activation of PET samples was carried out in a low pressure plasma system Pico from Diener Electronic, Germany. The untreated polymer plates (UT) were placed in the apparatus chamber at a pressure of 0.2 mbar. The gas flow was set at 22 sccm (standard cubic centimetres per minute). The plates were treated by the plasma for 60 s (convention used, PT-treatment time, PT-60). The plasma power was 400 W.

2.3. Contact angle measurements

Advancing and receding contact angles of the probe liquids onto PET surfaces were measured using a contact angle meter (GBX, France), equipped with a measuring chamber provided with temperature and humidity control, and a digital camera. The measurements were conducted at 20 °C and 50% relative humidity. A 6 µL droplet from a syringe was gently settled on the sample surface by means of an automatic deposition system. The advancing contact angle was evaluated from the droplet shape by the computer program Win Drop + +. Then, $2 \mu L$ of the droplet volume was sucked into the syringe and the receding contact angle was calculated by the above mentioned program. The advancing and receding contact angles were measured for up to 10 droplets of each probe liquid [42]. Three liquids of known surface energy, distilled water (W), ethylene glycol (G) and diiodomethane (D) were selected to cover the range from very polar liquid (water) to non-polar liquid (diiodomethane). The values of the contact angles used in this paper are the average of at least 10 measured values at different places on the surface of each sample.

2.4. Apparent surface free energy (SFE) determination

Equilibrium contact angles were calculated from measurements of advancing and receding contact angles [43,44] on the PET plates. For this purpose, Eqs. (1a)–(1c) from Tadmor theory were used [45–47].

$$T_a \equiv \left(\frac{\sin^3 \theta_a}{(2 - 3\cos\theta_a + \cos^3\theta_a)}\right)^{1/3}$$
(1a)

$$\Gamma_r \equiv \left(\frac{\sin^3 \theta_r}{(2 - 3\cos\theta_r + \cos^3\theta_r)}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}}$$
(1b)

$$\theta_{Eq} = \arccos\left(\frac{\Gamma_a \cos\theta_a + \Gamma_r \cos\theta_r}{\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r}\right)$$
(1c)

 Γ_a and Γ_r are, respectively, the advancing and receding angle weight coefficients [48].

The SFE of solid surface, γ_S , was calculated using two different approaches. The first one is due to van Oss et al. (LWAB) [49–52], and

 γ_{S} , is determined from a series of measurements of advancing contact angles with three selected probe liquids of known characteristics. The following equation is then applied:

$$\gamma_l(1 + \cos\theta_a) = 2\sqrt{\gamma_s^{LW}\gamma_l^{LW}} + 2\sqrt{\gamma_s^+\gamma_l^-} + 2\sqrt{\gamma_s^-\gamma_l^+}$$

 γ_l is the liquid surface tension; θ_a , the (advancing) contact angle; $\gamma_{s/l}{}^{LW}$, the Lifshitz van der Waals component of solid/liquid free energy of interaction; $\gamma_{s/l}^+$ and $\gamma_{s/l}^-$, are the electron-acceptor and the electron-donor parameters, respectively, of the acid-base component of solid/ liquid free energy of interaction.

Another approach used in this research is the one proposed by Chibowski [53–55], based on the contact angle hysteresis (CAH). The equation used:

$$\gamma_{s} = \left(\frac{\gamma_{L} (1 + \cos\theta_{a})^{2}}{(2 + \cos\theta_{a} + \cos\theta_{r})}\right)$$
(3)

allows the determination of the apparent surface free energy [55], namely γ_s , where γ_L is the liquid surface tension; and θ_a and θ_r are the advancing and receding contact angles, respectively.

When the equilibrium contact angles (i.e., θ_{Eq}) are used for calculation of the apparent SFE, Eq. (3) is transformed into Eq. (4) [55]:

$$\gamma_{\rm s} = \frac{\gamma_L}{2} (1 + \cos \theta_{Eq}) \tag{4}$$

2.5. Topography investigations

Surface roughness of the untreated, and air- and argon-plasmatreated PET surfaces was investigated using an optical profilometer (Contour GT-K1, Veeco). The optical system allows the characterization of surface topography with a very high accuracy in the range of sizes from the sub-nanometer to the 10 mm. The experiments were done on three different samples (untreated, immediately plasma-treated and after two-week ageing of polymer) and repeated 3 times for each sample. The following surface roughness parameters were determined: average roughness (Ra), root-mean-squared roughness (R_{RMS} or Rq), and peak-to-valley difference (Rt). All surface topography parameters were calculated over the entire measured array and they jointly characterize the roughness of the surfaces in a quantitative way. Vision software (Veeco) [55–57] was used for the analysis of the data.

2.6. XPS (X-Ray photoelectron spectroscopy)

XPS spectra of PET polymer samples were obtained by a multi chamber UHV analytical system. The system, equipped with a monochromatic hemispheric analyser (R4000; VG Scienta), was used under UHV conditions in the analytic chamber, with vacuum at the 5 × 10⁻⁹ mbar level. The Casa XPS program was used for the XPS spectra data processing and the quantitative analysis of the surface properties of the examined samples.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Contact angles

The changes in wetting properties of the PET surface were monitored before and after air- and argon-plasma treatment by means of measurements of advancing and receding contact angles of the three probe liquids above mentioned. After plasma activation, the PET samples were stored into a desiccator and the ageing effect was studied by measuring the contact angles after 5, 10 and 15 days of storage time. Equilibrium contact angles, as defined by Eq. (4), were calculated for their use in the discussion of the hysteresis approach.

The untreated PET surfaces showed advancing water contact angles of the order of $83.5^{\circ} \pm 3.3^{\circ}$, which are in agreement with those



Colloids and Surfaces A 558 (2018) 322–329

Fig. 1. Water and diiodomethane advancing, receding and equilibrium contact angles measured on the PET plates treated with air and argon plasma.

reported by Yang et al. [58]. Air-plasma activation induced changes on the PET samples which manifested by a huge decrease of advancing water contact angles (measured immediately, after 1 min air-plasma treatment) up to values of $26.0^{\circ} \pm 1.7^{\circ}$ (Fig. 1). The same effect was found for ethylene glycol, although less pronounced (not shown here). Thus, as reported for other polymer surfaces [26,59,60], it is observed that also in the case of PET samples, the activation by air-plasma seems to induce appearance of surface polar groups that made them more hydrophilic. The values of the water contact angle prior to and after airplasma treatment at various storage times are presented in Fig. 2. There is an increase in the contact angles with the storage time, going from the initial 26.0° \pm 1.7°, to 45.4° \pm 3.4° (after 5 days), 52.1° \pm 3.2° (after 10 days), and almost the initial value, $72.8^{\circ} \pm 1.9^{\circ}$ (after 15 days), which seems to mean a loss of the activation efficiency. Similar trend of changes of contact angles for the other polar liquid (ethylene glycol) was also found. These findings demonstrate that the air-plasma PET surface activation causes an increase in its surface polarity. This increase could indicate the presence of induced oxidized functional groups. Nevertheless, the surface, modified by plasma, is clearly not stable. The rate of change of contact angles is, as mentioned above, greater during the first few days of ageing, while after about 15 days the surface gets stabilized (Fig. 2). The tendency to go back to the initial conditions of contact angle values, and thus to surface hydrophilicity, is an indication that, during sample storage, the surface layer is deactivated; one plausible explanation is that there are possible reaction of surface groups with atmospheric molecules and further molecular



Fig. 2. Water and diiodomethane advancing, receding and equilibrium contact angles measure on the PET plates treated with air plasma in relation to the storage time.

reorganization inside the surface layer [61,62]. Vandencasteele and Reniers [63] explain that, during the storage time of "plasma modified polymer surfaces" under air atmosphere, the polar groups that were formed on the surface of the material out of activation slowly disappeared in the sample bulk.

In the case of nonpolar diiodomethane as probe liquid, the advancing contact angle on PET samples remained unchanged after airplasma treatment (Fig. 1). The advancing contact angle is $50.2^{\circ} \pm 2.0^{\circ}$ and, after the plasma treatment, $51.5^{\circ} \pm 4.9^{\circ}$. As diiodomethane interacts with the surface by only London-dispersive forces, hence the changes in the contact angle after air-plasma treatment are not significant. During the next days after plasma treatment, the dispersion interactions remained almost unchanged over time; the change of diiodomethane contact angle is slight and equals only about $8.9^{\circ} \pm 2.0^{\circ}$ (Fig. 2), which indicates the main role of polar interactions for the airplasma treated PET surface.

For further evaluation of the effects of plasma activation on wetting properties, the PET plates were treated using argon under the same conditions. The application of low temperature argon gas plasma led to a significant reduction of the water contact angle, from the initial value of untreated sample $83.5^{\circ} \pm 3.3^{\circ}$, to $12.9^{\circ} \pm 4^{\circ}$ (see Fig. 1). The reduction is greater as compared to the effect of air-plasma activation, which indicates stronger interactions of this probe liquid with the PET surface. For PET modified with argon-plasma, a loss of activation efficiency was already observed after 5 days of ageing the (advancing) water contact angle increased from the initial (after plasma treatment) (Fig. 3) 13° to about 44°, and then remained stable; the water contact angle did not show any tendency to reach the initial value of 83.5°; in other words, the hydrophilic properties remained also beneficial after 15 days. It was thus proved that the working gas has a significant effect on the change in water contact angle during the sample storage. There were obtained similar results with the other polar liquid (ethylene glycol) and, again, the changes during storage time were not significant (no shown).

In the case of diiodomethane with the argon-plasma treatment, the advancing contact angle decreased to $23.3^{\circ} \pm 2.3^{\circ}$ (Fig. 1). This is in contrast with the results obtained for the air-plasma treatment under the same conditions. After 5 days, the contact angles reach the initial values and then remain stable (Fig. 3); this suggests that the dispersive interactions become stable after this short period.

If we compare the effects of the different kinds of plasma gas modification, it is clear that argon-plasma treatment makes the greatest changes in surface wettability. In the case of air-plasma treatment, the value of advancing water contact angle is 26.0°; after argon-plasma activation, it is 12.9°. Similar results were obtained for ethylene glycol.



Fig. 3. Water and diiodomethane advancing, receding and equilibrium contact angles measured on the PET plates treated with air plasma in relation to the storage time.



Fig. 4. Surface free energy values based on CAH approach for plasma activated PET plates using an equilibrium water contact angles in relation to the treatment and storage time.

The smallest changes of contact angle values for all the PET samples under analysis were observed for nonpolar diiodomethane (Fig. 1). This proves that the London-dispersion interactions do not change to a large extent [64].

3.2. Apparent surface free energy (SFE)

Measured advancing and receding contact angles were used to calculate the SFE of PET samples treated with air- and argon-plasmas. This was done by using both the SFE components LWAB [49–52] and the contact angle hysteresis (CAH) [53–55] approaches. The analysis of polymeric wetting properties is better done from the values of SFE than from contact angle data, which are the direct consequence of the former quantity. Furthermore, the comparison of the values of the SFE obtained from the two above approaches provides more information about energetic changes occurring on the surface as an effect of plasma used.

Interesting data can be obtained by using only the calculated equilibrium water contact angle and CAH approach. Fig. 4 shows the values of SFE of the PET samples calculated from the CAH approach expressed as the equilibrium contact angles of water obtained using the Tadmor's [45,46] derivations. It was found that the largest change in the SFE resulting from activation of the PET surface layer was obtained with argon-plasma. SFE increased from 45.3 mJ/ m² to 71.2 mJ/m² after the argon treatment, and to 69.8 mJ/m² in the case of air. It can be clearly seen that the exposure of PET surface to the air/argon-plasma caused a decrease in water contact angle as a result of the increase in the SFE given by the CAH approach.

Regardless of ageing time, the total SFE shows different trends during the studied period of ageing. In the case of air-plasma treatment, the largest reduction was observed; after 15 days of storage, the SFE decreased from 69.8 mJ/m^2 to 52.7 mJ/m^2 , which is closer to the untreated value. Interpretation of effects of ageing after plasma activation must take into account both the extent of the increase of surface energy after plasma treatment, and the nature of the molecules in contact with the surface during the ageing process. Obviously, activation by plasma treatment creates active sites on the surface that depend on the nature of the gas used in the plasma. These sites, in turn, will interact with the air of the storage place and deactivate the surface at different rates; this will depend on the type of the functional groups created during the activation process as well as the ability of the resulting surface groups to rearrange themselves into a more stable configuration [65]. In particular, the polar groups created after the air-plasma treatment may play a key role in determining post-treatment increased hydrophilicity of the polymer surface. As shown in Fig. 4, given the high reactivity of these groups against air molecules, this effect is not permanent and

gradually disappears with storage time. Argon-plasma treatment, however, causes a different activation mechanism other than air-plasma treatment; permanent surface alteration is provoked by polymer chain-breaking induced by argon activation. Thus, the value of SFE of about 65 mJ/m^2 after 15 days of storage is quite close to the initial value after argon-plasma treatment (Fig. 4).

As it can be seen in Fig. 6, the average total SFEs obtained by CAH and LWAB approaches are comparable, which indicates that these methods are complementary. It is worth mentioning that the total SFE calculated from the CAH approach in this case is expressed as an arithmetic mean of the values assessed separately from the contact angles hysteresis of water, ethylene glycol and diiodomethane. By comparing those approaches (Fig. 6), it was found that the largest change in the SFE was obtained with argon activation in the case of the CAH approach. The SFE of the untreated PET surface is $39.4 \pm 0.9 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ (CAH) and $36.1 \pm 0.7 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ (LWAB). Using the CAH approach, the calculated values after activation were $50.0 \pm 0.8 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ (air) and $55.9 \pm 0.4 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ (argon); using the LWAB approach, the results were $34.4 \pm 1.7 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ and $46.7 \pm 0.8 \text{ mJ/m}^2$. Comparing the initial values with those after the plasma treatment, using LWAB, almost no change was observed in the case of air-plasma.

Useful information about time dependency of SFE can be obtained from the values of the estimated electron-donor parameter of the SFE acid-base component, γ_S^- [54]. Fig. 5 shows a large increase of this parameter after plasma activation, more than threefold, from 20.6 \pm 1.8 mJ/m² to 69 \pm 0.9 mJ/m², in the case of air-plasma, and to 64 \pm 0.8 mJ/m², in case of argon-plasma treatment. Those values suffer an important decrease with the storage time, although after a period of observation of 15 days, one can conclude that PET samples activated by air-plasma recover the values prior to the treatment, which indicates an almost complete deactivation of the polymer surface. Contrary to this, samples activated by argon-plasma show a moderate decrease of γ_S ⁻, which is maintained in a value close to 50 mJ/m². This behaviour shows again, as discussed above, that ageing affects in a very different way PET samples treated by argon- or air-plasma. In the first case, the surface remains activated after plasma treatment and later storage for moderate time. In the second case, the nature of the active sites on the surface allows the deactivation of the surface after its exposure to atmosphere. In some way, γ_{s} - measures the extent of oxygencontaining moieties in the surface after plasma treatment; plasma treatment increases the number of polar groups (Fig. 5), thus the SFE also increases (Fig. 6) and the surface becomes more hydrophilic (Figs. 2 and 3).

Based on the above considerations, we can conclude that the changes of the SFE of samples result from a series of surface chemical changes induced by plasma treatment, which become modulated by the interactions with the atmospheric molecules during storage. There are





Fig. 6. Surface free energy calculated using an equilibrium contact angles for PET samples based on the CAH and LWAB approaches in relation to the treatment and storage time.

two immediate consequences: surface topography as well as surface chemical composition should reflect these changes. Below we will pay attention to both phenomena.

3.3. Surface roughness

Plasma activation usually results in an increase in roughness in every treatment [65]. R_{RMS} (R_a), or root mean square index, is the preferred parameter to compare roughness of the samples, because it is insensitive to the local topographical heterogeneity of the surface. Other parameters, cited above, are average roughness (Ra) and peak-tovalley difference (Rt). Table 1 displays the values of surface roughness parameters for untreated samples of PET as well as for samples immediately plasma-treated and after two weeks of activation. The general rule is that the surfaces become rougher with any plasma treatment. In the case of air-plasma, the average roughness (R_{RMS}) for the untreated surface is 1000.7 \pm 101.4 nm; after plasma treatment, this rises to 1060.54 \pm 143.5 nm. A similar increase is observed in the case of R_a and R_t values (Table 1). Significant changes in roughness were also observed by Jorda-Vilaplana et al. [66], who used the same plasma treatment but for a different material, i.e., polylactic acid (PLA). The activation of our PET samples with argon-plasma resulted in increased surface roughness. The increase of all surface roughness parameters after argon-plasma treatment was significantly higher than after airplasma treatment (Table 1). A similar pattern was found with contact angles, where argon-plasma activation induced the most significant changes (see Fig. 1). The huge increase in roughness in the case of argon treatment can be clearly seen from the $R_{\rm RMS}$ value, from 1000.7 ± 101.4 nm in untreated samples to 1328 ± 150 nm in treated samples. In both plasma treatment cases the results of the

Topography parameters of the PET surface, before and after plasma modification.

Parameters	Untreated	Air-plasma, immediate	Air-plasma 2 weeks ageing
R _a (nm) R _{RMS} (nm) R _t (nm)	$\begin{array}{r} 827.7 \pm \ 61.4 \\ 1000.7 \pm \ 101.4 \\ 1560.4 \pm \ 242.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 855.9 \ \pm \ 122.9 \\ 1060.5 \ \pm \ 143.5 \\ 1685.0 \ \pm \ 109.7 \end{array}$	810.8 ± 61.4 1050.7 ± 101.4 1724.3 ± 246.2
Parameters	Untreated	Argon-plasma, immediate	Argon-plasma 2 weeks ageing
R _a (nm) R _{RMS} (nm) R _t (nm)	827.7 ± 61.4 1000.7 ± 101.4 1560.4 ± 242.2	1000.0 ± 119.19 1328.0 ± 150.2 1940.8 ± 109.7	$\begin{array}{r} 1260.0 \pm 61.4 \\ 1780.7 \pm 101.4 \\ 2416.4 \pm 246.2 \end{array}$



Fig. 7. Surface topography form optical profilometry for a) untreated, b) air treated and c) argon treated PET samples.

surface roughness parameters after 2 weeks showed a different tendency (Table 1). After 2 weeks, R_a is 810 nm in the case of air-plasma treatment, which is very close to the initial values; however, in the case of argon-plasma treatment, the R_a remains almost the same as the values after treatment, which is 1260 nm. Regarding storage time effect, this behaviour is in agreement with what happens with contact angles, SFE and electron-donor parameters. To get a better understanding of the surface structures, Fig. 7 shows the images obtained by using optical profilometry (the size of the surface is $0.94 \times 1.3 \text{ mm}^2$). Higher magnification images were taken from the profilometer. Air/argon-plasma activation of the PET surface results in increased surface roughness; furthermore, the untreated surface on PET exhibits a more homogeneous structure in comparison with the plasma-treated PET surface, which is non-uniform.

3.4. XPS analysis

X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) analysis is the usual technique to probe for the identification of chemical grafted groups. XPS measurements were conducted to gain insight into the changes in the chemical composition of treated and untreated PET surfaces. It is important to note that, during the XPS analysis, only a 3–6 nm depth was analysed and the results were the mean of the information collected from this thin surface layer of the material [38]. The results obtained from the survey scan XPS spectra are given in Table 2. The survey spectra show that the elements identified are carbon (C1s), oxygen (O1s) and nitrogen (N1s). Table 2 also provides the percentage

Table 2

Elemental surface chemical compositions (expressed in percentages) of nontreated and plasma-treated PET samples, as calculated from the XPS survey spectra.

Component	UNTREATED	AIR, immediate	AIR 2 weeks ageing
С	79.7	70.3	71.0
0	19.1	28.1	26.8
Ν	1.2	1.6	2.2
Component	UNTREATED	ARGON, immediate	Argon 2 weeks ageing
С	79.7	67.3	61.8
0			
0	19.1	30.0	29.3

contributions of carbon and oxygen atoms on the PET surface. The content of carbon atoms decreases just after the air-plasma treatment from 77.9% to 70.3%, whereas the percentage contribution of oxygen increases significantly from 19.1% up to 28.1%. After plasma treatment, some nitrogen atoms appear. The ratio of oxygen to carbon concentration increases considerably from 0.24 to 0.4 as a result of oxygen increase after plasma treatment [67,68]. PET plasma treatment generates polymer chain-breaking for some of the polymer bonds, which is proved by the decrease in the percentage of C content. On the basis of the results, we can infer that the air-plasma surface treatment changes the content of oxygen moieties, which happen to be responsible for the changes of the surface wetting properties (see above). In the case of argon treatment, the content of carbon atoms decreases to 67.3% and the oxygen amount increases to 30%. In this case, the ratio of oxygen to carbon concentration rose to 0.45; compared with the air treatment, this is much greater.

Table 3 shows the amounts of differently bonded carbon atoms obtained from the deconvolution of the C1s spectrum; this reveals the changes induced by plasma treatment of the surface compositions. The component C–C decreased from 75.7 to 69.5 after air-plasma treatment and, at the same time, C=O appeared, and the oxygen containing polar groups C–O and O=C–O increased (Table 3, Fig. 8). These results show that C–C/C–H bonds decrease significantly after plasma

Table 3

Concentration of the different chemical bonds in PET surface, for untreated (UT) and plasma-treated samples, at different storage times.

		Concentration on the surface [%]				
Component	Structure	UT	AIR, immediate	AIR 2 weeks ageing	Argon	Argon 2 weeks ageing
С	C1 + C2	75.7	69.5	67.1	61.2	63.2
	C3	13.7	13.9	14.6	16.9	15.2
	N1	-				
	C4	10.6	12.0	12.7	18.2	17.8
	C5	-	4.6	5.6	3.6	3.7
0	01	47.8	66.5	67.2	61.0	63.3
	02	52.2	28.8	28.9	37.0	34.8
Ν	N2 + N3	-	32.4	67.0	28.0	22.4
	N4	-	56.6	-	53.9	47.9
	N5	-	-	11.9	-	-
	N6	-	11.0	21.1	18.1	29.7



Fig. 8. Squematic illustration of functional groups before and after the plasma activation.

treatment and that the concentration of oxygen- and nitrogen-containing polar groups (i.e. -OH, C-O, O=C-O, C=O and N-CO-N) increase on the plasma treated polymer surface. Air-plasma can break some of the C-C bonds in the polymer surface, which can get recombined with oxygen atoms (Fig. 8). This chemical modification leading to incorporation of functional groups onto the PET surface is mainly responsible for the changes of the surface polarity, which affects the wetting properties of the material.

Argon-plasma activation helps to increase the concentration of C–O and O–C=O groups, and decreases the number of C–C and C–H functional groups (Table 3). As follows from the results, during activation, the surface energy balance is disturbed and, therefore, different kinds of functional groups can be readily attached (Table 3, Fig. 8). The changes are consistent with the previous conclusions drawn from the analysis of contact angles (lower contact angles and increased wettability, see Fig. 1). In addition to the O element, the N element also improves surface wettability by introducing, by the action of the airplasma, nitrogen-containing functional groups like amine, amide or quaternary nitrogen (Fig. 8). The results also showed that new hydrophilic bonds appeared (Fig. 8) and that some hydrophobic bonds (C–C) of PET samples were modified during plasma treatment. All these facts resulted in a significant effect on the chemical composition and properties of PET samples.

Finally, the stability of the activated PET surfaces was studied by placing the samples in a desiccator for 2 weeks. After 2 weeks of storage, the carbon content slightly decreased to 71%, in the case of airplasma treatment; experiments involving the sample storage for fewer than 14 days were not performed. The oxygen content was still slightly higher than the initial oxygen concentration, which remained close to the theoretical value of pure PET (Table 2).

The reported results demonstrate that the oxygen-to-carbon ratio slightly decreases with the time of storage compared with the measurements just after air/argon-plasma treatment.

4. Conclusion

The experimental results obtained by measuring contact angles in PET samples, before and after surface activation with air- and argonplasmas allowed the calculation of PET surface free energy. A study was then performed to cater for the influence of sample storage time on surface properties. Some important conclusions can be drawn from the comparison of the sequencing of changes of contact angles, topographic images and XPS surface chemical data. After the air/argon-plasma treatment, the polymer surface becomes more hydrophilic and, consequently, the values of contact angles are lower. Additionally, this effect is intensified because of the increased polar interactions of the surface (see polar component of SFE, Fig. 5). When PET surface is treated, its roughness also increases (Table 1). These findings can be interpreted not only by the modifications of surface roughness (plasma etching), but also by the changes of the surface chemical composition (plasma cleaning of the surface and insertion of oxygen containing surface groups). The impact of the activation of PET samples by plasma treatment on wettability and the electron-donor parameter of SFE is due to various post-treatment oxygen species formed on the PET surface.

Regarding the ageing effect on the properties of plasma-treated surfaces, the results show a loss of the initial activation originated by plasma treatment. There is a complete loss in case of air-plasma activation after a period of 15 days. However, when PET is treated with argon plasma, the surface (mainly manifested by the values of its SFE) becomes stable after a short period of time and becomes activated in comparison with its previous, non-treated, state. The following are some of the mechanisms involved in the process of activation and deactivation of PTE surface during air/argon-plasma treatment and further ageing in open atmosphere: Appearance of functional groups involving the C, O and N atoms; reorientation of polar groups of the surface; or diffusion of those groups into the bulk, reaction of free radicals arising from the activated surface with the molecules of the air. They all jointly explain the surface properties studied in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The research was carried out with the equipment purchased thanks to the financial support of the European Regional Development Fund in the framework of the Polish Innovation Economy Operational Programme (contract no. POIG.02.01.00-06-024/09 Centre for Functional Nanomaterials).

References

- N. Sánchez-Arrieta, A. Martínez de Ilarduya, A. Alla, S. Muñoz-Guerra, Poly(ethylene terephthalate) copolymers containing 1, 4-cyclohexane dicarboxylate units, Eur. Polym. J. 41 (2005) 1493–1501.
- [2] N. De Geyter, R. Morent, C. Leys, L. Gengembre, E. Payen, S. Van Vlierberghe, DBD treatment of polyethylene terephthalate: atmospheric versus medium pressure treatment. Surf. Coat. Technol. 202 (2008) 3000–3010.
- [3] T. Jacobs, R. Morent, N. De Geyter, T. Desmet, P. Dubruel, C. Leys, Plasma treatment of polycaprolactone at medium pressure, Surf. Coat. Technol. 205 (2011) 2256–2261.
- [4] K.N. Pandiyaraj, V. Selvarajan, R.R. Deshmukh, M. Bousmina, The effect of glow discharge plasma on the surface properties of poly (ethylene terephthalate) (PET) film, Surf. Coat. Technol. 202 (2008) 4218–4226.
- [5] V. Svorcik, A. Chaloupka, P. Rezanka, P. Slepicka, Z. Kolska, N. Kasalkova, T. Hubacek, J. Siegel, Au-nanoparticles grafted on plasma treated PE, Rad. Phys. Chem. 79 (2010) 315–317.
- [6] V. Svorcik, A. Reznickova, P. Sajdl, Z. Kolska, Z. Makajova, P. Slepicka, Au nanoparticles grafted on plasma treated polymers, J. Mater. Sci. 46 (2011) 7917–7922.
- [7] S. Rimpelova, N. Kasalkova, P. Slepicka, H. Lemerova, V. Svorcik, T. Ruml, Plasma treated polyethylene grafted with adhesive molecules for enhanced adhesion and growth of fibroblasts, Mater. Sci. Eng. C 33 (2013) 1116–1124.
- [8] M. Parizek, N. Slepickova Kasalkova, L. Bacakova, Z. Svindrych, P. Slepicka, M. Bacakova, V. Lisa, V. Svorcik, Adhesion, Growth, and Maturation of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells on Low-Density Polyethylene Grafted with Bioactive Substances, Biomed Res. Int. (2013) 371430.
- [9] N. Kasálková, Z. Makajová, M. Pařízek, P. Slepička, K. Kolářová, L. Bačáková, V. Hnatowicz, V. Švorčík, Cell adhesion and proliferation on plasma-treated and poly(ethylene glycol)-Grafted polyethylene, J. Adhes. Sci. Technol. 24 (4) (2010) 743–754.
- [10] A. Reznickova, P. Slepicka, H.Y. Nguyenova, Z. Kolska, M. Dendisova, V. Svorcika, Copper–gold sandwich structures on PE and PET and their SERS enhancement effect, RSC Adv. 7 (2017) 23055–23064.
- [11] P. Záková, N. Slepičková Kasálková, P. Slepička, Z. Kolská, J. Karpíšková, I. Stiborc, V. Švorčík, Cytocompatibility of polyethylene grafted with triethylenetetramine functionalized carbon nanoparticles, Appl. Surf. Sci. 422 (2017) 809–816.
- [12] M. Parizek, N. Kasalkova, L. Bacakova, P. Slepicka, V. Lisa, M. Blazkova, V. Svorcik, Improved adhesion, growth and maturation of vascular smooth muscle cells on polyethylene grafted with bioactive molecules and carbon particles, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 10 (2009) 4352–4374.

S.P. Huertas et al.

- [13] P. Slepička, I. Michaljaničová, N. Slepičková, Z.Kolská Kasálková, S. Rimpelová, T. Ruml, V. Švorčík, Poly-L-lactic acid modified by etching and grafting with gold nanoparticles, J. Mater. Sci. 48 (2013) 5871–5879.
- [14] L. Bacakova, J. Zarubova, M. Travnickova, J. Musilkova, J. Pajorova, P. Slepicka, N. Slepickov Kasalkova, V. Svorcik, Z. Kolska, H. Motarjemi, M. Molitor, Stem cells: their source, potency and use in regenerative therapies with focus on adipose-derived stem cells – a review, Biotechnol. Adv. 36 (2018) 1111–1126.
- [15] R. Adams, Adhesive Bonding: Science, Technology and Applications, first ed., Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge, 2005.
- [16] M. Żenkiewicz, Methods for the calculation of surface free energy of solids, J. Achiev. Mater. Manuf. Eng. 24 (2007) 137–145.
- [17] A.A. El-Saftawy, S.A. Abd El Aal, M.S. Ragheb, S.G. Zakhary, Beam interactions with materials and atoms, Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. B 322 (2014) 48–53.
 [18] J. Behnisch, A. Hollander, H. Zimmermann, Surface modification of polyethylene
- [18] J. Bennstein, A. Honander, R. Zimmermann, Surface modification of polyethylete by remote dc discharge plasma treatment, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 49 (1993) 117–124.
 [19] C. Cheng, Z. Liye, R.J. Zhan, Surface modification of polymer fibre by the new
- atmospheric pressure cold plasma jet, Surf. Coat. Technol. 200 (2006) 6659–6665.
 [20] E. Temmerman, Y. Akishev, N. Trushkin, C. Leys, V. Verschuren, Surface modification with a surface modernic program of a surface modernic program.
- ification with a remote atmospheric pressure plasma: dc glow discharge and surface streamer regime, J. Phys. D Appl. Phys. 38 (2005) 505–509.
 [21] N. Médard, J.C. Soutif, F. Poncin-Epaillard, Characterization of CO2 plasma-treated
- polyethylene surface bearing carboxylic groups, Surf. Coat. Technol. 160 (2002) 197–205.
- [22] G.A.J. Takens, J. Terlingen, J. Feijen, Ageing of carbon dioxide plasma treated polyethylene surfaces, Proceedings of the 11th International Symposium on Plasma Chemistry 3 (1993) 1236–1241.
- [23] D.S. Kumar, M. Fujioka, K. Asano, A. Shoji, A. Jayakrishnan, Y. Yoshida, Surface modification of poly(ethylene terephthalate) by plasma polymerization of poly (ethylene glycol), J. Mater. Sci. 18 (2007) 1831–1835.
- [24] K.N. Pandiyaraj, V. Selvarajan, R.R. Deshmukh, C. Gao, Adhesive properties of polypropylene (PP) and polyethylene terephthalate (PET) film surfaces treated by DC glow discharge plasma, Vacuum 5 (2008) 332–339.
- [25] A. Vesel, I. Junkar, U. Cvelbar, J. Kovac, M. Mozetic, Surface modification of polyester by oxygen and nitrogen plasma treatment, Surf. Interface Anal. 40 (2008) 1444–1453.
- [26] S. Guruvenket, G.M. Rao, M. Komath, Plasma surface modification of polystyrene and polyethylene, Appl. Surf. Sci. 236 (2004) 278–284.
- [27] R. Riccardi, R. Barni, E. Selli, G. Mazzone, M.R. Massafra, B. Marcandalli, G. Poletti, Surface modification of Poly(ethylene terephthalate) fibres induced by radio frequency air-plasma treatment, Appl. Surf. Sci. 211 (2003) 386–397.
- [28] D. Hegemann, H. Brunner, C. Oehr, Deposition rate and three-dimensional uniformity of RF plasma deposited SiOx films, Surf. Coat. Technol. 142 (2001) 849–855.
- [29] M. Tontini, Processi a plasma freddo per la modifica de lle proprieta` ottiche de lle superfici, Degree thesis at University of Milano, 2004.
- [30] N. Krstulovic, I. Labazan, S. Milosevic, U. Cvelbar, A. Vesel, M. Mozetic, Optical emission spectroscopy characterization of oxygen plasma during treatment of a PET foil, J. Phys. D Appl. Phys. 39 (2006) 3799–3804.
- [31] I. Junkar, U. Cvelbar, A. Vesel, N. Hauptman, M. Mozetic, The Role of crystallinity on polymer interaction with oxygen plasma Plasma, Process. Polym. 6 (2009) 667–675.
- [32] R. Cueff, G. Baud, M. Benmalek, J.P. Besse, J.R. Butruille, M. Jacquet, X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy studies of plasma-modified PET surface and alumina/PET interface, Appl. Surf. Sci. 115 (1997) 292–298.
- [33] J. Lai, B. Sunderland, J. Xue, S. Yan, W. Zhao, M. Folkard, B.D. Michael, Y. Wang, Study on hydrophilicity of polymer surfaces improved by plasma treatment, Appl. Surf. Sci. 252 (2006) 3375–3379.
- [34] N. Inagaki, K. Narushim, N. Tuchida, K. Miyazaki, Surface characterization of plasma-modified poly(ethylene terephthalate) film surfaces, J. Polym. Sci. B 42 (2004) 3727–3740.
- [35] J. Larrieu, F. Clement, B. Held, N. Soulem, F. Luthon, C. Guimon, H. Martinez, Analysis of microscopic modifications and macroscopic surface properties of polystyrene film treated under DC pulsed discharge conditions, Surf. Interface Anal. 37 (2005) 544.
- [36] M.R. Wertheimer, A.C. Fozza, A. Hollander, Industrial processing of polymers by low-pressure plasmas: the role of VUV radiation, Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. B 151 (1999) 65–75.
- [37] L.J. Gerenser, Surface chemistry of plasma-treated polymers, in: D.A. Glocker, S.I. Shah, W.D. Westwood (Eds.), Handbook of Thin Film Process Technology, IOP, Bristol, 1998.
- [38] R. Tadmor, R. Das, S. Gulec, J. Liu, H.E. N'guessan, M. Shah, P.S. Wasnik, S.B. Yadav, Solid – Liquid work of adhesion, Langmuir 33 (2017) 3594–3600.

- [39] C.W. Extrand, Comment on "Solid–Liquid work of adhesion", Langmuir 33 (2017) 9241–9242.
- [40] S. Gulec, S. Yadav, R. Das, R. Tadmor, Reply to Comment on "Solid-Liquid Work of Adhesion", Langmuir 33 (2017) 13899–13901.
- [41] R. Morent, N. De Geyter, C. Leys, L. Gengembre, E. Payen, Study of the ageing behaviour of polymer films treated with a dielectric barrier discharge in air, helium and argon at medium pressure, Surf. Coat. Technol. 201 (2007) 7847–7854.
- [42] D. Rymuszka, K. Terpiłowski, Influence of volume drop on surface free energy of glass Annal Univ, Mariae Curie-Skłodowska AA 68 (2013) 121–132.
- [43] L. Holysz, K. Terpilowski, V. Zarko, E. Chibowski, Super-hydrophobic polystyrene layers filled with silica on glass, Surf. Innov. 1 (2013) 52–59.
- [44] K. Terpilowski, D. Rymuszka, L. Hołysz, M. Ilnicki, Surface properties of metal alloys used in aviation after plasma treatment, Surf. Interface Anal. 49 (2017) 647–653.
- [45] R. Tadmor, Line energy and the relation between advancing, receding, and Young contact angles, Langmuir 20 (2004) 7659–7664.
- [46] R. Tadmor, P.S. Yadav, As-placed contact angles for sessile drops, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 317 (2008) 241–246.
- [47] R. Tadmor, Line energy, line tension and drop size, Surf. Sci. 602 (2008) 108-111.
- [48] K. Terpilowski, Surface free energy of superhydrophobic materials obtained by deposition of polymeric particles on glass, in: K.L. Mittal (Ed.), Advances in Contact Angle, Wettability and Adhesion 2, Willey, New Jersey, 2015.
- [49] C.J. Van Oss, M.J. Roberts, R.J. Good, M.K. Chaudhury, Determination of the apolar component of the surface tension of water by contact angle measurements on gels, Colloids Surf. 23 (1987) 369–389.
- [50] C.J. Van Oss, M.J. Chaudhury, R.J. Good, Interfacial Lifshitz-van der Waals and polar interactions in macroscopic systems, Chem. Rev. 88 (1988) 927–941.
- [51] C.J. Van Oss, L. Ju, M.K. Chaudhury, R.J. Good, Estimation of the polar parameters of the surface tension of liquids by contact angle measurements on gels, Colloids Interface Sci. Commun. 128 (1989) 313–319.
- [52] C.J. Van Oss, Acid-base interfacial interactions in aqueous media, Colloids Surf. A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 78 (1993) 1–49.
- [53] E. Chibowski, Surface free energy and wettability of silyl layers on silicon determined from contact angle hysteresis, Adv. Colloid Interface Sci. 113 (2005) 121–131.
- [54] E. Chibowski, contact angle hysteresis due to film present behind the drop, contact angle, in: K.L. Mittal (Ed.), Contact Angle, Wettability and Adhesion 2, Willey, New Jersey, 2002.
- [55] E. Chibowski, K. Terpiłowski, Comparison of apparent surface free energy of some solids determined by different approaches, in: K.L. Mittal (Ed.), Contact Angle, Wettability and Adhesion 2, Willey, New Jersey, 2009.
- [56] I. Horcas, R. Fernandez, J.M. Gomez-Rodriguez, J. Colchero, J. Gomez-Herrero, A.M. Baro, WS x M: a software for scanning probe microscopy and a tool for nanotechnology, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 78 (2007) 013705.
- [57] www.nanotec.es.[homepage on the internet]. Spain [Cited 2018 May 11]. Available from: http://www.nanotec.es/.
- [58] L. Yang, J. Chen, Y. Guo, Z. Zhang, Surface modification of a biomedical polyethylene terephthalate (PET) by air-plasma, Appl. Surf. Sci. 255 (2009) 4446–4451.
- [59] Q. Wei, Q. Li, X. Wang, F. Huang, W. Gao, Dinamic water adsorption behaviour of plasma-treated polypropylene nonwovens, Polym. Test. 25 (2006) 717–722.
- [60] A.M. Abdul-Kader, A. Turos, R.M. Radwan, A.M. Kelany, Surface energy of ultrahigh molecular weight polyethylene modified by electron and gamma irradiation, Appl. Surf. Sci. 255 (2009) 7786–7790.
- [61] R. Tadmor, P. Bahadur, A. Leh, H.E. N'guessan, R. Jaini, L. Dang, Measurement of lateral adhesion forces at the interface between a liquid drop and a substrate, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (26610) (2009) 1–4.
- [62] R. Tadmor, Approaches in wetting phenomena, Soft Matter 7 (2011) 1577–1580.
 [63] N. Vandencasteele, F. Reniers, Plasma-modified polymer surfaces: character- ization
- using XPS, J. Electron Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom. 178-9 (2010) 394-408.
- [64] E. Bormashenko, R. Pogreb, T. Stein, G. Whyman, M. Erlich, A. Musin, V. Machavariani, D. Aurbach, Characterization of rough surfaces with vibrated drops, Phys. Chem. 27 (2008) 4056–4061.
- [65] R.M. Rasal, A.V. Janorkar, D.E. Hirt, Poly(lactic acid) modifications, Prog. Polym. Sci. 35 (2010) 338–356.
- [66] A. Jorda-Vilaplana, V. Fombuena, D. Garcia-Garcia, M.D. Samper, L. Sanchez-Nacher, Surface modification of polylactic acid in a medium pressure DBD, Eur. Polym. J. 58 (2014) 23–33.
- [67] A. Vesel, M. Mozetic, Modification of PET surface by nitrogen plasma treatment, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 100 (2008) 012027.
- [68] I.A. Rusu, G. Popa, S.O. Saied, J.L. Sullivan, Ar plasma treatment of PET films for Si films adhesion improvement, J. Optoelectron. Adv. Mater. 8 (2006) 1935–1938.

Appendix 3

Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatine dispersions gelled on cold plasma-activated glass (third paper of the "compendium")

Food Hydrocolloids 96 (2019) 224-230

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Food Hydrocolloids

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foodhyd

Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatin dispersions gelled on cold plasma-activated glass



Food Hydrocolloids

Salvador Pérez-Huertas^a, Konrad Terpiłowski^a, Marta Tomczyńska-Mleko^b, Katsuyoshi Nishinari^{c,d}, Stanisław Mleko^{e,*}

^a Department of Physical Chemistry-Interfacial Phenomena, Maria Curie Skłodowska University, M. Curie Skłodowska Sq. 3, 20-031, Lublin, Poland

^b Institute of Plant Genetics, Breeding and Biotechnology, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Akademicka Street 15, 20-950, Lublin, Poland

^cGraduate School of Human Life Science, Osaka City University, 3-3-138 Sugimoto, Sumiyoshi, Osaka, 558-8585, Japan

^d Department of Food and Pharmaceutical Engineering, Hubei University of Technology, Wuchan, Wuhan, 430068, China

^e Department of Milk Technology and Hydrocolloids, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Skromna 8, 20-704, Lublin, Poland

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Cold plasma Wettability Roughness Rheology Egg white protein Gelatin

ABSTRACT

Thin layers of egg white albumin/gelatin gel have been formed on glass plates previously treated by cold plasma, using oxygen, air and argon gases. After gelation, the gels were detached from the support and the inner surface previously attached to the plate was investigated. Water contact angles were measured on the detached films and their wettability studied in terms of surface free energy changes induced by the contact with the glass support treated with different gases cold plasma. The effect of increasing concentration of gelatin in the gel was also studied. Pre-treatment with oxygen plasma manifested the most significant changes of wetting properties of the films. A novel method was applied to obtain samples with the same thickness and the viscoelastic properties were measured. As expected, increasing gelatin concentration caused the formation of stronger (higher G^*) gels. Gels formed on oxygen plasma treated glass support were the strongest. Optical profilometry was used for the characterization of the gels surface topography. It was found that the surfaces become rougher with the plasma treatend glass usport, no regard which gas was used. Increased roughness of the gels caused a decrease in the contact angles. This paper shows, for the first time in the literature, that even when the gel is not treated directly by cold plasma, but it is obtained on pretreated support, it is an effective method to change its surface and rheological properties.

1. Introduction

Gelatin is one of the most popular gelling agent widely used in food, biomedical or pharmaceutical industries. It is a protein obtained by hydrolysis from collagen connective tissue of muscles, skin and bones of animals. Gelling temperature of gelatin is about 40 °C. The formed gels are stabilized by hydrogen and electrostatic bonds, with additional hydrophobic interactions (Tadeo, Lopez-Mendez, Castano, Trigueros, & Millet, 2009). Some of its most attractive properties are biodegradability, excellent biocompatibility, non-antigenicity, plasticity and adhesiveness together with the ability to detach the gel from the support (Pieracci, Crivello, & Belfort, 1999). Hence, this biopolymer was chosen as a proper candidate to be mixed with another protein to build the desired mixed gels. Egg white proteins, in the form of boiled eggs, are the most known heat-induced gels. Egg white protein is treated as nutritional standard of protein with excellent amino acids composition (Nyemb, Guérin, Pézennec, Jardin, Briard-Bion, Cauty, 2016). Egg white is composed of different proteins: ovalbumin (54%), ovotransferrin (12%) and lysozyme (3.5%). All of them can be transformed into gels via heating process. The most important interactions in heatinduced gelation process of egg white proteins are: electrostatic, hydrophobic and formation of disulfide bonds (Gu, Su, Zhang, Zheng, Zhang, McClements, 2017). Egg white albumen has been used as matrix for different active ingredients release (Somchue, Sermsri, Shiowatana, & Siripinyanond, 2009; Su et al., 2015). Mixed gels of egg white albumen with other hydrocolloids created practically unlimited possibilities for gels with different textures, viscoelasticity and surface properties (Hu, Liang, Xu, Wang, An, Yan, 2016; Liu, Zhu, Ye, Wan, Wang, Wang, 2013; Su et al., 2015; van den Berg, Jara, Pilosof, & Renata, 2015). Badii and Howell (2006) found, that a mixture of gelatin and egg albumen (3:10) gave greater storage modulus value than expected from just adding the values from the singular gels. In such techniques as

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* dairywhey@tlen.pl (S. Mleko).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2019.05.029

Received 18 December 2018; Received in revised form 26 March 2019; Accepted 17 May 2019 Available online 19 May 2019 0268-005X/ © 2019 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. phase contrast microscopy and differential scanning calorimetry they showed interactions between egg white albumen and gelatin.

Cold plasma may refer to a kind of surface "activation". Depending on the plasma gases and conditions used, some of the most important consequences of the activation are: change in surface properties without affecting the bulk material, organic contaminants removal and the formation of functional groups on the surface (Chan, Ko, & Hiraoka, 1996; Chu, Chen, Wang, & Huang, 2002). These changes result in increased bonding, chemical inertness or adhesion improvement (Yamamoto, Okubo, Imai, & Mori, 2004). Glass is widely used as support in many applications. It has low price, it is amorphous and heat resistant. Furthermore, it is frequently found in contact with the foodstuff, in particular in the packaging industry; so, we decided to choose this material in our study as support for gels forming. Glass has been used previously as a support for biological (Chibowski, Jurak, Hołysz, & Szcześ, 2014), surfactants (Szymczyk & Janczuk, 2008) or superhydrophobic layers (Chibowski, Hołysz, & Terpiłowski, 2006; Holysz, Terpiłowski, Zarko, & Chibowski, 2013; Terpiłowski, Rymuszka, Goncharuk, Sulym, & Gun'ko, 2015; Terpiłowski, 2015). The influence of cold plasma on glass support has been studied in detail, and it is known that after the activation, the surface becomes "smoother" and its wettability and adhesion properties are deeply modified (Terpiłowski & Rymuszka, 2016). After glass activation, physical and chemical phenomena should occur at the surface of the contacting phases. No research was done so far to show these changes on a gel surface contacting with the pre-activated support. Changes of surface properties of films are usually observed in terms of their wettability. It is very important in many applications, as the contact angle is an indication of hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity character of the film (Adam, 1968, pp. 1–16; Butt, Graf & Kappl, 2013; de Gennes, Brochard-Wyart, & Quere, 2004). The measurement of the advancing and receding contact angles of different probe liquids, allows the calculation of the surface free energy (SFE) using different approaches. In this paper the SFE is determined by contact angles hysteresis (CAH) approach which was developed in our laboratory (Chibowski, 2002, 2005; Chibowski & Terpiłowski, 2009).

The roughness of gel surface can affect the properties of hydrogels, especially in the applications in scaffolds engineering, drug delivery systems and active packaging materials. A rougher surface implies that scaffold disappears faster by hydrolyzing enzymes acting, and faster is the release of drugs and active ingredients in active packaging systems (Tomczyńska-Mleko & Mleko, 2014). Recently, Terpiłowski, Tomczyńska-Mleko, Nishinari, and Mleko (2017) have used glass activated by cold plasma for deposition of ion-induced whey protein gels. The activation of glass support increased not only the roughness but also the hydrophobic properties of the deposited layers. In that study, however, the gel layers were not detached from the support. In the research presented in this paper, a new methodology was used: by a special procedure we obtained thin layers of mixed gels on non-activated and plasma-activated glass plates with exactly the same thickness. It allowed for measurement and comparison of the rheological properties of the gels. After gelation, the gels were detached from the support and the surface properties of the inner surface, previously attached to the plate, were measured. No results were obtained so far for rheological properties of gels formed on surfaces pre-treated with cold plasma. This study aims to elucidate the extent of the changes induced in the surface and viscoelastic properties of egg white isolate/gelatin mixed gels by gelling on plasma activated glass. These modifications can create a new material, with enhanced possibilities for application as a matrix for active ingredients release, scaffolds and active packaging material.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

Egg white albumen "low mineral, high gel type" (88.1% protein) was a gift from Kewpie Corporation (Tokyo, Japan). Protein concentration was determined by the Kjeldahl method (AOAC, 1995, pp. 7–9). Gelatin from porcine skin (type A) was purchased from Dr. Oetker (Gdańsk, Poland). According to the company specification, it has "platinum strength" with a 250 Bloom and ca. 60,000 mean molecular mass.

2.2. Glass support preparation and plasma treatment

Microscope slides $76 \times 26 mm$ were used (Comex, Wroclaw, Poland). Before the experiments, glass plates were cleaned by methanol in the ultrasounds bath for 15 min and then rinsed with Milli-Q water and dried at 50 °C. After drying the glass plates were kept in the desiccator at room temperature. Glass plates were activated by cold plasma using three different gases: air, argon or oxygen. Plasma activation was performed in the low-pressure plasma system Pico (Diener Electronic, Germany). The plates were placed on the sample shelf and the system was adjusted to a pressure of 0.2 mbar. Then the gas flow (Air Products, Warsaw, Poland) was set at 22 sccm (standard cubic centimeters per minute). The plates were treated with the plasma at the electric voltage 160 V (400 V max) and frequency 13.56 MHz for 60 s. In order to remove the gaseous products, the chamber was purged with air for 10 s.

2.3. Preparation of mixed gels

Egg white protein (EWP) dispersion (3% of protein in all samples) was made by hydrating in distilled water. After that, the dispersions were heated in water bath for 30 min at 80 °C and then cooled down immediately. Gelatin solution was added to egg white dispersion to obtain mixtures with 3% egg white albumen and 3%, 4%, 5% and 6% gelatin concentration. After adding the gelatin, solutions were mixed for 30 min at 80 °C using an electric heater with magnetic stirring, and some volume of the dispersion was poured on cold plasma activated glass plates leveled on the Petri dishes to obtain a 1 (\pm 0.1) mm thick layer (it was checked using a micrometer screw gauge). The Petri dishes were leveled using a self-leveling laser IM0201 (Magnusson, Longpontsur-Orge, France). The plates were stored for 20 h at 7 °C. Immediately after removing from the refrigerator, the gels were detached from the glass support, equilibrated at 21 °C for 2 h and subjected to determination of their properties. The gels were gently detached by passing a curved-tip metallic spatula around the perimeter of the gels; under used gelatin concentrations, the gels stuck to some extent to the glass, but they were elastic and firm enough to manipulate them without fracture or any other damages.

2.4. Dynamic oscillatory measurements

Viscoelastic properties of the gels were evaluated using a Kinexus Lab + dynamic rheometer (Malvern Instruments Limited, Malvern, U.K.). Rheological properties were investigated using a serrated parallel steel plate geometry (35 mm diameter, 1 mm gap size) to limit the sliding effects. The gel samples (10 mm diameter) were cut using a scalpel. The thickness of the samples was the same (1 mm) due to descripted previously method to form the gel. Oscillatory measurements with frequency sweeps in the range 0.1-10 Hz were performed. Complex modulus G* and tangent delta were measured. All the measurements were taken at 0.01strain, which was in the linear viscoelastic range determined by the strain sweep.

2.5. Contact angle measurements

Advancing and receding contact angles of the probe liquid on the gel surfaces were measured using the contact angle meter GBX (France), equipped with a temperature and humidity-controlled measuring chamber and digital camera. The measurements were conducted at 20 °C and 50% relative humidity and based on the sessile drop method (Kwok & Neumann, 1999) with water. A 6 µL droplet from a syringe was gently settled on the sample surface by means of an automatic deposition system. The advancing contact angle was evaluated from the droplet shape by the computer program Win Drop. Then 2 µL of the droplet volume was sucked into the syringe and the receding contact angle was obtained from the above mentioned program. The advancing and receding contact angles were thus measured for up to 10 droplets.

2.6. Surface free energy determination

Equilibrium contact angles were calculated from measurements of advancing and receding contact angles (Holysz et al., 2013; Terpilowski, Rymuszka, Hołysz & Ilnicki, 2017) on the glass plates. For this purpose, equations (1a) and (1b), and (1c) from Tadmor theory were used (Tadmor, 2004, 2008; Tadmor & Yadav, 2008).

$$\Gamma_a \equiv \left(\frac{\sin^3 \theta_a}{(2 - 3\cos \theta_a + \cos^3 \theta_a)}\right)^{1/3};$$
(1a)

$$\Gamma_r \equiv \left(\frac{\sin^3\theta_r}{(2-3\cos\theta_r+\cos^3\theta_r)}\right)^{1/3};$$
(1b)

$$\theta_0 = \arccos\left(\frac{\Gamma_a \cos\theta_a + \Gamma_r \cos\theta_r}{\Gamma_a + \Gamma_r}\right)$$
(1c)

 Γ_a and Γ_r are, respectively, the advancing and receding angle weight coefficients (Terpiłowski, 2015), θ_a - the advancing contact angle, θ_r the receding contact angle and θ_0 - the equilibrium contact angle.

The surface free energy (SFE) of solid surface, γ_S , was calculated using the hysteresis approach proposed by Chibowski (Chibowski, 2002, 2005; Chibowski & Terpiłowski, 2009), based on the contact angle hysteresis (CAH). The equation used:

$$\gamma_s = \left(\frac{\gamma_L (1 + \cos\theta_a)^2}{(2 + \cos\theta_a + \cos\theta_r)}\right) \tag{2}$$

allows the determination of the "apparent surface free energy", γ_s , with γ_{L} , the liquid surface tension, θ_{a} the advancing contact angle, and θ_{r} the receding contact angle.

When the equilibrium contact angles, $\theta_{\text{Eq}},$ are used for calculation of the apparent surface free energy, Eq. (2) transforms into:

$$\gamma_{\rm s} = \frac{\gamma_L}{2} (1 + \cos \theta_{Eq}) \tag{3}$$

2.7. Gel surface topography

The gel surface was observed using an optical profilometer GT Contour Surface Metrology (Veeco, Tucson, USA). The optical system allows the characterization of surface topography with a very high accuracy in the range of sizes from the sub-nanometer to the 10 mm. Surface roughness was determined using Vision64 (Veeco, Tucon, USA) (Horcas et al., 2007). Optical profilometry uses light instead of a physical sensor. The optical profilometer scans the tested material vertically. The material in the field of view passes through the focal plane, which creates interference. Each level of height in the material under test achieves optimal sharpness at other times. With a calibrated optical profilometer, accuracy below the nanometer is possible.

91

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Dynamic oscillatory measurements

Fig. 1 A-D show the complex modulus obtained from frequency sweeps for gels with 3% egg white albumen and different gelatin concentration (3, 4, 5 and 6%). G* increased with the gelatin content in the gel, the effect being more appreciable with the gels formed on cold plasma-activated glass support. Badii and Howell (2006) found, that the addition of gelatin (3% or more) to 10% egg white albumen enhanced both the storage and loss moduli values. Increasing frequency caused an increase in complex modulus. Investigated material was characterized as a physical gel with tangent delta at all measured frequencies in the range 0.16-0.26 (chart not shown). Activation of glass support by cold plasma caused forming stronger gels with higher G*. The most effective was plasma generated from oxygen, then air and the least from argon. The mechanisms explaining the different behavior of the gels formed on the surface activated by the cold plasma must take into account the type and number of surface functional groups appearing at the surface after its treatment, as they determine the protein adsorption processes and its gelation. As usually in this kind of processes, different interactions are involved: electrostatic, van der Waals, hydrophobic, and covalent. Thus, for example, electrostatic attraction between hydroxyapatite powder and bovine serum albumin (Kollath et al., 2015) was promoted after plasma activation of the surface, which was used to graft functional groups on the support surface. The material used (dry hydroxyapatite powder) facilitated the experiments design allowing to explain the attraction between hydroxyapatite powder and bovine serum. Wiącek, Gozdecka, Jurak, Przykaza, and Terpiłowski (2018) found that air plasma treatment of a glass surface induced stronger interactions of this support with hyaluronic acid and alginate. There, the role played by the -OH groups appearing in the activation process of the support was emphasized and shown to determine the properties of the films deposited on it. Their conclusions were supported by exactly the same experimental methods we used in our surface properties research presented in the following sections, however the thickness of the sample prepared was notably smaller (glass surface covered by 45-300 µm film vs. 1 mm thick gel). Our study shows that not only surface (see next sections) but also the rheological properties are modified. It is very difficult to choose a special experimental design to explain why the changes in the rheological properties of investigated gels were observed. We have planned our experiments based on the nature of the samples. We could not use a high vacuum for our gel samples to carry out the test for the XPS method. When trying to apply IR-ATR or RAMAN techniques, we could not obtain the interpretable test results. Drying the gels would allow to perform some spectral methods, however, the drying itself changes the gel (in fact we don't have a gel anymore) so we would not be able to observe the effect of the plasma. We can only conclude, that because of small thickness of the sample (1 mm) we probably obtained samples, which can be treated as composite materials consisting of a bulk phase with different, modified surface layer.

3.2. Contact angles and wetting behavior

Fig. 2 shows the water advancing contact angle on mixed gels as a function of the gel composition and the plasma gas used for glass activation (vertical bars show standard deviations). It can be seen that the increase of gelatin concentration of mixed gels previously formed on non-plasma activated glass support ("untreated sample" in figure legend of Fig. 2), produces a progressive decrease in water advancing contact angles, going from $109.9^{\circ} \pm 7.9^{\circ}$ (3%) to $76.4^{\circ} \pm 2.7^{\circ}$ for the sample with highest gelatin content (6%). So, increasing gelatin concentration resulted in a more hydrophilic surface. Similar results were found by Velu, Muruganandam, and Arthanareeswaran (2015) in polyethersulphone (PES) membranes, which hydrophilicity was increased with the increase of gelatin concentration in their composition. Moreover, it is well known that the physicochemical and functional properties of the gelatin can be specially altered by the amino acid composition. Previous researches (Arnesen & Gildberg, 2007; Gilsenan & Ross-Murphy, 2000) report that the most abundant amino acids in gelatin are glycine and proline (mainly non-polar, hydrophobic surface) and arginine (mostly polar). This set of amino acids should thus determine the extent of the changes of hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity of the gel surface induced by the addition of gelatin. Fig. 3 shows that, by using different gases, the contact of mixed gels with plasma-activated glass has an effect on their wetting properties. It can be seen that such activation resulted in lower contact angles in all gel samples. The oxygen plasma caused the highest changes in the contact angles, increasing in a remarkable way the hydrophilic character of mixed gels. For the gel with 3% gelatin concentration, the contact angle dropped from $109.9^{\circ} \pm 7.9^{\circ}$ to $19.9^{\circ} \pm 5.9^{\circ}$ in case of oxygen-plasma activation. It is already known (Terpiłowski & Rymuszka, 2016) that the plasmatreated glass surface becomes more hydrophilic after plasma activation due to the increase in the strength of polar interactions. The incorporation of new polar groups by the action of the oxygen treatment of glass surface would made possible the "transfer" of these functional groups to the mixed gel surface formed on the treated support, making it more hydrophilic. In a similar way, the water contact angles of mixed gel (3% gelatin concentration), dropped from $109.9^{\circ} \pm 7.9^{\circ}$ to $52.5^{\circ} \pm 2.4^{\circ}$ in the case of argon plasma and to $60.6^{\circ} \pm 4.0^{\circ}$ in the case of air plasma. Similar trend (within \pm 5.0°) as discussed for the 3% gelatin-mixed gel was found for the contact angles measured on surfaces with different gelatin content (4%, 5% and 6%, see Fig. 2). It could, however, be noticed that the "efficiency" of the activation of the glass support (making it much more hydrophilic) is diminished by the increase of gelatin concentration in the gel: the differences between all inactivated- and activated-samples are progressively diminished, having the lowest change at the highest gelatin concentration (Fig. 2). On the other hand, increasing the concentration of gelatin in the mixed gel, produces "stronger gels" (see Fig. 1), hence strengthening the interactions into the gel network. This could affect the introduction of polar groups on the surface by the plasma treated glass surface, causing progressively smaller differences in the contact angles between untreated mixed gel and treated by plasma activation. Note that similar behavior was obtained for the receding contact angles, used for the calculation of surface free energy in by the CAH approach, but not shown here for brevity.

3.3. Surface free energy (SFE)

Useful information about energetic changes occurring on the surface of mixed gels, after being formed on both untreated- and cold plasmatreated glass surface, can be obtained from the surface free energy (SFE) of these systems. For this purpose, SFE has been obtained from the contact angle hysteresis (CAH) approach, using equilibrium contact angles of water obtained using Tadmor's (Tadmor, 2004, 2008; Tadmor & Yadav, 2008) derivations. SFE is a useful parameter, which allows to quantify the characteristics of the solid surface, its wetting properties in particular.

Fig. 3 shows the values of SFE of the mixed gels at different gelatin concentration as a result of surface activation. It was found that the largest change in the SFE was obtained for the lowest concentration of gelatin (3%), increasing from $30.5 \pm 2.1 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ to $71.1 \pm 0.8 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ for oxygen treatment, to $61.4 \pm 1.7 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ for argon treatment and to $58.9 \pm 1.0 \text{ mJ/m}^2$ for air treatment. Regardless of plasma treatment, the total SFE of mixed gel increased in all studied samples as we expected, the decrease of contact angles produced by surface activation confirming an increase of the surface free energy given by the CAH approach. In any case, it must be kept in mind that the increase of the surface free energy results from the incorporation of new polar groups on mixed gel surface during its contact with the treated support. These



Fig. 1. A-D. Influence of the frequency on the complex modulus for gels obtained at different gelatin concentration detached from glass support which was non-activated (Un) or cold plasma activated using different gasses (Ar - Argon, Air and Ox - Oxygen).



Fig. 2. Influence of gelatin concentration on water advancing contact angles on the gel surface formed on non-activated and activated glass support by air, argon and oxygen plasma.



Fig. 3. Influence of gelatin concentration on surface free energy values based on CAH approach for the gel surface formed on non-activated and activated glass support by air, argon and oxygen plasma.

findings are of great interest for the industry as a way to activate gel surfaces that cannot be directly exposed to the plasma treatment, due to the damage that would occur by the exposition to conditions reached in the cold-plasma chamber. If we consider now the highest concentration of gelatin in the mixed gel (6%), the SFE only slightly increases, as compared with the 3% gelatin samples; the difference between "untreated" sample and the sample formed on oxygen-activated glass was less than 10 mJ/m²; about 5 mJ/m² for air treatment and 2 mJ/m² for the argon treatment. Understanding of these differences needs of additional information about surface topography: it should reflect these changes more clearly, so we will pay attention to it in the next section.

3.4. Gel surface topography

To find a relationship between topography and wettability the analysis of surface roughness was carried out. For that purpose, as we explained in the previous SFE section, it was chosen the sample with the highest concentration of gelatin (6%); it seems to be the best choice due to the small differences in surface energy between the untreated and treated samples. Recurrence of the contact angle values and the topography analysis make it possible to complete characterization of the

Table 1

Topography parameters of the mixed gel formed on glass surface, untreated and after different gasses plasma activation (surface 0.9×1.3 mm).

Parameter	Untreated	Air	Argon	Oxygen
R _a (nm) R _{RMS} (nm) R _t (μm)	164.3 ± 27.9 197.9 ± 31.4 1.1 ± 0.2	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	325.8 ± 59.6 397.8 ± 57.5 2.1 ± 0.4	$\begin{array}{r} 995.2 \ \pm \ 198.7 \\ 1270.0 \ \pm \ 190.8 \\ 15.5 \ \pm \ 2.6 \end{array}$

 $R_{\rm a}$ – average roughness, $R_{\rm RMS}$ – quadratic mean of the surface roughness, $R_{\rm t}$ – maximum roughness height.

surface because the contact angle strictly depends on both composition as well as roughness of the film surface (Terpiłowski, Wiącek & Jurak, 2017; Jurak, Wią;cek & Terpiłowski, 2016; Wiącek, Terpiłowski, Jurak & Worzakowska, 2016a, 2016b).

The surface roughness parameters are displayed in Table 1. Three different parameters are given; for the purpose of roughness comparison, the root mean square index R_{RMS} (R_q) is the most frequently used, as it is insensitive to the local topographical heterogeneity of the surface. It is clearly seen (Table 1) that the surfaces become rougher with the plasma treatment, with no regard which gas was used. The R_{RMS} for the untreated surface is $197.9\pm31.4\,\text{nm},$ increasing to $353.8\pm57.5\,\text{nm}$ (air), to $397.8\pm57.5\,\text{nm}$ (argon) and to $1270.0\pm190.8\,\text{nm}$ for the oxygen treatment. Plasma treatment causes formation and deposition of new functional polar groups on the plasma-activated support and they are the responsible of the changes in roughness of the attached mixed gels.

Comparing the results of contact angles and SFE (Figs. 2 and 3) with those of the topography, we can verify that these results have a strong relationship; it may be concluded that the wettability of the studied gels is affected by their roughness, influencing the specific values of SFE. When the roughness is gradually increased, the contact angles decreased. A surface with low roughness has higher contact angle values and the surface is less water-repellent than the untreated surface which was smoother.

We found in this work is, that oxygen-plasma treated glass support caused the most significant changes in wetting and rheological properties of the gels, but also a similarity in the properties of samples gelled on argon and air plasmas treated glass (see all charts). The profilometer images (Fig. 4) shows, that the surfaces contacted with non-treated glass support exhibit more homogeneity than the ones with oxygen-plasma treated glass support, which is non-uniform. As we hypothesized, the gel surfaces formed on both air- and argon-plasma treated glass support show very similar profiles. Previous research in our laboratory (Terpiłowski & Rymuszka, 2016) showed that after air- and argon-plasma treatment of glass support, the R_{RMS} values were nearly identical, 0.3 ± 0.05 nm and 0.3 ± 0.01 nm respectively; similar transference of modifications induced in the glass support by plasma treatment to gel formed on it, could explain this behavior.

4. Conclusions

An innovative technique has been used, based on the modification of gel properties by indirect cold-plasma treatment. It has been shown that formation of gel on glass previously treated by cold plasma, affects their surface as well as their rheological properties. The nature of the gas used to form cold plasma (oxygen, air or argon) influenced the extent of the modifications of surface and viscoelastic properties of the gels. The most effective was plasma generated from oxygen, then air and the least from argon. Regardless of gas type plasma treatment, the total SFE of gels increased in all studied samples. The decrease of contact angles produced by surface activation caused an increase of the surface free energy given by the CAH approach. Gel surface becomes rougher with the plasma treatment of glass support, no regard which gas was used. Increased roughness of the gels caused a decrease in the

S. Pérez-Huertas, et al.



Fig. 4. Surface topography of gels formed on a) non-activated glass support and activated by b) air, c) argon and d) oxygen plasma treatment (shown surface is 0.9×1.3 mm).

contact angles. Changes in these properties increases functionality of the gels in many applications. The paper shows, that even when the gel is not treated directly by cold plasma, pre-treatment of the support is an effective method to cause changes in surface and rheological properties of the gel obtained on such surfaces. These findings could help to create new materials, especially in the applications in scaffolds engineering, drug delivery systems and active packaging. Increased roughness of the gel surface increases ability of the gastrointestinal enzymes to decompose the gels (Tomczyńska-Mleko & Mleko, 2014). Also increased surface roughness can change the ability of an active ingredient to be adsorbed on the surface of the active packaging system.

References

- Adam, N. K. (1968). The physics and chemistry of surfaces. New York: Dover Publications (E-Publishing Inc).
- AOAC Official Method 960.52 (1995). Microchemical determination of nitrogen. Micro-Kjeldahl method. Official methods of analysis of association of official analytical chemists (15th ed.). Arlington: AOAC International.
- Arnesen, J. A., & Gildberg, A. (2007). Extraction and characterization of gelatin from Atlantic salmon (Salmo solar) skin. *Bioresource Technology*, 98, 53–57.
- Badii, F., & Howell, N. K. (2006). Fish gelatin: Structure, gelling properties and interaction with egg albumen proteins. Food Hydrocolloids, 20(5), 630–640.
- van den Berg, M., Jara, F., Pilosof, & Renanta, A. (2015). Performance of egg white and hydroxypropylmethylcellulose mixtures on gelation and foaming. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 48, 282–291.
- Butt, H. J., Graf, K., & Kappl, M. (2013). Physics and chemistry of interfaces (3rd ed.). Weinheim: Wiley-VCH1379–1380.
- Chan, C. M., Ko, T. M., & Hiraoka, H. (1996). Polymer surface modification by plasmas and photons. Surface Science Reports, 24, 1–54.
- Chibowski, E. (2002). Contact angle hysteresis due to film present behind the drop. In K. L. Mitta (Ed.). *Contact angle, wettability and adhesion*. Boston: VSP.
- Chibowski, E. (2005). Surface free energy and wettability of silyl layers on silicon determined from contact angle hysteresis. Advanced in Colloid and Interface Science, 113, 121–131.
- Chibowski, E., Hołysz, L., & Terpiłowski, K. (2006). Investigation of super-hydrophobic effect of PMMA layers with different fillers deposited on glass support. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 291*, 181–190.
- Chibowski, E., Jurak, M., Hołysz, L., & Szcześ, A. (2014). Wetting properties of model biological membranes. *Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science*, 19, 368–380.
- Chibowski, E., & Terpiłowski, K. (2009). Comparison of apparent surface free energy of some solids determined by different approaches. In K. L. Mittal (Ed.). Contact angle, wettability and adhesion 2. New Jersey: Hoboken.
- Chu, P. K., Chen, J. Y., Wang, L. P., & Huang, N. (2002). Plasma-surface modification of biomaterials. Material Science and Engineering Report, 36, 143–206.
- de Gennes, P. G., Brochard-Wyart, F., & Quere, D. (2004). Capillarity and wetting

phenomena: Drops, bubles, pearls, waves. New York: Verlag: Springer. Gilsenan, P. M., & Ross-Murphy, S. B. (2000). Rheological characterisation of gelatins from mammalian and marine sources. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 14, 191–195.

- Gu, L. P., Su, Y. J., Zhang, Z. P., Zheng, B. J., Zhang, R. J., McClements, D. J., et al. (2017). Modulation of lipid digestion profiles using filled egg white protein microgels. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 65(32), 6919–6928.
- Horcas, I., Fernandez, R., Gomez-Rodriguez, J. M., Colchero, J., Gomez-Herrero, J., & Baro, A. M. (2007). WS x M: A software for scanning probe microscopy and a tool for nanotechnology. *Review of Scientific Instruments*, 78(1), 013705.
- Holysz, L., Terpiłowski, K., Zarko, V., & Chibowski, E. (2013). Super-hydrophobic polystyrene layers filled with silica on glass. Surface Innovations, 1, 52–59.
- Hu, Y., Liang, H. S., Xu, W., Wang, Y. T., An, Y. P., Yan, X. X., et al. (2016). Synergistic effects of small amounts of konjac glucomannan on functional properties of egg white protein. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 52, 213–220.
- Jurak, M., Wiącek, A. E., & Terpiłowski, K. (2016). Properties of PEEK-supported films of biological substances prepared by the Langmuir-Blodgett technique. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 510, 263–267.
- Kollath, V. O., Van den Broeck, F., Feher, K., Martins, J. C., Luyten, J., Traina, K., et al. (2015). A modular approach to study protein adsorption on surface modified hydroxyapatite. *Chemistry - A European Journal*, 21, 10497–10505.
- Kwok, D. I., & Neumann, A. W. (1999). Contact angle measurement and contact angle interpretation. Advanced in Colloid and Interface Science, 81(3), 167–249.
- Liu, J. J., Zhu, K. K., Ye, T., Wan, S. L., Wang, Y. T., Wang, D., et al. (2013). Influence of konjac glucomannan on gelling properties and water state in egg white protein gel. *Food Research International*, 51(2), 437–443.
- Nyemb, K., Guérin, C., Pézennec, S., Jardin, J., Briard-Bion, V., Cauty, C., et al. (2016). The structural properties of egg white gels impact the extent of in vitro protein digestion and the nature of peptides generated. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 54, 315–327.
- Pieracci, J., Crivello, J. V., & Belfort, G. (1999). Photochemical modification of 10 kDa polyethersulfone ultrafiltration membranes for reduction of biofouling. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 156, 223–240.
- Somchue, W., Sermsri, W., Shiowatana, J., & Siripinyanond, A. (2009). Encapsulation of α-tocopherol in protein-based delivery particles. *Food Research International*, 42(8), 909–914.
- Su, Y., Dong, Y., Niu, F., Wang, C., Liu, Y., & Yang, Y. (2015). Study on the gel properties and secondary structure of soybean protein isolate/egg white composite gels. *European Food Research and Technology*, 240(2), 367–378.
- Szymczyk, K., & Janczuk, B. (2008). Wettability of a glass surface in the presence of two nonionic surfactant mixtures. *Langmuir*, 24, 7755–7760.
- Tadeo, X., López-Méndez, B., Castaño, D., Trigueros, T., & Millet, O. (2009). Protein stabilization and the hofmeister effect: The role of hydrophobic solvation. *Biophysical Journal*, 97(9), 2595–2603.
- Tadmor, R. (2004). Line energy and the relation between advancing, receding and Young contact angles. *Langmuir*, 20, 7659–7664.
- Tadmor, R. (2008). Line energy, line tension and drop size. Surface Science, 602, 108–111.
 Tadmor, R., & Yadav, P. S. (2008). As-placed contact angles for sessile drops. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 317, 241–246.
- Terpiłowski, K. (2015). Surface free energy of superhydrophobic materials obtained by deposition of polymeric particles on glass. Advances in Contact Angle, Wettability and Adhesion, 2, 381–395.
- Terpiłowski, K., & Rymuszka, D. (2016). Surface properties of glass plates activated by

S. Pérez-Huertas, et al.

air, oxygen, nitrogen and argon plasma. Glass Physics and Chemistry, 42, 535-541. Terpiłowski, K., Rymuszka, D., Goncharuk, O. V., Sulym, I. Y., & Gun'ko, V. M. (2015).

- Applied Surface Science, 353, 843–850.
- Terpiłowski, K., Rymuszka, D., Hołysz, L., & Ilnicki, M. (2017). Surface properties of metal alloys used in aviation after plasma treatment. *Surface and Interface Analysis*, 49, 647–653.
- Terpiłowski, K., Tomczyńska-Mleko, M., Nishinari, K., & Mleko, S. (2017). Surface properties of ion-inducted whey protein gels deposited on cold plasma treated support. Food Hydrocolloids, 71, 17–25.
- Terpiłowski, K., Wiącek, A. E., & Jurak, M. (2017). Influence of nitrogen plasma treatment on the wettability of polyetheretherketone and deposited chitosan layers. Advances in Polymer Technologies, 37, 1557–1569.
 Tomczyńska-Mleko, M., & Mleko, S. (2014). Whey protein aerated gels as matrices for
- Tomczyńska-Mleko, M., & Mleko, S. (2014). Whey protein aerated gels as matrices for controlled mineral release in simulated gastric conditions. *Food Research International*, 62(8), 91–97.

Velu, S., Muruganandam, L., & Arthanareeswaran, G. (2015). Preparation and

performance studies on polyethersulfone ultrafiltration membranes modified with gelatin for treatment of tannery and distillery wastewater. *Brazilian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 32(01), 179–189.

- Wiącek, A. E., Terpiłowski, K., Jurak, M., & Worzakowska, M. (2016a). Low-temperature air plasma modification of chitosan-coated PEEK biomaterials. *Polymer Testing and Analysis, 50*, 325–334.
- Wiącek, A. E., Terpiłowski, K., Jurak, M., & Worzakowska, M. (2016b). Effect of lowtemperature plasma on chitosan-coated PEEK polymer characteristics. *European Polymer Journal*, 78, 1–13.
- Wiqcek, A. E., Gozdecka, A., Jurak, M., Przykaza, K., & Terpiłowski, K. (2018). Wettability of plasma modified glass surface with bioglass layer in polysaccharide solution. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 551, 185–194.
- Yanamoto, T., Okubo, M., Imai, N., & Mori, Y. (2004). Improvement on hydrophilic and hydrophobic properties of glass surface treated by nonthermal plasma induced by silent corona discharge. *Plasma Chemistry and Plasma Processing*, 24(1), 1–12.

Appendix 4

Surface modification of albumin/gelatin films gelled on low temperature plasma-treated poly (Ethylene Terephthalate) plates (fourth paper of the "compendium")

DOI: 10.1002/ppap.201900171

FULL PAPER

PLASMA PROCESSES AND POLYMERS

Surface modification of albumin/gelatin films gelled on low-temperature plasma-treated polyethylene terephthalate plates

Salvador Pérez-Huertas¹¹ | Konrad Terpiłowski¹ | Marta Tomczyńska-Mleko² | Stanisław Mleko³

¹Department of Physical Chemistry-Interfacial Phenomena, Maria Curie Skłodowska University, Lublin, Poland

²Institute of Plant Genetics, Breeding, and Biotechnology, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Lublin, Poland

³Department of Milk Technology and Hydrocolloids, University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Lublin, Poland

Correspondence

Salvador Pérez-Huertas, Department of Physical Chemistry-Interfacial Phenomena, Maria Curie Skłodowska University, M. Curie Skłodowska Sq. 3, 20-031 Lublin, Poland. Email: perezsalvador@correo.ugr.es

Abstract

Albumin/gelatin gel (AG) properties are studied with an innovative coldplasma-treatment-based technique. Gel films are produced in situ on polyethylene terephthalate (PET) plates previously treated by gas (O_2 , air and Ar) cold plasma. After detaching the films from the surface, the contact angles of probe liquids are measured and wettability studied, based upon the induced changes of AG surface free energy. The effect of gelatin concentration in the AG is analysed. Oxygen-cold-plasma-treated PET plates induce outstanding changes

(1) Activation

COLD PLASMA

in wetting properties. Optical profilometry is used for the characterisation of surface topography. Dynamic oscillatory measurements help check for mesoscopic changes. The latter technique allows shaping of gel sample stiffness. The findings support a new methodology for biomaterials/biopolymer activation when unable to be exposed to the plasma working conditions.

(2) Deposition

KEYWORDS

biopolymers, cold plasma, contact angles, rheology, thin films

1 | INTRODUCTION

Protein gels are three-dimensional (3D) networks, which are formed when the viscous liquid of the protein solution is transferred into a viscous-elastic matrix.^[1] The quality and suitability of the network depend not only on the physicochemical conditions of the medium^[2] but also on its physicochemical characteristics,^[3] such as surface hydrophobicity and net charge of proteins. $^{\left[4-6\right] }$

Egg white albumin (EWA) is probably the most popular gelling protein. It has a protein content of approximately 11% and comprises approximately 58% of the entire egg mass.^[1] EWA has multiple functional properties, with foaming, emulsification, gelation, microencapsulation and adhesion being the most significant.^[7] Ovalbumin, ovotransferrin and

lysozyme are the constituents mainly responsible for the formation of heat-induced gels^[8,9] and their properties determine the gelation of EWA protein. The functional groups of these constituents become exposed upon protein denaturation to form intermolecular linking, yielding gel structures.^[8-10] Tomczyńska-Mleko and Mleko^[11,12] have studied the characteristics of EWA protein gels as matrices for active ingredient release. Taheri et al.^[13] used nanoparticles of EWA protein as drug carrier systems. The efficiency of the functional properties of EWA protein may be adversely or favourably affected by the addition of other hydrocolloids. Coughlan et al.^[14] reported that combinations of proteins and hydrocolloids resulted in more effective functional properties than when working individually. Protein-hydrocolloid interactions may thus enhance the stabilisation of interfacial layer thickness, leading to the stability of foam against bubble coalescence.^[15]

Gelatin is a water-soluble protein, which may be obtained from renewable sources, for instance, waste products from food industries. The growing popularity of this biopolymer in, for example, packaging, medicine or pharmaceutical industries is mainly due to their inherent properties, such as nontoxicity, relatively low cost, ecofriendliness or high availability. A convenient approach to produce novel materials for specific applications with the desired functional properties is by the manipulation of different biopolymers.^[16] The combination of gelatin with egg albumin proteins has been described as leading to a uniform, strong gel structure.^[17] The use of these biopolymers could allow us to create composite biomaterials which may serve as intelligent packaging agents or controlled drug carriers. Thus, we hypothesise that the manipulation of the proportions of gelatin in an EWA-based gel can yield composite gels for these applications.

Modification of biopolymers by means of some physical or chemical routes is a necessary tool to overcome frequent limitations concerning surface properties. In particular, low surface energy would affect surface wettability and other related properties and could be a handicap, as it would lack specific requirements in applications such as drug delivery systems, intelligent packaging or tissue scaffold preparation. Among the current methods for surface modification, cold-plasma activation is an emerging technique offering many potential benefits in treatments of biomaterials. It enables us not only to improve adhesion^[18] and to modify wetting properties but also to enhance functionality and biocompatibility of biomaterial surfaces.^[19]

Polyethylene terephthalate (PET) is one of the most recommended materials for this purpose.^[20,21] Numerous pieces of research have shown the influence of cold plasma on PET.^[22] However, this technology has some limitations. In particular, the material must be capable of withstanding

the operating conditions reached in the chamber. In our attempts to activate the gels, we could catch sight of the fact that they were noticeably damaged, so further methodology development appeared to be needed to overcome this issue. In addition, activating the gels by "indirect plasma treatment" is proposed throughout this paper. After the activation of a PET plate by cold plasma, physical and chemical phenomena should occur on its surface, and, indirectly, also on the surface of any other phase in contact with the plate. This methodology is applied here to AG gels to gain understanding about the impact on gel properties of gelling directly onto the preactivated PET.

Cold plasma is usually cited for "without altering other bulk properties".^[19] However, in the case of biopolymergel type, it is still an open question whether other bulk properties, such as strength to deformation and viscous properties, can be as altered as the surface properties are. The present study aims at developing and characterising biodegradable films produced by the technique above described using different concentrations of gelatin, along with EWA protein. An important set of techniques were used for the characterisation of the mixed gels, comprising contact angles measurements, surface free energy (SFE) determination, surface topography and rheological studies by dynamic oscillatory measurements. The analysis of these data, in turn, could be used to design gels with enhanced possibilities of their applications in many industrial processes.^[23,24]

2 | EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

2.1 | Materials

EWA, low mineral, high gel type (88.1% protein) was provided by Kewpie Corporation (Tokyo, Japan). Protein concentration was determined by the Kjeldahl method.^[25] Gelatin from the porcine skin (type A) was obtained from Dr. Oetker (Gdansk, Poland). According to the specifications, it has "platinum strength" with a 250 Bloom and ca. 60,000 mean molecular mass. To perform the Bloom test on gelatin, a 6.67% gelatin solution was kept for 17–18 hr at 10°C before being tested. The higher a Bloom value, the higher the melting and gelling points of a gel are, and the shorter its gelling time is.

2.2 | PET plate preparation and plasma activation

0.5 mm thick commercial PET (Axpet Standard, Bayer AG) plates were used. The material was cut into $20 \text{ mm} \times 20 \text{ mm}$ pieces. Before the experiments, the samples were washed in ethanol in an ultrasound bath for 15 min and then rinsed with Milli-Q water to remove their surface contamination.

The samples were dried at room temperature in a desiccator. Plasma activation was performed in a low-pressure plasma system Pico from Diener Electronic, Germany. The plates were placed on the sample shelf, and the system was adjusted to a pressure of 0.2 mbar. Then, the flow of gas (air, argon and oxygen, from Air Products, Warsaw, Poland) was set at 22 sccm (standard cubic centimetres per minute). The plates were treated with cold plasma at the electric voltage of 400 V for 1 min. The chamber was purged with air for 10 s so as to remove the existing gaseous products.

2.3 | Preparation of gel films

EWA protein dispersion was made by hydrating the protein in distilled water and then heating in a water bath for 30 min at 80°C. Gelatin solution was added to obtain mixtures with 3% (wt/wt) EWA protein, and 3%, 4%, 5% or 6% gelatin concentration. In the preliminary tests, mixed gels with gelatin concentrations ranging from 1% to 6% were prepared. At low gelatin concentration (1-2%), the water content was too large to manipulate without damaging the films; thus, only gels containing 3% or higher gelatin concentration were further used. The mixed solutions were stirred for 30 min at 80°C and poured on the PET plates placed on Petri dishes to obtain a 1.0 ± 0.1 mm thick gel layer (checked using a micrometre screw gauge). The Petri dishes were levelled using a selflevelling laser IM0201 (Magnusson, Longpont-sur-Orge, France). In total, four samples with different gelatin content were gelled on each plasma-treated plate, 12 "activated" and 4 "inactivated" surfaces (used as control), stored for 20 hr at 7°C and equilibrated at 21°C for 2 hr before the determination of their properties. After 1 day, the gel was detached from the PET support and studies on its wettability and surface topography were carried out on the inner surface, which was previously attached by the methods described in the following sections. Moreover, rheological measurements were also performed.

2.4 | Oscillatory measurements

Viscoelastic properties of the gels were determined using a Kinexus Lab+ dynamic rheometer (Malvern Instruments Limited, Malvern, UK). Rheological properties were investigated using a serrated parallel steel plate (35 mm diameter and 1 mm gap size) to limit the sliding effects. The gel samples (10 mm diameter and 1 mm thick) were cut and detached from the plate using a scalpel. Oscillatory measurements with frequency sweep in the range 0.1–10 Hz were performed. All the measurements were performed at 0.01 strain in the linear viscoelastic range determined by the strain sweep. The complex modulus,

 G^* , as well as the loss tangent, tan δ , were obtained from the experimental data.

2.5 | Contact angle measurements

Advancing and receding contact angles on the gel surfaces were measured by making use of a contact angle metre GBX (France), equipped with a temperature and humidity-controlled measuring chamber and digital camera. The measurements were conducted at 20°C and 50% relative humidity. A $6 \mu l$ droplet from a syringe was gently settled on the sample surface by means of an automatic deposition system. The advancing contact angle was evaluated from the droplet shape by the computer programme Win Drop. Then, 2 µl of the droplet volume was sucked into the syringe, and the receding contact angle was calculated by the above-mentioned programme. Two liquids of known SFE, distilled water and diiodomethane, were selected to cover the range from very polar liquid to the nonpolar one. The advancing and receding contact angles were measured for up to 10 droplets of each probe liquid.^[26]

2.6 | SFE determination

Equilibrium contact angles were calculated from the measurements of advancing and receding contact angles^[27] on the mixed gel samples. For this purpose, eqs. 1–3 from Tadmor's theory were used. ^[28]

$$\Gamma_{\rm a} \equiv \left(\frac{\sin^3 \theta_{\rm a}}{\left(2 - 3\cos\theta_{\rm a} + \cos^3 \theta_{\rm a}\right)}\right)^{1/3},\tag{1}$$

$$\Gamma_{\rm r} \equiv \left(\frac{\sin^3 \theta_{\rm r}}{\left(2 - 3\cos\theta_{\rm r} + \cos^3 \theta_{\rm r}\right)}\right)^{1/3},\qquad(2)$$

$$\theta_{\rm Eq} = \arccos\left(\frac{\Gamma_{\rm a} \cos\theta_{\rm a} + \Gamma_{\rm r} \cos\theta_{\rm r}}{\Gamma_{\rm a} + \Gamma_{\rm r}}\right),\tag{3}$$

where Γ_a and Γ_r are the advancing and receding angle weight coefficients, respectively, and θ_a , θ_r and θ_{Eq} , the advancing, receding and equilibrium contact angles. The SFE of the solid surface, γ_S , was calculated using the hysteresis approach proposed by Chibowski,^[29] based on the contact angle hysteresis. The equation

$$\gamma_{\rm s} = \frac{\gamma_{\rm l} \left(1 + \cos\theta_{\rm a}\right)^2}{2 + \cos\theta_{\rm r} + \cos\theta_{\rm a}},\tag{4}$$

allows the determination of the "apparent surface free energy", γ_s ,^[29] with γ_l , the liquid surface tension. When θ_{Eq} is used for calculation of γ_s , Equation (4) transforms into:

$$\gamma_{\rm s} = \frac{1}{2} \gamma_{\rm l} \Big(1 + \cos \theta_{\rm Eq} \Big). \tag{5}$$

2.7 | Topography

The topography of the gel surface was obtained using an optical profilometer, GT Contour Surface Metrology (Veeco, Tucson, AZ). Surface roughness was determined by making use of a Vision64 (Veeco) apparatus. The parameters were the average roughness (Ra), the quadratic mean of the surface roughness (RRMS) and the maximum roughness height (Rt).

2.8 | Confocal microscopy

Optical confocal images were captured by means of an inverted light microscope, Eclipse MA200, Nikon (Japan) with confocal attachment. Moreover, rhodamine solution was used as a contrast.

3 | **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

3.1 | Oscillatory measurements

Figure 1a,b shows the complex rigidity modulus, G^* , obtained from frequency sweeps for gels with 3% EWA and different gelatin concentration (3% [a] and 6% [b]) produced on cold plasma untreated/treated PET plates.

From the findings, we could clearly claim that the increase of gelatin concentration resulted in more rigid gels, as shown by the higher G^* values. Data for 4% and 5% gelatin concentration were obtained, although not shown for brevity.

Complementary information can be obtained using the loss tangent parameter, $\tan \delta$, (Figure 2), the quotient between the viscous portion of the viscoelastic properties (loss modulus) and the elastic portion of these properties (storage modulus). Smaller loss tangent values characterise a more elastic-like material.

As shown in Figure 2 the elasticity of the gels was significantly affected by the concentration of gelatin. This means that stronger bridges should appear, which result in a denser network and a more aggregated structure. Xu et al.^[30] also observed variations of aggregate morphology and size caused by the increase of gelatin concentration. This is probably connected with a different microstructure of gels with different gelatin content.^[31]

It is worth noting the different behaviour observed for the nonactivated gels as compared to the activated ones. Gels produced/gelled on activated supports enhanced their rheological properties in terms of rigidity. The most elastic gels (with the lowest loss tangent values) were obtained from those formed onto PET plates activated by oxygen plasma, followed by those in contact with PET treated with argon- and air plasma. A stronger gel network could be the result of the stabilisation of EWA protein by intermolecular linkages (e.g., disulphide cross-link or hydrogen bonds) and formation of polar groups during its gelation.^[32,33] The polar groups obtained on the surface of PET by argonplasma activation caused a higher impact on the gelation process of the EWA/gelatin mixture, in comparison to the



FIGURE 1 Influence of sweep frequency on the values of complex modulus G^* for AG gels produced on polyethylene terephthalate plates previously treated with different plasma gases (Un, untreated; Ar, argon plasma; Air, air plasma; and Ox, oxygen plasma). 3% (a) and 6% (b) gelatin concentration in the mixed gel



air-plasma activation. Oxygen-plasma activation produced probably more surface hydroxyl groups, which could cause deprotonation of sulfhydryl groups of albumin proteins and formation of a larger number of disulphide bonds. These processes probably led to a rougher, more aggregated surface of the gels formed on the oxygen-treated PET support (discussed in confocal microscopy section). These findings demonstrate that plasma-activated support causes remodelling of the gel bonds, not only on its surface but also at a deeper level. Viscoelastic properties of the gels are thus changed with a tendency to get a more rigid and elastic structure of the material.

3.2 | Contact angles and wetting behaviour

Figure 3 displays the water advancing contact angles as a function of the gelatin concentration in the mixed gel as well as the influence of different plasma treatments of the PET support.



FIGURE 3 Water advancing contact angles measured on mixed gels surface

For the "untreated" gels, the values decrease gradually as the gelatin concentration increases. The water contact angle at 3% gelatin concentration was $121 \pm 8^{\circ}$, showing the hydrophobic nature of the gel; however, increasing the gelatin concentration up to 6%, the contact angle decreased to $62 \pm 8^{\circ}$. Thus, we found that the addition of gelatin resulted in a more hydrophilic surface. Gelatin is composed of a mixture of single and double unfolded chains of hydrophilic character, whose hydrated states form a 3D network.^[34] These random spiral molecules have a high degree of freedom to reorganise their hydrophilic moieties, which could have preferred orientations (spatial arrangement of atoms and ligands at the top surface) resulting in a lower contact angle.^[35] This result qualitatively agrees with those reported by Białopiotrowicz and Janczuk,^[36] who concluded that the chains' side orientations were responsible for the wettability changes caused by the addition of gelatin in aqueous solution.

5 of 9

Regarding the effect of plasma preactivation of the PET support, all gas-cold plasma improved the wettability of the gels, as contact angles decreased. Analysing the capability of the plasma to change the surface properties of the samples formed on the activated supports, it is clear that the most efficient treatment was obtained using oxygen-plasma, particularly at the 3% gelatin concentration, where the contact angle decreased from $121 \pm 8^{\circ}$ to $16 \pm 8^{\circ}$. This significant decrease denotes an improvement in wettability of the surface. The gelation on cold plasmatreated support strongly altered the surface polarity, and hydrophilic bonds/groups appeared, creating intensive hydrophilic interactions at the activated surface/water interface, manifested by the decrease in the contact angles.

In the case of gels with the highest gelatin concentration, a smaller effect of the plasma was found. The difference between the "untreated" and "treated" samples gradually decreased, being the lowest at 6% gelatin concentration, where the contact angle slightly decreased from $62 \pm 8^{\circ}$ to $48 \pm 8^{\circ}$. This loss of efficiency could be related with the strength of the biopolymer chains, which was explained in the previous section (Figure 1a,b). Higher gelatin concentrations led to a stronger gel, a larger number of bonds between the gel and the protein molecules appeared, which probably hindered the introduction and reorganisation of the polar groups (not readily inserted between biopolymer chains) and, in turn, their interactions.

The effect of argon- and air-plasma treatments of the PET plates on the contact angles of mixed gels at 3% gelatin concentration was also noticeable, as it dropped from $121 \pm 8^{\circ}$ ("untreated" samples) to $61 \pm 4^{\circ}$ in the case of argon-plasma pretreatment; and to $52 \pm 2^{\circ}$ in the case of air plasma. As discussed above, these results show that both pretreatments are less effective than that of the oxygenplasma, which could be explained by the lower intensity of the interactions of the functional groups between the support surface and the deposited gel. Pérez-Huertas et al.^[22] have studied the surface chemistry of PET after air- and argon-plasma activation. It was found that, after the activation, water contact angles dropped from $83.5 \pm 3.3^{\circ}$ (untreated PET) to $26.0 \pm 1.7^{\circ}$ and to $13 \pm 4^{\circ}$, respectively. This was reported to be due to the appearance of functional groups (originated by the treatment) involving the C, O and N atoms, measured by the X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) technique. Probably these new functional groups resulted from the interaction between the groups in the activated PET surface and the gel surface in contact with it. Moreover, the changes in the contact angles for all gels were similar for both argon and air pretreatments (within $\pm 5.0^{\circ}$). This suggests that both plasma-acting mechanisms should be based on similar contributions of functional groups, originating from the treated PET surface. Pérez-Huertas et al.^[22] found that the contributions of the polar groups on PET surface were hardly 2.5% different when comparing air- and argon-treatments by XPS spectra, which may explain such a similar behaviour in the gels.

It is worth mentioning that analogous behaviour was observed for the receding contact angles used for the calculation of SFE but not discussed here. In the case of the nonpolar diiodomethane, the advancing and receding contact angles did not exhibit significant changes. As diiodomethane interacts with the surface by only London-dispersion forces, the changes in the contact angle after the plasma treatment were not significant.

3.3 | Surface free energy

Figure 4 represents the SFE as a function of the gelatin concentration and the type of plasma pretreatment.

It is shown that the largest change of SFE was obtained with oxygen-plasma at the lowest concentration of gelatin, from 20.4 ± 3.2 to 71.8 ± 0.3 mJ/m². The decrease of contact angles induced by the plasma treatment of the support



FIGURE 4 Surface free energy for the mixed gels surface calculated by contact angle hysteresis approach

confirmed an increase of the SFE of the gel. In the case of the air-plasma treatment, the change was up to 39.1 ± 2.6 and 25.6 ± 2.4 mJ/m² for the argon-plasma treatment. The effect of increasing gelatin concentration exhibited opposite trends when comparing air- and argon-plasma treatment with oxygen plasma treatment. The downward trend showed by oxygen-treated gels is likely because SFE reached its maximal value (at 3%) and further oxidation could only reduce it. As shown in our previous paper,^[22] the functional polar groups appearing in the PET plates after cold plasma treatment, could be the responsibility of the SFE changes of the gels deposited on these plates. These findings support a new methodology for material activation, in those cases where they cannot be exposed to the plasma working conditions, as it occurs in the case of biopolymers-gel type materials.

Summarising, the effect of increasing gelatin concentration in the gel is to reduce the differences between the SFE of "untreated" and "treated" samples. In this way, the sample with the highest gelatin concentration (6%) shows an SFE difference of only approximately 7 mJ/m^2 , regardless of the type of plasma used. Comparing the SFE values for the samples of 3% and 6% gelatin concentration, a loss of efficiency of the plasma treatment is found. As discussed in the previous section, these small differences may be accounted for by the different chemical composition of the samples, obtaining stronger gels by the addition of more gelatin (Figure 1a,b). For a better understanding of the above behaviour, the samples with 6% gelatin concentration were subjected to a topography study.

3.4 | Surface topography

The samples with 6% gelatin composition were most suitable for this analysis because of the small differences between the

Parameters	Untreated	Air-plasma	Argon-plasma	Oxygen-plasma
Ra (nm)	481 ± 80	$1,148 \pm 233$	$1,320 \pm 290$	$1,\!655\pm163$
RRMS (nm)	618 ± 103	$1,493 \pm 304$	$2,100 \pm 357$	$2,\!155\pm375$
Rt (µm)	10.6 ± 1.7	22.6 ± 8.7	30.6 ± 5.4	35.3 ± 8.3

TABLE 1 Topography parameters of the mixed gels formed on PET plates, before and after plasma modification

Note: Surface = 0.9×1.3 mm.

Abbreviations: PET, polyethylene terephthalate; Ra, average roughness; RRMS, quadratic mean of the surface roughness; Rt, maximum roughness height.

"untreated" and "treated" ones. Table 1 shows the surface topography parameters, Ra, RRMS and Rt, of the gels produced on PET plates previously activated by cold plasma.

As a general trend, all the parameters increased after the plasma treatment, indicating that the surfaces became rougher. The value of Ra for the "untreated" gel was 481 ± 80 nm. Then, after the oxygen-, argon- and airplasma treatments, Ra rose up to $1,655 \pm 163$ nm, $1,320 \pm 290$ nm and $1,148 \pm 233$ nm, respectively. The increase of Ra has been attributed to the etching effect induced by the bombardment of the energetic particles produced during the plasma treatment, which excited the support where the gels were formed.^[37] As found in most experiments reported in this study, oxygen-plasma pretreatment of the support was the most effective in altering the surface and bulk properties of the gels. It is interesting to compare these results with those obtained by our group using single PET plates.^[22] There, the average Ra parameter of the untreated PET plates was 828 ± 61 nm; after the air-plasma activation, 856 ± 123 nm and the argon-plasma activation, $1,000 \pm 119$ nm. These values are considerably lower than those reported in the present work for the gels built on PET support. Taking all these findings into account, we could say that the technique of plasma "indirect activation" seems to be quite efficient. One simple explanation could be that most polar groups of the surface do not usually remain on the top surface, which is exposed to air but are buried into the inner part of the surface region, according to our working methodology. In addition, the soft nature of gels could allow the polar groups originated after PET activation to be readily inserted into the biopolymer chains. Another observation is that the untreated gel surface is relatively smoother than the treated ones, with randomly dispersed roughness over the surface (Figure 5).

The largest differences are obtained when activating the support with oxygen plasma. This is also evident in the side profile of the roughness (Figure 6). The gels obtained on the nonactivated surface and those subjected to air- and argon plasma have a comparable profile of roughness, while in the case of gelling on an oxygenplasma activated surface, the profile has periodically repeated surface unevenness. Their distance (mm) and height (μ m) testify to the fact that they can be completely wetted by water, which is what the drop-in wetting of water does.

3.5 | Confocal microscopy

As a part of broader surface characterisation, an alternative noncontact profilometry technique is presented by means of confocal images of the gels (6% gelatin), before and after oxygen-cold-plasma treatment. As shown in Figure 7, the areas marked red are gelatin while those in black are albumin. As can be seen from Figure 7 (left), albumin forms quite small clusters and the surface is dominated by gelatin, whereas in the case of the surface obtained on the activated plate by oxygen plasma, the albumin forms large clusters (Figure 7, right). Under some conditions, disulphide covalent bonds from albumin molecules could play an important role in cross-linking and stabilising the structure of the gel.^[38] Cold-plasma activation caused probably deprotonation of the sulfhydryl groups of albumin and formation of a larger number of disulphide bonds, which results in a higher aggregation. Such a structure leads to a reduction in the value of water wetting contact angles (see Figures 3 and 4) because albumin is more hydrophilic than gelatin.



FIGURE 5 Surface topography (top images) of mixed gels produced on polyethylene terephthalate (a) untreated, (b) air-plasma, (c) argon-plasma and (d) oxygen-plasma treated supports; scanned area $1.3 \text{ mm} \times 0.95 \text{ mm}$



FIGURE 6 Side roughness profiles. Surface unevenness distribution: separation (mm) and height (μm)



FIGURE 7 Confocal microscopy images of mixed gel (6% gelatin) produced on untreated (left) and oxygen-plasma treated support (right)

4 | CONCLUSION

The studies reported in this paper show that there is a significant modification of the surface as well as of the structural bulk conformation of gel films formed in situ on PET plates pretreated by cold plasma. As a general trend, the effect of plasma pretreatment to the gels is to provide a more hydrophilic character to their surfaces. The increase in the wettability of the surface of the gels is manifested by a significant decrease of the contact angles after the activation of the support. The most effective pretreatment was obtained by the oxygen-cold plasma, which induced the higher hydrophilicity of the samples. The SFE of the gels was shown to be a function of the gelatin concentration in the albumin/gelatin mixed gels and the type of plasma pretreatment. Wetting of the gel samples was affected by the formation of micropores on the surface of the mixed gels and characterised by a huge increment of the roughness parameters of the gel. It was found that the stiffness of gel samples produced using the methodology proposed in this paper can also be tuned, as manifested by the oscillatory rheological technique. The findings could be exploited for the development of active or intelligent ingredients, scaffolds or tissue engineering films, where the active compound release can be controlled depending on the product quality and expected shelf-life.

ORCID

Salvador Pérez-Huertas b http://orcid.org/0000-0002-5063-7128

REFERENCES

- A. M. Hermanssom, *Functionality and Protein Structure* (Ed: A. Pour-El), American Chemical Society, Washington, DC 1979.
- [2] T. Croguennec, F. Nau, G. Brule, J. Food Sci. 2002, 67, 608.
- [3] S. Yadav, S. Gulec, R. Tadmor, I. Lian, Sci. Rep. 2019, 9, 9319.
- [4] C. Qian, D. J. McClements, Food Hydrocolloids 2011, 25, 1000.
- [5] L. Campbell, V. Raikos, S. R. Euston, Nahrung 2003, 47, 369.
- [6] T. Kaewamanee, S. Benjakul, W. Visessanguan, Food Chem. 2011, 125, 706.
- [7] E. A. Foegeding, L. H. Li, W. Pernell, S. Mleko, *Hydrocolloids*, Elsevier, Amsterdam 2000.
- [8] C. Arzeni, O. E. Perez, A. M. R. Pilosof, Food Hydrocolloids 2012, 29, 308.
- [9] W. Zhao, R. Yang, Y. Tang, W. Zhang, X. Hua, J. Agric. Food Chem. 2009, 57, 3571.
- [10] M. Weijers, L. M. C. Sagis, C. Veerman, B. Sperber, E. van der Linden, Food Hydrocolloids 2002, 16, 269.
- [11] M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, J. Elementol. 2015, 20, 463.
- [12] M. Tomczynska-Mleko, S. Mleko, Food Res. Int. 2014, 62, 91.
- [13] E. S. Taheri, M. Jahanshahi, M. Taghi, H. Mosavian, Part. Part. Syst. Charact. 2012, 29, 211.
- [14] K. Coughlan, N. B. Shaw, J. F. Kerry, J. P. Kerry, J. Food Sci. 2004, 69, 271.
- [15] E. Dickinson *Food Colloids and Polymers* (Eds: E. Dickinson, P. Walstra), Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge, UK **2005**.
- [16] P. B. Malafaya, G. A. Silva, R. L. Reis, Adv. Drug Delivery Rev. 2007, 59, 207.
- [17] F. Badii, N. K. Howell, Food Hydrocolloids 2006, 20, 630.
- [18] R. Tadmor, R. Das, S. Gulec, J. Liu, H. E. N'guessan, M. Shah, P. S. Wasnik, S. B. Yadav, *Langmuir* **2017**, *33*, 3594.
- [19] P. K. Chu, J. Y. Chen, L. P. Wang, N. Huang, *Mater. Sci. Eng.*, *R*, *Rep.* **2002**, *36*, 143.
- [20] S. Rimpelova, N. Kasalkova, P. Slepicka, H. Lemerova, V. Švorčík, T. Ruml, Mater. Sci. Eng., C 2013, 33, 1116.
- [21] M. Parizek, N. Kasalkova, L. Bacakova, Z. Svindrych, P. Slepicka, M. Bacakova, V. Lisa, V. Švorčík, *BioMed Res. Int.* 2013, 371430.
- [22] S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko, L. Szajnecki, *Colloids Surf.*, A 2018, 558, 322.
- [23] F. Garbassi, M. Morra, E. Occhiello, Polymer Surface: From Physics to Technology, John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY 1998.
- [24] C. D. Volpe, D. Maniglio, M. Brugnara, S. Siboni, M. Morra, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2004, 271, 434.
- [25] W. G. Latimer, Official Methods of Analysis of Association of Official Analytical Chemists, AOAC International, Arlington, TX 1995.
- [26] D. Rymuszka, K. Terpiłowski, Annales UMCS 2014, 68, 121.
- [27] K. Terpilowski, D. Rymuszka, L. Hołysz, M. Ilnicki, Surf. Interface Anal. 2017, 49, 647.
- [28] R. Tadmor, Langmuir 2004, 20, 7659.
- [29] E. Chibowski, Adv. Colloid Interface Sci. 2005, 113, 121.
- [30] J. Xu, T. DuoLi, X. Tang, C. Qiao, Q. Jiang, *Colloids Surf.*, B 2012, 95, 201.
- [31] R. T. Jones, Gelatin: Manufacture and Physicochemical Properties, Pharmaceutical Press, London, UK 2004.
- [32] M. Weijers, F. van de Velde, A. Stijnman, A. van de Pijpekamp, R. W. Visschers, *Food Hydrocolloids* 2006, 20, 146.
- [33] L. Guo, R. H. Colby, C. P. Lusignan, T. H. Whitesides, Macromolecules 2003, 36, 9999.

- [34] L. Stryjer, J. M. Berg, J. L. Tymoczko, *Biochemistry*, W. H. Freeman & Company, San Francisco, CA 2002.
- [35] F. J. Holly, M. F. Refojo, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 1975, 9, 315.
- [36] T. Białopiotrowicz, B. Janczuk, Eur. Polym. J. 2001, 37, 1047.
- [37] L. Yan, J. Chen, Y. Guo, Z. Zhang, Appl. Surf. Sci. 2009, 255, 4446.
- [38] S. Mleko, Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 2001, 36, 331.

How to cite this article: Pérez-Huertas S, Terpiłowski K, Tomczyńska-Mleko M, Mleko S. Surface modification of albumin/gelatin films gelled on low-temperature plasma-treated polyethylene terephthalate plates. *Plasma Process Polym*. 2019;e1900171. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppap.201900171

Appendix 5

Solid surface energy data (mJ/m²) for common polymers

Name	SFE at 20	Dispersive contrib.	Polar contrib.
	°C	SFE	SFE
Polyethylene-linear PE	35.7	35.7	0
Polyethylene-branched PE	35.3	35.3	0
Polypropylene-isotactic PP	30.1	30.1	0
Polyisobutylene PIB	33.6	33.6	0
Polystyrene PS	40.7	34.5	6.1
Polymethyl styrene PMS	39.0	35	4
Polyvinyl fluoride PVF	36.7	31.2	5.5
Polyvinylidene fluoride PVDF	30.3	23.3	7
Polytrifluoroethylene P3FEt/PTrFE	23.9	19.8	4.1
Polytetrafluoroethylene PTFE	20	18.4	1.6
Polyvinylchloride PVC	41.5	39.5	2
Polyvinylidene chloride PVDC	45.0	40.5	4.5
Polychlorotrifluoroethylene PCTrFE	30.9	22.3	8.6
Polyvinylacetate PVA	36.5	25.1	11.4
Polymethylacrylate PMAA	41.0	29.7	10.3
Polyethylacrylate PEA	37.0	30.7	6.3
Polymethylmethacrylate PMMA	41.1	29.6	11.5
Polyethylmethacrylate PEMA	35.9	26.9	9.0
Polybutylmethacrylate PBMA	31.2	26.2	5.0
Polyisobutylmethacrylate PIBMA	30.9	26.6	4.3
Poly(tert-butylmethacrylate) PtBMA	30.4	26.7	3.7
Polyhexylmethacrylate PHMA	30.0	27.0	3
Polyethyleneoxide PEO	42.9	30.9	12.0
Polytetramethylene oxide PTME	31.9	27.4	4.5
Polyethyleneterephthalate PET	44.6	35.6	9
Polyamide-6,6 PA-66	46.5	32.5	14
Polyamide-12 PA-12	40.7	35.9	4.9
Polydimethylsiloxane PDMS	19.8	19.0	0.8
Polycarbonate PC	34.2	27.7	6.5
Polyetheretherketone PEEK	42.1	36.2	5.9

For surface energy components (e.g. dispersive and polar, hydrogen bonding, acid-base contributions etc.), corresponding (single) references and data at room temperatures. 15 Jun 2018 - www.surface-tension.de

AUTHOR'S ACADEMIC BIOGRAPHY

Education

2016- Licenciado (BSc, MSc) in Sciences-Chemical Engineering. University of Granada,

Spain

2017- Erasmus Practices in MediSept z.o.o (Lublin)

Scientific activities

Published scientific papers

1. **S. Pérez-Huertas**, K. Terpiłowski, M. Wisniewska, V. Zarko, Influence of Polyvinylpyrrolidone adsorption on stability of silica aqueous suspensions- effects of polymer concentration and solid content, *Physicochem. Probl. Miner. Process.* 53 (2016) 121–135.

https://doi.org/10.5277/ppmp170110

2. M. Wiśniewska, K. Terpiłowski, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, I. Ostolska, K. Szewczuk-Karpisz, O. Goncharuk, Turbidimetric studies of colloidal silica/ aqueous solution system stability, *Surface Innovations*, 5 (2017) 138–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1680/jsuin.17.00018</u>

3. **S. Pérez-Huertas**, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska–Mleko, S. Mleko, Ł. Szajneckid, Time-based changes in surface properties of poly (ethylene terephthalate) activated with air and argon-plasma treatments, *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects*, 558 (2018) 322-329.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2018.08.02

4. **S. Pérez-Huertas**, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska, M. Kawecka-Radomska, M. Nastaj, S. Mleko, Surface Properties of Whey Protein Gels, *Journal of the Chemical Society of Pakistan*, 41 (2019) 956-964.

5. **S. Pérez-Huertas**, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari, S. Mleko, Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatin dispersions gelled on cold plasma-activated glass, *Food Hydrocolloids*, 96 (2019) 224–230. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2019.05.029</u>

6. M. Nastaj, B. Solowiej, W. Gustaw, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, S. Mleko, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska, Physicochemical properties of High-Protein-Set Yoghurts obtained with the addition of whey protein preparations, *International Journal of Dairy Technology*, 72 (2019) 395-402.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0307.12603

7. O.V. Goncharuk, M.L. Malysheva, K. Terpilowski, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, V.M. Gunko, Influence of water-soluble nonionic polymers adsorption on colloidal properties of nanosilica dispersions, *French-Ukrainian Journal of Chemistry*, 7 (2019) 57-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.17721/fujcV711P57-73</u>

8._S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko, Surface Modification of Albumin/Gelatin Films Gelled on Low Temperature Plasma-Treated Poly (Ethylene Terephthalate) Plates, *Plasma Processes and Polymers*, 17, 3 (2019) 1900171.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ppap.201900171

Conference participations

1. L. Holysz, K. Terpilowski, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko, Advances materials and technologies, 27-31 August 2017, Palanga (Lithuania) "Investigation of the effect of low temperature plasma and k-carrageenan on wettability of gelatine layers"

2. M. Mielniczek, K. Terpilowski, L. Holysz, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, M. Chodkowski, Advances materials and technologies, 27-31 August 2017, Palanga (Lithuania) "Surface properties of gelatine gels deposited on the plasma activated glass support"

3. **S. Pérez-Huertas**, K. Terpilowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko, Advances materials and technologies, 27-31 August 2017, Palanga (Lithuania) "Physicochemical properties of gelatine/egg white albumin mixed gels"

4. K. Terpilowski, M. Chodkowski, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, Sixteenth Young researchers conference-Materials science and engineering, 6-8 December 2017, Belgrade (Serbia) "Graphene and graphene/diamonds metal composites used in military industries"

5. K. Terpilowski, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko, XVI Polish-Ukrainian Symposium, Theoretical and experimental studies of interfacial phenomena and their technological applications, 28-31 August 2018, Lublin, "Surface properties of egg white gelatine mixed gels"

6. **S. Pérez-Huertas**, K. Terpilowski, L. Holysz, M. Chodkowski, XVI Polish-Ukrainian Symposium, Theoretical and experimental studies of interfacial phenomena and their technological applications, 28-31 August 2018 Lublin, "Surface properties of gelatine gels deposited on solid supports"

7. K. Terpilowski, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, Y. Bolbukh, 22nd International symposium on surfactants in solution, 3-8 June 2018, Oklahoma, "Surface properties of plasma activated chitosan foils"

8. K. Terpilowski, O. Goncharuk, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, M. Nastaj, Seventeenth Young researchers conference-Materials science and engineering, 5-7 December 2018, Belgrade (Serbia) "Macro and micro wettability of hydrophobic rough surface"

9. D. Rymuszka, K. Terpilowski, **S. Pérez-Huertas**, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, 6th European young engineers conference, 24-26 April 2017 Warsaw, "Stability of water silica suspensions with polymer addition"

10. **S. Pérez-Huertas**, K. Terpilowski, M. Chodkowski, XVI Polish-Ukrainian Symposium, Theoretical and experimental studies of interfacial phenomena and their technological applications, 28-31 August 2018 Lublin, "Surface properties of egg white isolate/gelatine mixed gels deposited on PET support activated by cold plasma"

STATEMENTS



dr hab. Marta Tomczyńska-Mleko prof. UP Instytut Genetyki, Hodowli i Biotechnologii Roślin Wydział Agrobioinżynierii Uniwersytet Przyrodniczy, ul. Akademicka 15 20-950 Lublin,

Oświadczenie

Niniejszym oświadczam, że mój wkład w powstanie poniższych publikacji polegał na udziale w opracowaniu wyników badań.

1.- S. Perez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska, M. Kawecka-Radomska, M. Nastaj, S. Mleko, Surface Properties of Whey Protein Gels, Journal of the Chemical Society of Pakistan, 41 (2019), (5%)

2.- S. Pérez Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska–Mleko, S. Mleko, Ł. Szajnecki, Time-based changes in surface properties of poly (ethylene terephthalate) activated with air and argon-plasma treatments, Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 558 (2018) 322-329, (5%)

3.- S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari, S. Mleko, Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatin dispersions gelled on cold plasma-activated glass, Food Hydrocolloids, 96 (2019) 224–230, (5%)

4.- S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko, Surface modification of albumin/gelatin films gelled on low temperature plasma-treated poly (ethylene terephthalate) Plates. **Plasma Processes and Polymers,** (2019),



Lublin 02-06-2020



https://doi.org/10.1002/ppap.201900171, (5%)

Wyrażam zgodę na dołączenie wyżej wymienionych publikacji do rozprawy doktorskiej mgr. inż. Salvadora Pérez-Huertasa.

Marte Tomezynska - Aleko



UNIWERSYTET PRZYRODNICZY W LUBLINIE ul. Akademicka 13, 20-950 Lublin, www.up.lublin.pl Sekretariat Uczelni: ul. Akademicka 13, tel. (+48 81) 445 66 22, 533 37 52; sekretariat.uczelni@up.lublin.pl



dr hab. Konrad Terpiłowski

dr hab. Konrad Terpiłowski Katedra Zjawisk Międzyfazowych Instytut Nauk Chemicznych Wydział Chemii UMCS Lublin Lublin 02-06-2020

Oświadczenie

Niniejszym oświadczam, że mój wkład w powstanie poniższych publikacji polegał na udziale w opracowaniu wyników badań.

1.- S. Perez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska, M. Kawecka-Radomska, M. Nastaj, S. Mleko, Surface Properties of Whey Protein Gels, Journal of the Chemical Society of Pakistan, 41 (2019), (5%)

2.- S. Pérez Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska–Mleko, S. Mleko, Ł. Szajnecki, Time-based changes in surface properties of poly (ethylene terephthalate) activated with air and argon-plasma treatments, Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 558 (2018) 322-329, (5%)

3.- S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari, S. Mleko, Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatin dispersions gelled on cold plasma-activated glass, **Food Hydrocolloids**, 96 (2019) 224–230, **(5%)**





4.- S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko, Surface modification of albumin/gelatin films gelled on low temperature plasma-treated poly (ethylene terephthalate) Plates. Plasma Processes and Polymers, (2019), https://doi.org/10.1002/ppap.201900171, (5%)

Wyrażam zgodę na dołączenie wyżej wymienionych publikacji do rozprawy doktorskiej dr Salvadora Pérez-Huertasa.

Shonward Teyes Towshi-





Prof. dr hab. Stanisław Mleko Kierownik Zakładu Technologii Mleka i Hydrokoloidów Wydział Nauk o Żywności i Biotechnologii, Uniwersytet Przyrodniczy, ul. Skromna 8 20-704 LUBLIN

Oświadczenie

Niniejszym oświadczam, że mój wkład w powstanie poniższych publikacji polegał na udziale w opracowaniu wyników badań.

1.- S. Perez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska, M. Kawecka-Radomska, M. Nastaj, S. Mleko, Surface Properties of Whey Protein Gels, Journal of the Chemical Society of Pakistan, 41 (2019), (15%)

2.- S. Pérez Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska–Mleko, S. Mleko, Ł. Szajnecki, Time-based changes in surface properties of poly (ethylene terephthalate) activated with air and argon-plasma treatments, Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 558 (2018) 322-329, (5%)

3.- S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari, S. Mleko, Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatin dispersions gelled on cold plasma-activated glass, **Food Hydrocolloids**, 96 (2019) 224–230, **(5%)**

4.- S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, S. Mleko, Surface modification of albumin/gelatin films gelled on low temperature plasma-treated poly (ethylene terephthalate) Plates. **Plasma Processes and Polymers,** (2019),



Lublin 02-06-2020



https://doi.org/10.1002/ppap.201900171, (5%)

Wyrażam zgodę na dołączenie wyżej wymienionych publikacji do rozprawy doktorskiej mgr. inż. Salvadora Pérez-Huertasa.





UNIWERSYTET PRZYRODNICZY W LUBLINIE ul. Akademicka 13, 20-950 Lublin, www.up.lublin.pl Sekretariat Uczelni: ul. Akademicka 13, tel. (+48 81) 445 66 22, 533 37 52; sekretariat.uczelni@up.lublin.pl

June 02-2020

STATEMENT

Herby I confirm that my contribution to the below publication consisted mainly in discussion of obtained data. My contribution to below papers can be estimated at about:

S. Pérez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, K. Nishinari, S. Mleko, Surface and rheological properties of egg white albumin/gelatin dispersions gelled on cold plasma-activated glass, **Food Hydrocolloids**, 96 (2019) 224–230 (5%)

I agree this paper to be included in the PhD thesis by Salvador Pérez-Huertas.

le mini

Professor Katsuyoshi Nishinari

Specially Appointed Professor Glyn O. Phillips Hydrocolloids Research Centre Department of Food and Pharmaceutical Engineering School of Light Industry, Hubei University of Technology Wuchang, Wuhan 430068 P.R. China Tel/Fax:<u>+86-(0)27-88015996</u> Email: katsuyoshi.nishinari@gmail.com; 2872441139@qq.com



dr Łukasz Szajnecki

dr Łukasz Szajnecki Katedra Chemii Polimerów Instytut Nauk Chemicznych Wydział Chemii UMCS Lublin

Lublin 02-06-2020

Oświadczenie

Niniejszym oświadczam, że mój wkład w powstanie poniższych publikacji polegał na udziale w opracowaniu wyników badań.

S. Pérez Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska–Mleko, S. Mleko, Ł. Szajnecki, Timebased changes in surface properties of poly (ethylene terephthalate) activated with air and argon-plasma treatments, **Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects**, 558 (2018) 322-329, (5%)

Wyrażam zgodę na dołączenie wyżej wymienionych publikacji do rozprawy doktorskiej dr Salvadora Pérez-Huertasa.

Jukasz Szajnecki



PI. M. Curie-Skłodowskiej 5, 20-031 Lublin, www.umcs.pl centrala: +48 (81) 537 51 00, fax: +48 (81) 533 36 69, 537 51 02 e-mail: I.szajnecki@poczta.umcs.lublin.pl

NIP: 4124383193 REGON: 6213969071

Lublin 02-06-2020



dr Maciej Nastaj Zakład Technologii Mleka i Hydrokoloidów Wydział Nauk o Żywności i Biotechnologii, Uniwersytet Przyrodniczy, ul. Skromna 8 20-704 LUBLIN

Oświadczenie

Niniejszym oświadczam, że mój wkład w powstanie poniższych publikacji polegał na udziale w opracowaniu wyników badań.

1.- S. Perez-Huertas, K. Terpiłowski, M. Tomczyńska-Mleko, M. Wesołowska-Trojanowska, M. Kawecka-Radomska, M. Nastaj, S. Mleko, Surface Properties of Whey Protein Gels, Journal of the Chemical Society of Pakistan, 41 (2019), (5%)

Wyrażam zgodę na dołączenie wyżej wymienionych publikacji do rozprawy doktorskiej dr Salvadora Pérez-Huertasa.

Angith



UNIWERSYTET PRZYRODNICZY W LUBLINIE ul. Akademicka 13, 20-950 Lublin, www.up.lublin.pl Sekretariat Uczelni: ul. Akademicka 13, tel. (+48 81) 445 66 22, 533 37 52; sekretariat.uczelni@up.lublin.pl